
 

1 

 

Cabinet 
 

 
 

Date & time Place Contact Chief Executive  
Tuesday, 24 
November 2015 at 
2.00 pm 

Ashcombe Suite, 
County Hall, Kingston 
upon Thames, Surrey 
KT1 2DN 
 

Vicky Hibbert or Anne 
Gowing 
Room 122, County Hall 
Tel 020 8541 9229 or 020 
8541 9938 
 
vicky.hibbert@surreycc.gov.uk or 
anne.gowing@surreycc.gov.uk 

David McNulty 
 

 

 
Cabinet Members: Mr David Hodge, Mr Peter Martin, Mrs Helyn Clack, Mrs Clare Curran, Mr 
Mel Few, Mr John Furey, Mr Mike Goodman, Mrs Linda Kemeny, Ms Denise Le Gal and Mr 
Richard Walsh 
 
Cabinet Associates:  Mr Tony Samuels, Mrs Mary Angell, Mr Tim Evans, Mrs Kay Hammond 
and Mrs Mary Lewis 
 

 
 

If you would like a copy of this agenda or the attached papers in 
another format, eg large print or braille, or another language please 
either call 020 8541 9122, write to Democratic Services, Room 122, 
County Hall, Penrhyn Road, Kingston upon Thames, Surrey KT1 2DN, 
Minicom 020 8541 9698, fax 020 8541 9009, or email 
vicky.hibbert@surreycc.gov.uk or anne.gowing@surreycc.gov.uk. 
 
This meeting will be held in public.  If you would like to attend and you 
have any special requirements, please contact Vicky Hibbert or Anne 
Gowing on 020 8541 9229 or 020 8541 9938. 

 
Note:  This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council's internet 
site - at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed.  The images and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the Council. 
 
Generally the public seating areas are not filmed.  However by entering the meeting room and 
using the public seating area, you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of 
those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.   
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the representative of Legal and 
Democratic Services at the meeting 



 
2 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 

 

2  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING: 27 OCTOBER 2015 
 
The minutes will be available in the meeting room half an hour before the 
start of the meeting. 
 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests from 
Members in respect of any item to be considered at the meeting. 
 
Notes: 

 In line with the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 
Regulations 2012, declarations may relate to the interest of the 
member, or the member’s spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom the member is living as husband or wife, or a person with whom 
the member is living as if they were civil partners and the member is 
aware they have the interest. 

 Members need only disclose interests not currently listed on the 
Register of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests. 

 Members must notify the Monitoring Officer of any interests disclosed 
at the meeting so they may be added to the Register. 

 Members are reminded that they must not participate in any item 
where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

 

 

4  PROCEDURAL MATTERS 
 
 

 

4a  Members' Questions 
 
The deadline for Member’s questions is 12pm four working days before 
the meeting (18 November 2015). 
 

 

4b  Public Questions 
 
The deadline for public questions is seven days before the meeting 
(17 November 2015). 
 

 

4c  Petitions 
 
The deadline for petitions was 14 days before the meeting, one petition 
has been received from Karena Marchant. It has 188 signatures. 

The petition states: Revoke the decision to tender a single provider for 
sensory services and to tender for Deaf and VI services separately 

‘Surrey has made the decision to put out a single tender for sensory 
services - no consultation with user groups. This means that Deaf people 
will not have the social services expertise and language access that they 
previously had, which has become more and more eroded since the 
dissolution of the DST in 2011. A specialist VI service is not a Deaf 
specialist service.’ 
 
 
 
 

 



 
3 

4d  Representations received on reports to be considered in private 
 
To consider any representations received in relation why part of the 
meeting relating to a report circulated in Part 2 of the agenda should be 
open to the public. 
 

 

5  REPORTS FROM SCRUTINY BOARDS, TASK GROUPS, LOCAL 
COMMITTEES AND OTHER COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL 
 
Recommendations from Resident Experience Scrutiny Board in relation to: 
 
(i) Annual Scrutiny of Community Safety Partnerships 
 
(ii) Discussion of ‘Enabling closer working between the Emergency 

Services consultation’ 
 

(Pages 1 
- 4) 

6  FINANCE AND BUDGET MONITORING REPORT FOR OCTOBER 2015 
 
The council takes a multiyear approach to its budget planning and 
monitoring, recognising the two are inextricably linked. This report 
presents the council’s financial position as at 31 October 2015 (month 
seven). 

The Annex to this report gives details of the financial position but please 
note that the Annex will be circulated separately prior to the Cabinet 
meeting. 
 
[The decision on this item may be called in by the Council Overview 
Board] 
 

(Pages 5 
- 8) 

7  FINANCIAL PROSPECTS FOR THE MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
2016-2020 
 

Significant work has taken place to up-date the financial prospects for the 

council for the next Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP 2016-21), since 

Cabinet considered the refresh of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP 

2015-20) on 29 July 2015. This report updates Members on the latest 

financial prospects for this period ahead of development of the formal 

budget for 2016/17 in February 2016. 

 
[The decision on this item may be called in by the Council Overview 
Board] 
 

(Pages 9 
- 24) 

8  SCHOOL ORGANISATION PLAN 
 
The Cabinet is asked to consider the Surrey School Organisation Plan 
2015/16 - 2024/25 and for recommendation to Council on 8 December 
2015 to determine its publication. 
 
This is a contextual document that sets out the policies and principles 
underpinning school organisation in Surrey. It highlights the likely demand 
for school places projected over a 10 year period, and set out any potential 
changes in school organisation that may be required in order to meet the 
statutory duty to provide sufficient places.  
 

(Pages 
25 - 84) 



 
4 

 

9  FUTURE OPTIONS FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF GYPSY TRAVELLER 
CARAVAN SITES 
 
Surrey County Council owns a portfolio of Gypsy Traveller Caravan sites. 
This report provides the options as to how these sites might be managed 
in the future, developing a medium term strategy that will deliver financial 
savings to Surrey County Council whilst protecting their existing use.    
    
At this early stage, Cabinet is asked to approve the principle of looking at 
alternative ways in which sites can be managed, including possible 
transfer of sites to the residents or to a Housing Authority or disposal to a 
single private purchaser.  
 
[The decision on this item may be called in by either the Council Overview 
Board or the Economic Prosperity, Environment and Highways Scrutiny 
Board] 
 

(Pages 
85 - 94) 

10  SHAPING SURREY'S COMMUNITY RECYCLING CENTRES 
 
The Environment Service has identified a number of efficiency measures 
in the operation of Community Recycling Centres (CRCs) that will lead to 
operational cost reductions of £1.8 million per year.  
 
The CRCs are the most highly rated service provided by SCC, with over 
80% of users stating that they are satisfied or very satisfied with the 
service. A public consultation was carried out over the summer seeking 
Surrey residents’ and other stakeholders’ views on the cost savings 
options (Para 17). 
 
Having taken into consideration these factors, this report recommends 
implementing changes that will: 
 

  Reduce contract costs and improve efficiencies. 

 Retain all fifteen existing CRCs and ensure these are operated 
efficiently. 

 Protect the use of the sites for the deposit of household waste by 
Surrey residents, by excluding the free use of sites by traders, and 
enabling Surrey residents to deposit reasonable amounts of non-
household waste.  

 Retain a comprehensive service but with a reduction in opening 
times, and days, when sites are less well used on value for money 
grounds.  

 Develop a strategy to tackle fly tipping in Surrey. 

[The decision on this item may be called in by the Economic Prosperity, 
Environment and Highways Scrutiny Board] 
 

(Pages 
95 - 112) 

11  PROGRESSING THE INTEGRATION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
 
Having grown and developed over time, the move towards integrated 
services has become a fundamental part of the way the Council and its 
partners develop and deliver services. This has been accelerated in health 

(Pages 
113 - 
126) 



 
5 

and social care by the introduction of the Better Care Fund and is a key 
strategy for Surrey’s Adult Social Care service to manage demand.  
 
Due to differing contexts and local needs across the six Clinical 
Commissioning Group areas in Surrey, the speed and form of integration 
is not identical in each area. This report provides the Cabinet with an 
updated position and requests approval for the direction of travel including 
the ‘fast-track’ approach in two of the areas. 
 
[The decision on this item may be called in by the Social Care Services 
Scrutiny Board or the Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny Board] 
 

12  PROCUREMENT PROCESS FOR COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES 
 
The integration of health and social care is a key strategy for Surrey 
County Council and its partners to improve outcomes for residents and 
enhance the sustainability of the whole system. Public Health are part of 
this system and commission a range of services for adults and children 
that are key to delivering better health and wellbeing outcomes. 
 
This report outlines the commissioning and procurement process for 
Community Health Services that is taking place across Surrey. Final 
contract award is anticipated to take place in August 2016 and will include 
services that are commissioned by the Council – including School Nursing 
and Health Visiting. This will assist with the integration of health and social 
care. 
 
There are a number of recommendations that Cabinet are asked to 
approve to process with the procurement of these services. 
 
[The decision on this item may be called in by the Social Care Services 
Scrutiny Board or the Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny Board] 
 

(Pages 
127 - 
140) 

13  EAST SURREY INTEGRATED REABLEMENT UNIT 
 
This report outlines a proposal to create a ‘beacon’ service for a new 
Integrated Reablement Unit and specialist elderly frail service as part of 
the health and social care system transformation in East Surrey 
 
The integration of health and social care is a key strategic priority for 
Surrey County Council and its partners to improve outcomes for residents 
and enhance the sustainability of the whole system. The proposal to 
develop the Integrated Reablement Unit highlights the partnership working 
that is taking place between Surrey County Council and the NHS. 
 
The timing of this provision is very important to being able to manage the 
increase in demand associated with winter and the additional pressure this 
creates on health and social care services.  
 
The Integrated Reablement Unit would contribute to the Council’s 
corporate Wellbeing objective by supporting older people to be discharged 
from hospital appropriately and live independently in the community. 
 
[The decision on this item may be called in by the Social Care Services 
Scrutiny Board or the Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny Board] 
 

(Pages 
141 - 
148) 

14  APPROVAL TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION OF (Pages 



 
6 

COMBINED SENSORY SERVICES AND THE PROVISION OF 
MOBILITY AND INDEPENDENT LIVING SKILLS 
 
This Cabinet report seeks approval to award a three year contract with an 
option to extend for up to two additional one year periods to Sight for 
Surrey for the provision of combined sensory services and mobility and 
independent living skills, to commence on 1 February 2016. Annual value 
of this contract is £1.5m. The report provides details of the procurement 
process, including the results of the evaluation, and, in conjunction with 
the Part 2 report demonstrates why the recommended award delivers 
value for money and meets the needs of individuals in Surrey. 
 
In line with the general responsibilities of local authorities under the Care 
Act 2014 Surrey County Council must promote wellbeing of individuals, 
empowering adults and children to remain active in their local communities 
with support to access services and activities that help them sustain their 
independence. The Friends Family and Community agenda supports this. 
Key to this is the provision of appropriately commissioned services and 
access to information, advice and support to help individuals receive a 
timely diagnosis and community based support thereafter. These 
principles will be at the heart of the new contract for combined sensory 
services and mobility and independent living skills services that will be 
delivered to Surrey residents from 1 February 2016. 
 
N.B. An annex containing exempt information is contained in Part 2 of the 
agenda – item 18. 
 
 
[The decision on this item may be called in by either the Wellbeing& 
Health Scrutiny Board or the Social Care Services Scrutiny Board] 
 

149 - 
168) 

15  SFRS: TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION OF 
BUSINESS CONTINUITY CREWING  AND SPECIAL RESCUE 
CAPABILITIES 
 
Surrey Fire and Rescue Authority (SFRA) have a statutory obligation to 
provide contingency cover, in accordance with the Fire and Rescue 
Services Act 2004 and the National Framework and Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004. 
 
This report seeks approval to award a contract for the provision of 
Business Continuity and Specialist Rescue Capabilities to commence on 
31 December 2015.   
 
The new contract will enable SFRA to fulfil their legal obligations. 
 
N.B. An annex containing exempt information is contained in Part 2 of the 
agenda – item 19. 
 
[The decision on this item may be called in by the Resident Experience 
Scrutiny Board] 
 
 
 
 

(Pages 
169 - 
176) 

16  LEADER / DEPUTY LEADER / CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS TAKEN 
SINCE THE LAST CABINET MEETING 

(Pages 
177 - 



 
7 

 
To note any delegated decisions taken by the Leader, Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Members since the last meeting of the Cabinet. 
 

184) 

17  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information under the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 
 

 

  

P A R T  T W O  -  I N  P R I V A T E 
 

 

18  APPROVAL TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION OF 
COMBINED SENSORY SERVICES AND THE PROVISION OF 
MOBILITY AND INDEPENDENT LIVING SKILLS 
 
This is a Part 2 annex relating to item 14. 
 
Exempt:  Not for publication under Paragraph 3 
 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)  
 
[The decision on this item may be called in by the Social Care Services 
Scrutiny Board or the Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny Board] 
 

(Pages 
185 - 
188) 

19  SFRS: TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION OF 
BUSINESS CONTINUITY CREWING  AND SPECIAL RESCUE 
CAPABILITIES 
 
This is a Part 2 annex relating to item 15. 
 
Exempt:  Not for publication under Paragraph 3 
 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)  
 
[The decision on this item may be called in by the Resident Experience 
Scrutiny Board] 
 
 

(Pages 
189 - 
192) 

20  PROPERTY TRANSACTIONS -  ACQUISTION 
 
Exempt:  Not for publication under Paragraph 3 
 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)  
  
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Council Overview 
Board] 
 

(Pages 
193 - 
210) 

21  PROPERTY TRANSACTIONS - ACQUISITION OF A PROPERTY FOR 
ECONOMIC AND REGENERATION PURPOSES 

(Pages 
211 - 



 
8 

 
Exempt:  Not for publication under Paragraph 3 
 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)  
  
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Council Overview 
Board] 
 

226) 

22  PUBLICITY FOR PART 2 ITEMS 
 
To consider whether the item considered under Part 2 of the agenda 
should be made available to the Press and public. 
 

 

 
 

David McNulty 
Chief Executive 

Monday, 16 November 2015 



 
9 

 

QUESTIONS, PETITIONS AND PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 

The Cabinet will consider questions submitted by Members of the Council, members of 
the public who are electors of the Surrey County Council area and petitions containing 
100 or more signatures relating to a matter within its terms of reference, in line with the 
procedures set out in Surrey County Council’s Constitution. 
 
Please note: 
1. Members of the public can submit one written question to the meeting. Questions 

should relate to general policy and not to detail. Questions are asked and 
answered in public and so cannot relate to “confidential” or “exempt” matters (for 
example, personal or financial details of an individual – for further advice please 
contact the committee manager listed on the front page of this agenda).  

2. The number of public questions which can be asked at a meeting may not exceed 
six. Questions which are received after the first six will be held over to the following 
meeting or dealt with in writing at the Chairman’s discretion. 

3. Questions will be taken in the order in which they are received. 
4. Questions will be asked and answered without discussion. The Chairman or 

Cabinet Members may decline to answer a question, provide a written reply or 
nominate another Member to answer the question. 

5. Following the initial reply, one supplementary question may be asked by the 
questioner. The Chairman or Cabinet Members may decline to answer a 
supplementary question. 

 

MOBILE TECHNOLOGY AND FILMING – ACCEPTABLE USE 
 

Those attending for the purpose of reporting on the meeting may use social media or 
mobile devices in silent mode to send electronic messages about the progress of the 
public parts of the meeting. To support this, County Hall has wifi available for visitors – 
please ask at reception for details. 
 
Anyone is permitted to film, record or take photographs at council meetings. Please 
liaise with the council officer listed in the agenda prior to the start of the meeting so that 
those attending the meeting can be made aware of any filming taking place.   
 
Use of mobile devices, including for the purpose of recording or filming a meeting, is 
subject to no interruptions, distractions or interference being caused to the PA or 
Induction Loop systems, or any general disturbance to proceedings. The Chairman may 
ask for mobile devices to be switched off in these circumstances. 
 
It is requested that if you are not using your mobile device for any of the activities 
outlined above, it be switched off or placed in silent mode during the meeting to prevent 
interruptions and interference with PA and Induction Loop systems. 
 
Thank you for your co-operation 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

RESIDENT EXPERIENCE BOARD 

 
Item under consideration: ITEM 12: ANNUAL SCRUTINY OF COMMUNITY 

SAFETY PARTNERSHIPS 
 
Date Considered: 16 OCTOBER 2015 
 

1 At its meeting on 16 October 2015 the Resident Experience Board performed 
the annual scrutiny of the Community Safety Partnerships in Surrey.   
 

2 The Board discussed the structure of the Community Safety Board and the 
interaction with the Community Safety Partnerships, and specific examples of 
good practice from across the County. 

 
3 The Board made the following recommendations to the Cabinet Member for 

Localities and Community Wellbeing: 
 

a. That the Cabinet Member: 
 

 leads a discussion with County Members who sit on 
Community Safety Partnerships on how the work of the 
Community Safety Partnerships reflects local concerns and 
priorities of residents. 

 requests that the Cabinet Associate leads a discussion with 
the Lead Members Group to explore how the work of 
Community Safety Partnerships reflects local concerns and 
priorities of residents. 

 requests that the Community Partnership Team gathers 
evidence of how local concerns and priorities of residents 
are reflected by Community Safety Partnerships and feeds 
this information back to a future Resident Experience Board 
meeting within six months. 

 
 

 
COLIN KEMP 
Chairman of the Resident Experience Board 
 

 

Page 1

5

Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

RESIDENT EXPERIENCE BOARD 

 
Item under consideration: ITEM 9: DISCUSSION OF ‘ENABLING CLOSER 

WORKING BETWEEN THE EMERGENCY 
SERVICES’ CONSULTATION 

 
Date Considered: 16 OCTOBER 2015 
 

1 At its meeting on 16 October 2015 the Resident Experience Board discussed 
the Government’s consultation on ‘enabling closer working between the 
emergency services’.   
 

2 The Board discussed the collaboration already taking place between 
emergency services in Surrey and supported it. It was noted that the Cabinet 
Associate for Community Safety Services would be responding to the 
Government’s consultation and requested any views that the Board has. 

 
3 Individual Members of the Board were encouraged to contact the Cabinet 

Associate separately, and the Board itself put forward one recommendation to 
the Cabinet Member and Cabinet Associate. 

 
4 The Board made the following recommendation to the Cabinet Member for 

Localities and Community Wellbeing and the Cabinet Associate for 
Community Safety Services: 

 
a. That the Board agrees with and supports collaboration between 

the emergency services, but has reservations about the possible 
governance structure proposed in the consultation. 

 
 

 
COLIN KEMP 
Chairman of the Resident Experience Board 
 

Page 3

5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF: MR DAVID HODGE, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

SHEILA LITTLE, DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

 

SUBJECT: FINANCE AND BUDGET MONITORING REPORT FOR  
OCTOBER 2015 

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
The council takes a multiyear approach to its budget planning and monitoring, 
recognising the two are inextricably linked. This report presents the council’s financial 
position as at 31 October 2015 (month seven). 

The annex to this report gives details of the council’s financial position.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
Recommendations to follow. 
 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
This report is presented to comply with the agreed policy of providing a monthly 
budget monitoring report to Cabinet for approval and action as necessary.  
 

DETAILS: 

Revenue budget overview 

1. Surrey County Council set its gross expenditure budget for the 2015/16 
financial year at £1,671m. A key objective of MTFP 2015-20 is to increase the 
council’s overall financial resilience. As part of this, the council plans to make 
efficiencies totalling £67.4m.  

2. The council aims to smooth resource fluctuations over its five year medium 
term planning period. To support the 2015/16 budget, Cabinet approved use of 
£3.7m from the Budget Equalisation Reserve and carry forward of £8.0m to 
fund continuing planned service commitments. The council currently has 
£21.3m in general balances. 

3. The financial strategy has the following long term drivers to ensure sound 
governance, management of the council’s finances and compliance with best 
practice. 

 Keep any additional call on the council taxpayer to a minimum, consistent 
with delivery of key services through continuously driving the efficiency 
agenda. 

Page 5

6

Item 6



2 

 Develop a funding strategy to reduce the council’s reliance on council tax 
and government grant income.  

 Balance the council’s 2015/16 budget by maintaining a prudent level of 
general balances and applying reserves as appropriate. 

 Continue to maximise our investment in Surrey.  

Capital budget overview 

4. Creating public value by improving outcomes for Surrey’s residents is a key 
element of the council’s corporate vision and is at the heart of MTFP 
2015-20’s £696m capital programme, which includes £176m spending 
planned for 2015/16. 

Budget monitoring overview 

5. The council’s 2015/16 financial year began on 1 April 2015. This budget 
monitoring report covering the financial position at the end of the second 
quarter of 2015/16. The report focuses on material and significant issues, 
especially monitoring MTFP efficiencies. The report emphasises proposed 
actions to resolve any issues.  

6. The council has implemented a risk based approach to budget monitoring 
across all services. The approach ensures we focus effort on monitoring 
those higher risk budgets due to their value, volatility or reputational impact.  

7. A set of criteria categorise all budgets into high, medium and low risk. The 
criteria cover: 

 the size of a particular budget within the overall council’s budget hierarchy 
(the range is under £2m to over £10m); 

 budget complexity, which relates to the type of activities and data 
monitored (this includes the proportion of the budget spent on staffing or 
fixed contracts - the greater the proportion, the lower the complexity); 

 volatility, which is the relative rate that either actual spend or projected 
spend moves up and down (volatility risk is considered high if either the 
current year’s projected variance exceeds the previous year’s outturn 
variance, or the projected variance has been greater than 10% on four or 
more occasions during the current year); and 

 political sensitivity, which is about understanding how politically important 
the budget is and whether it has an impact on the council’s reputation 
locally or nationally (the greater the sensitivity the higher the risk). 

8. Managers with high risk budgets monitor their budgets monthly, whereas 
managers with low risk budgets monitor their budgets quarterly, or more 
frequently on an exception basis (if the year to date budget and actual spend 
vary by more than 10%, or £50,000, whichever is lower). 

9. Annex 1 to this report sets out the council’s revenue budget forecast year end 
outturn as at 31 October 2015. The forecast is based upon current year to 
date income and expenditure as well as projections using information 
available to the end of the month.  

10. The report provides explanations for significant variations from the revenue 
budget, with a focus on efficiency targets. As a guide, a forecast year end 
variance of greater than £1m is material and requires a commentary. For 

Page 6

6



   3 

some services £1m may be too large or not reflect the service’s political 
significance, so variances over 2.5% may also be material.  

11. Annex 1 to this report also updates Cabinet on the council’s capital budget. 
Appendix 1 provides details of the MTFP efficiencies, revenue and capital 
budget movements. 

CONSULTATION: 

12. All Cabinet Members will have consulted their relevant director or head of 
service on the financial positions of their portfolios.  

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

13. Risk implications are stated throughout the report and each relevant director 
or head of service has updated their strategic and or service risk registers 
accordingly. In addition, the leadership risk register continues to reflect the 
increasing uncertainty of future funding likely to be allocated to the council.  

Financial and Value for Money Implications  

14. The report considers financial and value for money implications throughout 
and future budget monitoring reports will continue this focus. The council 
continues to maintain a strong focus on its key objective of providing excellent 
value for money.  

Section 151 Officer Commentary  

15. The Section 151 Officer confirms that the financial information presented in 
this report is consistent with the council’s general accounting ledger and that 
forecasts have been based on reasonable assumptions, taking into account 
all material, financial and business issues and risks. 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer 

16. There are no legal issues and risks. 

Equalities and Diversity 

17. Any impacts of the budget monitoring actions will be evaluated by the 
individual services as they implement the management actions necessary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

6



4 

 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

18. The relevant adjustments from the recommendations will be made to the 
Council’s accounts. 

 

 
Contact Officer: 
Sheila Little, Director of Finance 
020 8541 7012 
 
Consulted: 
Cabinet, Strategic Directors, Heads of Service. 
 
Annexes: 

 Annex 1 – Revenue budget, staffing costs, efficiencies, capital programme. 

 Appendix 1 – Service financial information (revenue and efficiencies), revenue and 
capital budget movements. 

 
Sources/background papers: 

 None 
 

 

Page 8

6



 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 November 2015 

REPORT OF: MR DAVID HODGE, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

LEAD 

OFFICER: 

SHEILA LITTLE, DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

SUBJECT: Financial Prospects for the Medium Term Financial Plan 

(MTFP 2016-21) 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE 

Significant work has taken place to up-date the financial prospects for the council 

for the next Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP 2016-21), since Cabinet 

considered the refresh of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP 2015-20) on 29 

July 2015. This report updates Members on the latest financial prospects for this 

period ahead of development of the formal budget for 2016/17 in February 2016. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Notes that the Chancellor of the Exchequer will publish his Spending Review on 

25 November 2015 and that financial planning assumptions may alter subsequently, 

meaning development of a formal draft budget is not sensible at this stage [Paragraph 

7]; 

2. Notes the strategic financial challenge that the council faces, specifically: 

o the significant, growing and non-controllable demand for services delivered 

by county councils (in particular adult and children’s social care) [Paragraph 

9]; 

o that the failure to fund, and therefore protect these services, will lead to very 

significant cost consequences on the health sector finance pressures 

[Paragraph 10]; 

o that while county councils in two-tier areas have the responsibility for 

delivering high demographic non-controllable demand services, they do not 

have the full range of options that are available to unitary local authorities to 

raise funding through other services (e.g. parking charges) [Paragraph 11]; 

o that county councils are further disadvantaged by the Government’s 

apportionment ratios for allocating funds within the local government sector 

[Paragraph 12];  

o that county councils have to, therefore, put greater reliance on Council Tax to 

fund services [Paragraph 12]; 

o that Surrey County Council has one of the lowest government funding per 

head of all upper tier local authorities [Paragraph 16]; 

 

Page 9

7

Item 7



 

3. Notes the effectiveness of the strategic actions the council has taken over recent years 

to manage the financial challenge, in particular: 

o that the loss of Government grants since 2010/11 (£93m) is greater than the 

increase in Council Tax (£80m) over the same period [Paragraph 17]; 

o the successful delivery of £329m of efficiencies since 2010/11 (forecast to 

rise to £396m by the end of 2015/16) through continual improvement in 

processes and significant transformational change [Paragraph 19]; 

o that the level of efficiencies gained since 2010 effectively off-sets the 

increased service pressures over the same period (efficiencies total £396m 

and pressures total £382m between 2010/11 and 2015/16) [Paragraph 20]; 

o the improved efficiency across many key services, resulting in reduced unit 

costs [Paragraph 20]; 

4. Notes the consequences of the strategic actions taken: 

o that the current level of efficiencies is not sustainable and that, without 

additional funding, services will have to be cut [Paragraph 21]; 

o that the combination of high level demand pressures and Government grant 

loss has led the council to, reluctantly, adopt the strategy of increasing 

Council Tax at just below referendum levels for the last four years in order to 

sustain services to residents of Surrey  [Paragraph 23]; 

5. Notes the council’s overall preliminary financial position, in particular: 

o the high level of forecast revenue savings (£28.5m) still to be identified in 

order to set a balanced and sustainable budget for 2016/17 [Paragraph 31]; 

o that the capital programme exceeds that which is affordable in view of the 

revenue costs of the additional long term borrowing requirement [Paragraph 

36]; 

o the work that senior officers are progressing to identify further savings to 

enable a total package of savings can be brought forward for consideration 

by Scrutiny Boards [Paragraph 32];   

6. Notes that, at this point, the council is not clear how it will meet its duty to set a 

balanced budget and maintain an adequate level of reserves [Paragraph 44];  

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

In setting the MTFP (2015-20) in February 2015, the council recommended this was 

reviewed and refreshed in July 2015. Following the refresh, the Cabinet requested a 

report be submitted to its November 2015 meeting which provided an update on financial 

prospects for the Council for the next MTFP (2016-21). This will ensure early 

transparency ahead of the Cabinet meeting on 2 February 2016 that will formally 

recommend the budget for 2016/17 to full County Council on 9 February 2016, and 

enable the Cabinet to: 

 give full consideration of strategic financial challenge faced by the council and the 

potential consequences, and; 

Page 10

7



 

 consider the views of Scrutiny Boards in relation to the budget changes required to 

deliver the savings the county council will need to make over the period 2016-21. 

 

Cabinet advises the full County Council how best to meet the challenges the council faces 
and these proposals will aim to ensure the council continues to maintain its financial 
resilience and protect its long term financial position. 

DETAILS 

Introduction 

1. This report provides an update to Cabinet on the strategic challenges facing the council 

in developing its MTFP (2016-21), including the revenue budget and the Capital 

Programme.  

2. The current five-year MTFP (2015-20) was approved by full County Council on 

10 February 2015. This included an annual total revenue budget of approximately 

£1.7bn, and a capital programme of £696m. Since the MTFP was approved, a General 

Election has taken place and on the 7 May 2015 a new majority Conservative 

Government was formed. Following the election, Cabinet considered a refresh of the 

MTFP (2015-20) on the 29 July 2015. The refresh report identified that the council would 

have to address a shortfall in funding in 2016/17.  

3. In light of the significant financial challenge facing the council, Cabinet requested an 

update on the budget position for the next MTFP (2016- 21) at its 24 November 2015 

meeting setting out the financial prospects for the budget for 2016/17 and beyond.  

Economic and Public Expenditure Background  

4. On 25 November 2015, the Chancellor of the Exchequer is due to announce the 2015 

Autumn Statement and publish the 2015 Spending Review. This is expected to set out, 

at a high level, how the Government intends to eliminate the budget deficit over the 

period to 2019. In addition, the Chancellor has also announced a review of business 

rates and its full retention by local government later in this Parliament. This is likely to 

involve phasing out the Revenue Support Grant and possibly other grants also, and may 

involve transferring additional responsibilities to local government to be funded from the 

business rate retention.  

5. The November announcements are expected to give an indication of the Government’s 

policy direction and the national quantum of funding available. However, the council will 

not know with any certainty how much funding it will receive for 2016/17 until the 

Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement is announced, likely around  mid or 

late December 2015. 

6. Further, it is known that Central Government departments have been preparing budgets 

involving between 25-40% cuts in the last few months and recent media news indicates 

that some departments have agreed reductions of 30%; including the Department for 

Local Government and Communities (DCLG), and Department for Transport. Together 

with other departments who provide funding for council services,  such as social care, 

that the Government have indicated are not protected from expenditure cuts in the 

Page 11

7



 

Spending Review, significant reduction in Government support can be anticipated. At the 

same time, the council faces significant increases in demand for both these services.  

7. With the scale of the emerging challenges facing the council and the significant changes 

to how local government will be funded expected, budget and financial planning work will 

focus on 2016/17 and include indicative figures for a further four years. Given these 

uncertainties, a meanful draft budget would not be possible at this time.  

Pressures, Funding, and Savings (2016-21)  

Strategic challenges facing the County Council 

8. Since the Spending Review in 2010, the council has faced unprecedented increases in 

the demand for key services as a result of non-controllable demographic demand. This 

has been at the same time as significant reduction in funding from Government grants.  

9. While funding has reduced since 2010, county councils in two-tier areas, such as Surrey, 

are facing significant and growing demographic demand for services, particularly, 

although not exclusively, adult social care.  In Surrey, a growing population as a result of 

our highest ever birth rate and people living longer is driving demand for services at both 

ends of the age spectrum – something neither the council nor Government can control.   

By 2020 there will be 20,000 more older people in Surrey, with older people making up a 

fifth of our population. Every year in the recent past and looking ahead, this demographic 

demand for adult social care amounts to an additional pressure to spend £20 million – or 

the equivalent of uplift in Council Tax by 3.5%. Taking 2010/11 as the baseline, the 

council’s spending pressures increased by £382m over the five years to 2015/16. This is 

forecast to continue in 2016/17 with the increase in next year’s budget reflecting the 

need to: 

 care for a 4% increase in numbers of vulnerable adults as Surrey’s population ages; 

 provide 3,200 school places for Surrey’s growing number of children; and 

 maintain and repair Surrey’s highways network, one of the most heavily used in the 

UK.  

10. High cost services, such as adult and children’s social care that county councils provide 

have an impact on other public services, especially health. For example, the provision of 

social care can prevent or delay the health emergencies that lead to increased hospital 

admissions. Therefore, the failure to fully fund the growth in demand pressures, 

particularly in social care, will lead to increased costs faced by other public services, 

particularly health. 

11. Further, while county councils in two-tier areas have responsibility for delivering high 

demand services such as adults and children’s social care, they do not have the full 

range of options that are available to unitary local authorities to raise funding through 

other services (e.g. parking charges). This makes it more challenging for county councils 

in two-tier authority areas to manage demand pressures through funding generated from 

other services. 

12.  County councils are also disadvantaged by the Government’s apportionment ratios for 

allocating funding streams within the local government sector. This mismatch does not 

incentivise the infrastructure investment needed to support housing and local economic 

Page 12

7



 

growth (e.g. in highways and school places for which the County has responsibility). Nor 

does it recognise where demand pressures and responsibilities are greater.  

13. The consequence of this is that county councils generally have to put greater reliance on 

Council Tax to fund services. However, the reduction in Government grants since 2010 

exceeds the additional funding raised through Council Tax over the same period 

meaning that additional Council Tax funding has simply been replacing Government 

funding, rather than meeting the cost of growing demand for services. This has 

increased even further the council’s already high gearing towards a reliance on Council 

Tax to fund services. Specifically, over 60% of Surrey County Council’s net funding is 

from Council Tax. 

14. The Government have recently announced a review of the Business Rate Retention 

Scheme. The stated intention is to achieve 100% local authority retention of business 

rates by the end of this Parliament. However, the details of how this will operate are yet 

to be developed. 

15. Figure 1 below shows the distribution of central grant per head of population for upper 

tier authorities. The line on the chart indicates that funding reflects the average funding 

per head, meaning any authority below the line receives less funding. The authority 

furthest below the line receives the lowest amount of central grant per head of 

population. Those furthest above the line receive the highest amount of central grant per 

head of population. Figure 1 uses 2013 data, although the relative amounts have not 

changed significantly since then and clearly illustrates that Surrey receives the lowest 

Formula Grant support per head of any county area and the third lowest of all English 

upper tier areas. As a consequence, Surrey has been disproportionately dependent upon 

Council Tax funding compared to many councils.  

  

Page 13

7



 

Figure 1: Formula Grant Distribution to Upper Tier Local Authorities (2013) 

Formula Grant distribution to English upper tier local authority 
areas

0.00

100.00

200.00

300.00

400.00

500.00

600.00

700.00

0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200 1,400 1,600

Fo
rm

ul
a 

G
ra

nt
, £

m

Population, 000s

Birmingham

Lancashire
Kent

Essex

Hampshire
Hertfordshire

Surrey

Derbyshire

Oxfordshire

Cambridgeshire

W Sussex

Buckinghamshire

Cumbria

Liverpool

Manchester

E Sussex

Surrey residents receive the lowest Formula Grant support per head of any county area and 
the third lowest of all English upper tier areas.

P
age 14

7



 

16. Amongst upper tier authorities (county, metropolitan and unitary councils), Surrey County 

Council receives one of the lowest settlements in central grant when the population of 

the County is taken into account. That is to say, Surrey County Council is the lowest 

funded per head of population. The effect of this grant to Council Tax funding gearing 

ratio means that the council faces much greater pressure on its Council Tax than other 

upper tier authorities. 

Surrey County Council’s strategic actions to manage the financial challenges and the 
consequences 
 
17. Taking 2010/11 as the baseline, the reduction in government grants to 2015/16 totals 

£93m. Over the same period, Surrey County Council has, reluctantly, adopted a Council 

Tax strategy that has led to a Council Tax uplift of just under the referendum level. This 

has been to sustain key services for the residents of Surrey. Figure 2 shows how the 

profile of funding from government grants and Council Tax has changed over the last five 

years: i.e. that by 2015/16 £80m more funding comes from Council Tax and £93m less 

from government grant than did in 2010/11.  

Figure 2: Profile of funding from Government grants and Council Tax, 2010/11 to 2015/16 

 

18. Based on the information which has been announced to the media by the Government 

about its plans for spending and grant funding over the next four years and the 2015 

Budget Statement, it is clear that funding will continue to reduce significantly. Figure 3 

illustrates the projected future position facing the council in terms of the reduction in 

central government grant outlined in the  March 2015 Budget Statement. This grant is 

projected to be very small by the end of the MTFP (2016-21) period. 

  

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

200 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Govt. Grants Council Tax 

Difference -£13m 

+£80m 

-£93m 

£m 

Page 15

7



 

 

Figure 3: Projected Revenue Support Grant 2015 to 2020 
 

 
 

19. Over the five year period that these demand pressures have increased, the council has 

mitigated these demand pressures through a programme of efficiencies and savings that 

has reduced the unit cost of many services. Since 2010, the council has reduced its 

annual value of expenditure by £329m, with an additional £67m planned for 2015/16 

bringing the total to £396m. This is an average of £66m every year (or £180,000 every 

day). Figure 4 below shows that despite an intensive programme of efficiencies and 

continual improvement initiatives to reduce unit costs, the council has only marginally 

exceeded the increases in demand across the same period. 

Figure 4: Profile of pressures and savings, 2010/11 to 2015/16 

 

£m 

£20m 

£40m 

£60m 

£80m 

£100m 

£120m 

£140m 

£160m 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Actual RSG Projected RSG 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Pressures/ Service Demand Efficiencies and Savings 

-£396m 

+£382m 

Page 16

7



 

 

20. To achieve these savings the council has focused on reducing unit costs. An example, 

shown in Figure 5 below demonstrates that while the council has reduced the unit costs 

of delivering adult social care up to 2015/16, the gains have been offset by the increase 

in volumes as a result of demographic changes of an ageing population. 

21. Continuing this rate of unit cost reduction is unlikely to be possible, while demand 

pressures are forecast to continue upwards.  

Figure 5: Adult Social Care Unit Costs and Client Volumes (2008/09 to 2020/21) 
 

 

 
22. In summary, over the last five years, the council has just managed to meet the service 

and demographic pressures it has faced (£382m) through delivering an extensive 

efficiency programme (£396m). Over the same period the council has lost £93m of 

government grant and has had to adopt a strategy of increasing Council Tax (total £80m) 

to prepare a balanced budget and sustain services to the residents of Surrey.  

23. The outlook for the next few years, where demographic demands are expected to 

continue to rise and government grants are expected to continue to reduce, is 

challenging. The council will not be able to sustain the same level of efficiencies in 

future. Also, the future spending pressures can only continue to be met if some services 

are cut or if the council is able to increase its Council Tax to sustain funding these 

services for vulnerable residents.  

24. In figure 6 below the scale of the key spending challenges for non-controllable 

demographic demand in terms of Council Tax equivalent uplift is illustrated. There are 

also some cost pressures which arise from new measures being introduced in 2016/17 

by the Government. A significant example of this is the additional costs anticipated from 

the introduction of the Unified State Pension which affects the council as the National 

Insurance increase.  

Page 17

7



 

 

25. A 1% uplift in the Council Tax level yields an additional £6m of funding for the council.       

Figure 6: Illustrations of Council Tax equivalents for key demographic demand and other 

uncontrollable pressures  

 

Budget 
Pressure 
2016/17 

Council Tax 
Equivalent 

 
£m % 

Key demographic demands 
  Adult Spot care 20.0 3.5% 

Children's services 7.5 1.5% 

School Places borrowing (net cost) 2.5 0.5% 

 
30.0 5.0% 

   Examples of other non-controllable 
pressures: 

  National Insurance Contributions 6.0 1.0% 

Adult Social Care Inflation 6.0 1.0% 

 

26. In summary, despite a five year intensive efficiency programme and continual 

improvement initiatives to reduce unit costs, the council requires further savings to meet 

the cost of rising demand for its services. Figure 7 shows efficiencies delivered since 

2010/11 and future savings requirements. 

Figure 7: Illustration of achieved and required savings by financial year 

 
Required savings 

Page 18

7



 

 

 
Preliminary financial position for the MTFP (2016 to 2021) 
 
27. Cabinet received a report on 29 July 2015 on MTFP (2015-20) which refreshed the 

current plan and provided a forecast of expenditure and funding for 2016/17 forward to 

2019/20. This was based on the latest information on service spending against 2015/16 

budgets which included any budget pressures which had been identified and provided 

the latest forecast of resources including central funding, specific grants and other 

income such as fees and charges etc.  

28. In July 2015 the refreshed MTFP (2015-20) identified a potential revenue budget shortfall 

of £35m in 2016/17 arising from new budget pressures of £15m plus a £20m shortfall in 

resources. Figure 8 below shows how, back in July, the potential revenue budget 

shortfall was expected to grow over the four years from 2016/17 to 2019/20 to £169m. 

Figure 8: MTFP (2015-20) refresh: potential budget shortfall   

 

29. Since 29 July 2015 significant work has been done to update the financial prospects for 

the council, including Cabinet and senior officers reviewing funding assumptions; the 

scale of demographic pressures and the efficiency programme. All Members have been 

kept up to date on progress through regular briefings by the Chief Executive and the 

Director of Finance. 

30. The measures being undertaken to determine a balanced and sustainable medium term 

budget are based on the current year’s budget being delivered within resources and the 

savings targets for future years being achieved. In addition, new models of delivery for 

services are being assessed and compared with other similar authorities, while at the 

same time the council continues to make the case to Central Government on the need 

for greater resources to meet the rising demographic demand. 

31. The current financial position is shown below in figure 9. This takes into account the 

reductions in government funding, restrictions on Council Tax uplift, the rising demand 

and the measures undertaken to make further savings. 

 

£67m 
£108m 

£131m £139m £147m 

£20m 

£40m 
£60m 

£80m 

£15m 

£28m 

£60m 

£89m 

£m 

£50m 

£100m 

£150m 

£200m 

£250m 

£300m 

£350m 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

New pressures 

Additional savings/ funding 

Identified savings 

Page 19

7



 

 

Figure 9: Draft forecast MTFP 2016/21 

MTFP 2016-21  

2016/17 

£m 

2017/18 

£m 

2018/19 

£m 

2019/20 

£m 

2020/21 

£m 

MTFP forecast income -1,658.2 -1,654.4 -1,650.3 -1,647.3 -1,648.7 

MTFP forecast expenditure  1,686.7 1,694.7 1,715.4 1,712.2 1,716.2 

MTFP 2016-21 shortfall 28.5 40.3 65.1 64.9 67.5 

32. Officers are preparing further savings action plans to develop a balanced and 

sustainable budget. The complete package of savings will be brought forward in the New 

Year together with detailed service budgets for submission to Cabinet for approval on 

2 February 2016. The budgets will link to services’ strategic plans approved by Cabinet. 

The budget timetable shown in paragraph 57 provides a summary of the key steps in the 

budget process. 

Capital Programme 

33. Capital investment in school places has increased from £54m to £75m per year. The 

current plans are to invest an additional £285m to create 13,000 school places, of which 

borrowing could be £180m depending on the level of government support through grant 

funding. The revenue cost of borrowing for this essential capital investment in the 

2016/17 budget is £2.5m, which equates to just under 0.5% of Council Tax. The revenue 

cost of this borrowing on future years’ revenue budgets could be up to £7m per year by 

2021, which equates to just over 1.0% of projected Council Tax.  

34. The council will review demand for school places beyond 2017/18 annually and reflect it 

in the capital programme. Along with other local authorities, the council is seeking further 

support from Central Government to meet the increased demand for school places. A 

key element of this is working with the Government and other interested parties in the 

creation of free schools that will help to provide the places for the rising number of school 

aged children. 

35. The road network in Surrey has some of the highest traffic volume usage in the country 

caused by its proximity to London and the need for many travellers to pass through the 

county. Government allocates capital funding on the basis of road length rather than use 

or traffic volume. Therefore, this critical factor does not attract Government capital 

funding.  

36. The current capital programme totals £744m over the next five years. The revenue costs 

of financing the borrowing necessary to fund this programme will be £18.5m by 2019/20. 

This is the equivalent of  3% of Council Tax, the cost of which is included in the funding 

shortfall figure contained in Figure 9 above and exceeds that which is currently 

affordable. 

37. An updated Capital Programme (2016-21) with proposals for reductions will be brought 

forward to Cabinet following the review in the New Year.  

Page 20

7



 

 

Budget Risks and Uncertainties 

38. There are significant risks and uncertainties in developing the MTFP 2016-21. These 

include: 

 the details of the Spending Review 2015 and the Local Government Financial 

Settlement 2015; 

 the on-going effectiveness of the efficiencies and savings programme; 

 the on-going uncontrollable growth in demographic demands on key services; 

 the impact of 100% business rates retention. 

 

Reserves and Balances 

39. The uncertainties and risks associated with the next MTFP will require the council to hold 

adequate reserves and balances to ensure financial stability and sustainability. If the 

council does not maintain adequate reserves and balances it may expose it to risks of 

unexpected events and shocks leading to the necessity of identifying budget cuts to 

services in year to restore council finances. 

40. In recent years it has been considered prudent to maintain the council’s minimum level of 

available general balances between 2.0% to 2.5% of the sum of Council Tax plus 

settlement funding, i.e. £16m to £20m. This is normally sufficient to cover unforeseen 

circumstances and the risk of higher than expected inflation.  

41. An updated forecast of the anticipated level of reserves and balances as at 31 March 

2016 will be reported in the budget report to Cabinet on 2 February 2016. 

Budget Scrutiny and Consultation 

42. A complete package of budget proposals will be brought forward to Cabinet in the New 

Year which will enable a balanced and sustainable budget to be set for 2016/17. Cabinet 

will request that Scrutiny Boards scrutinise the proposals from the beginning of 

December 2015 and provide their comments for Cabinet and Council to consider prior to 

approval. 

43. The Leader, Deputy Leader, Chief Executive and Director of Finance will be meeting 

during January with key partners and stakeholder groups, including representatives of 

Surrey’s business community, voluntary sector, community groups, faith groups and 

trade unions. The feedback from these meetings will be incorporated in feedback to 

Cabinet and Scrutiny Boards in the New Year. 

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS  

44. As a local authority and the steward of public money, the council is required to ensure 

that the 2016/17 budget is balanced and sustainable in the medium term. As this report 

shows, further work and decisions are required for this position to be reached. 

45. The council must also maintain adequate reserves and balances to ensure that it can 

meet the financial consequences of unanticipated events and known liabilities. 

Page 21

7



 

 

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY  

46. This report is a preliminary report setting out the strategic and major financial issues 

facing the council.  

47. As required by the Local Government Act 2003, Section 25, the Director of Finance will 

provide a separate report in the report to Cabinet on the 2 February 2016 when the 

Council recommends it budget and Council Tax precept to Council. The report will 

consider the robustness of the estimates for the budget calculations for 2016/17 and the 

adequacy of the financial reserves. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER 

48. The review of the financial prospects is a part of the development of the MTFP 2016 – 

2021 which, in turn, will be incorporated into the final budget setting report which Cabinet 

will consider on 2 February 2016 in order that Cabinet can recommend the level of 

Council Tax for 2016/17, the MTFP (2016-21) and Capital Programme (2016-21) to Full 

County Council for approval on 9 February 2016. 

49. The Council has a duty under the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended by 

the Localism Act 2011 to calculate its Council Tax requirement for the following financial 

year. The Act also permits the Secretary of State to define what level of Council Tax is 

deemed excessive and requires a local referendum to be held by the Council in the local 

area if the proposed increase would be excessive. Each year the Secretary of State has 

to seek approval of the House of Commons to apply the measure for the level of Council 

Tax in the following year. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

50. In approving the budget and the Council Tax precept, the Cabinet and Full County 

Council must comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty in section 149 of the Equality 

Act 2010 which requires it to have due regard to the need to: 

 “eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under the Act;  

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it.” 

 

51. To inform decision making, an analysis of the potential impact of the proposals set out in 

the MTFP (2016-21) on Surrey’s residents with one or more of the protected 

characteristics identified by the Equality Act 2010 will be made available at the meeting 

of the council’s Cabinet on 23 March 2016. This analysis will also set out the actions that 

the council is taking, or will undertake, to mitigate any negative impacts that could arise.  

52. The equality impact analysis undertaken for the proposed MTFP (2016-21) will build on 

the analysis of savings in the MTFP (2015-20). It will include full assessments of new 

Page 22

7



 

 

savings proposals and further analysis of proposals where there is a significant change 

from those presented previously.  

53. The analysis will include an overall council wide analysis and a summary of the 

implications of the proposals for each service. Detailed analysis, undertaken through 

Equality Impact Assessments, will be made available on the council’s website.  

54. Where Cabinet is required to take specific decisions about the implementation of savings 

proposals, additional equalities analysis will be presented at the point where a decision is 

made. This will be submitted alongside relevant Cabinet reports. Services will continue to 

monitor the impact of these changes and will take appropriate action to mitigate 

additional negative impacts that may emerge as part of this ongoing analysis.  

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT 

55. The following are the key dates in the budget process: 

Chancellor announces Autumn Statement 25 November 2015 

2015 Spending Review published 25 November 2015 

Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement Mid December 2015 

  

Notification of specific grants Dec 2015 - Jan 2016 

Final Council Tax base information received from districts and 
boroughs 

31 January 2016 

Scrutiny of Budget Proposals  

Resident Experience Board 
 

Education Skills Board 
 

Social Care Services Board 
From early Dec 2015 

Economic Prosperity, Environment & Highway Board 
 

Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

Council Overview Board 
 

Final Local Government Finance Settlement End January 2016 

Cabinet considers final budget proposals 2 February 2016 

Full Council approves 2016/17 Budget and Capital 
Programme 

9 February 2016 

 

 

Page 23

7



 

 

Contact Officer 

56. Sheila Little, Director of Finance.  

Tel 020 8541 9223  

Consulted 

57. Cabinet, Scrutiny Boards, all County Council Members, Chief Executive, Strategic 

Directors,  

Sources and background papers: 

 Budget working papers 

 Spending Review 2013 (26 June 2013) 

 

 

Page 24

7



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF: MRS LINDA KEMENY, CABINET MEMBER FOR SCHOOLS, 
SKILLS AND EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

JULIE FISHER, DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 

SUBJECT: SCHOOL ORGANISATION PLAN 
 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
The Cabinet is asked to consider the Surrey School Organisation Plan 2015/16 - 
2024/25 for publication.  
 
The School Organisation Plan sets out the policies and principles underpinning 
school organisation in Surrey. It highlights the likely demand for school places 
projected over a 10 year period, and set out any potential changes in school 
organisation that may be required in order to meet the statutory duty to provide 
sufficient places.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
That the School Organisation Plan 2015/16 - 2024/25 is approved for 
recommendation to Council to determine its publication.  
 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The School Organisation Plan is a key document used by schools and education 
stakeholders in considering long term plans. It is necessary to review the Plan to 
ensure that the best and most up to date information is published for use in this 
planning process.  
 

DETAILS: 

1. The county council has a statutory responsibility to provide a sufficient number 
of school places to meet the needs of its residents. The council must monitor 
future demand and decide on the appropriate change to school organisation 
where necessary in order to meet this statutory responsibility.  

2. The Surrey School Organisation Plan for 2015/16- 2024/25 sets out the policies 
and principles that underpin school organisation in Surrey. It also highlights the 
likely demand for school places over the next 10 years and sets out likely 
school organisation changes that may be required in order to provide a 
sufficient number of places.  

The current position in Surrey 

3. The current context in Surrey remains one of a rising primary school population 
across Surrey, but a decrease in the birth rate in 2013 and 2014 will see this 
population become steadier in future years. The sharp increase in primary 
cohorts is now also starting to impact on the secondary sector, as these 
children begin to transition into secondary schools.  

Page 25

8

Item 8



2 

4. The county council has established a capital programme to expand school 
places across the county in line with demand. The current five year 
programme, 2015 - 2020, will provide an additional 13,000 school places. The 
focus of this programme will see a shift from primary places to secondary 
places during the period. 

5. The council is currently commissioning a Surrey Infrastructure Framework as 
the basis of a longer term strategy with district and borough councils, and this 
should provide more clarity to support infrastructure contributions from 
developers. Clearly any longer term strategy will be subject to significant 
change.   

School Organisation Plan in summary 

6. After a foreword from the Director of Children's Services, the first four chapters 
of the plan discuss the regulations and principles which underpin the planning 
of future provision in Surrey. The first chapter introduces the purpose of the 
plan in relation to the council's core function of providing sufficient school 
places, and places the plan within the context of other strategies for young 
people in the county.   

7. The second chapter briefly sets out the Government regulations, policies and 
guidance which underpin school organisation, describing the legislative 
framework through which changes in school organisation are achieved.  

8. Chapter three provides detail on the process of school commissioning in 
Surrey, emphasising that the County Council has no wish to disrupt what is 
working well but that where new or changed provision is required it is sensible 
to plan to a consistent set of guidelines. The chapter goes on to outline the 
principles adhered to in Surrey when making changes to school organisation 
and the process by which school age population forecasts are produced. 

9. An overview of the current situation in the county in terms of demographics and 
school population is given in the fourth chapter. This chapter also establishes 
the current pattern of educational provision in the county, including details on 
the county's state funded schools and identifying county wide trends in births 
and housing.   

10. The plan goes on to provide individual chapters discussing educational 
provision in each of Surrey's boroughs and districts. Recent birth data and 
trends are set out, with primary and secondary provision then being separately 
discussed. Projections for primary and secondary places are shown in graphs, 
and the implications of these are detailed. Schools where additional places 
have been provided since 2013 are identified, although requirements for 
additional provision are usually only discussed in broad terms since in most 
instances formal proposals have not been made. That being said, where formal 
proposals have already been ratified, specific school details are provided.  

Borough and district summaries 

11. Elmbridge - births in Elmbridge peaked in 2010/11 and have since fluctuated 
at a similar level. 2014 saw the first significant drop in births across the 
borough, however the level of housing and inward migration means that it is 
likely that demand for school places will remain steady, with pockets of 
exceptionally high demand being maintained. The chapter shows that a 
significant number of temporary bulge classes and permanent expansions have 
been commissioned in the area to meet the sustained primary demand and a 
free school providing primary and secondary places has been opened. The 

Page 26

8



    

sharp increase experienced in primary cohorts has now begun to impact on the 
secondary sector, where an additional form of entry has already been provided 
and 3 additional forms will be provided by 2019, with a further six forms 
required in the long term. 

12. Epsom & Ewell - births in Epsom & Ewell peaked in 2011/12, but have 
decreased marginally since. In the primary sector, additional forms of entry 
have been provided largely to cater for demand generated by additional 
housing in the north of the borough. In addition, a major organisational change 
is anticipated in Ewell by 2017. After a period of decline, secondary demand in 
the borough is recovering and additional secondary places are likely to be 
needed from 2019. 

13. Guildford - births in Guildford peaked in 2011/12, followed by a small decrease 
which has now reached a plateau. Additional primary places have been 
provided in Guildford each year since 2009 and as a result there now appear to 
be sufficient places to meet anticipated demand going forward. School re-
organisation is however being considered in the outlying rural villages to 
determine how best to meet the demand of these areas. In the secondary 
sector, housing and the increase in primary cohorts mean that up to three 
additional forms of entry will be required in the town centre by 2017. 

14. Mole Valley - births in Mole Valley peaked earlier than other boroughs and 
districts in 2009/10 and have since decreased marginally year on year. 
Forecasts indicate that there will be sufficient places in the district overall, but 
this masks considerable variation: to the south there is spare capacity which is 
forecast to continue. However, in the north, there has been a greater pressure 
on places and additional places have been provided in the Ashtead and 
Leatherhead areas. Similarly, whilst there is an overall surplus of secondary 
places at a district level, a shortage of places is forecast in the Dorking town 
area, with an additional two forms of entry being required by 2018.  

15. Reigate & Banstead - births in Reigate & Banstead peaked in 2010/11 and 
have since fluctuated. However, demand has remained steady, particularly in 
the central Reigate and Redhill area, and additional places have been provided 
each year, with a new school being opened in 2012. Another new school was 
opened in 2014 to the south of the borough in Horley as the result of housing 
development and pressure on places in this area is largely dependent upon the 
rate of house building. The sharp increase in primary cohorts is now being felt 
in the secondary sector, and temporary bulge classes are being provided in 
both 2015 and 2016. The DfE has recently approved the opening of a new 
secondary free school in the Reigate and Redhill area to provide an additional 
six forms of entry to meet demand.  

16. Runnymede - births in Runnymede peaked in 2011/12 before dipping and 
rising again in 2013. In the primary sector, demand is forecast to fluctuate 
before reaching a plateau by 2020. A number of additional places have been 
commissioned in the area, and there is a requirement for an additional form of 
entry in the Chertsey or Addlestone area moving forward. In the secondary 
sector, there is a clear shortage of places as the increased primary cohorts 
move into secondary schools. As the result, the DfE have approved a new free 
school in the area, which is due to open in 2017. Additional places in the 
Catholic secondary sector will also be required by 2020, to accommodate 
increased cohorts moving forward from Catholic primary schools.  

17. Spelthorne - births in Spelthorne peaked in 2012/13, but marginally fell in 
2014. This pattern of fluctuation has been evident since the early 2000s, and is 

Page 27

8



4 

reflected in the demand for primary school places in the borough. There have 
been a number of temporary bulge classes provided since 2013 to meet 
demand. It is likely that future demand will not be uniform across the borough, 
and there will be a need for an additional two forms of entry at Reception.  
Secondary provision in the area will be adequate until 2018, but may potentially 
require an additional two forms of entry by 2022.  

18. Surrey Heath - Surrey Heath was the first borough to experience a peak in the 
birth rate in 2007/08. Births then decreased year on year, reaching a plateau in 
recent years. In the primary sector, additional places have been provided at two 
schools in the borough: Connaught Junior and Bisley CE Primary School. The 
former was as the result of equalising an existing deficiency between infant and 
junior places in a largely rural area, and the latter as the result of cross border 
demand from Woking borough and the Pirbright military camp. Any future 
school organisation change will be as the result of housing development, such 
as the redevelopment of the barracks at Deepcut. In the secondary sector, 
there are currently surplus places that have challenged the efficient running of 
schools in the area, but the level of surplus is reducing and additional provision 
may be required to accommodate the peak demand coming forward from the 
primary sector in 2019.   

19. Tandridge - births in Tandridge peaked in 2011/12 and have since decreased 
marginally year on year. In the primary sector, an overall surplus of places 
masks some local variance and additional places have been provided in some 
areas. Secondary school provision is located towards the north of the district 
and, due to the close proximity to the county border, has significant 
subscription from out of county applicants. A small shortage of places is 
expected by 2018 and it is likely that up to two forms of entry may be required. 

20. Waverley - births in Waverley have fluctuated, peaking in 2011/12 before 
decreasing year on year. The rural nature of the majority of the borough does 
mean that pupil populations fluctuate significantly more than in urban areas, 
and a number of temporary bulge classes have been provided to accommodate 
demand. Forecasts show that this pattern of peaks and troughs is set to 
continue until reaching a steadier state from 2019. In the secondary sector, a 
surplus capacity at borough level masks the exceptional demand that is 
generated in the more urban area of Farnham, where two additional forms of 
entry are required for 2016 with the potential requirement for another form of 
entry by 2018.  

21. Woking - the birth rate in Woking rose steadily to a peak in 2011/12, before 
seeing a decrease of over 200 births in 2013. However, demand is likely to 
remain steady in the borough due to the level of housing and inward migration. 
At primary level, a number of additional places have been provided, and it is 
likely that temporary bulge provision will be required to accommodate the peak 
primary cohort in 2016. In the secondary sector, a new secondary free school 
was opened in the borough in September 2015 to provide an additional four 
forms of entry. An additional four forms of entry are also being provided at 
existing secondary schools in order to meet demand, including that arising from 
an increase in Catholic primary school places. 

CONSULTATION: 

22. The School Organisation Plan is not subject to statutory consultation. Once 
authorised for publication, the plan will be widely distributed to education 
stakeholder groups and organisations, including schools, Local Planning 
Authorities and Dioceses. It is considered to be a helpful tool to aid future 

Page 28

8



    

planning at a school level. The plan will also be published on the Surrey County 
Council website for public viewing.  

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

23. The statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient school places for all 
applicants within Surrey is held by the county council. An understanding of the 
school estate and how school organisation changes relate to demographic 
changes is vital to performing this duty.  

Financial and Value for Money Implications  

24. The School Organisation Plan underpins the school basic need planned capital 
programme and determines the level of additional school places required 
across the County. The plan is the business driver for the required capital 
investment which forms part of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). The 
current capital budget for school basic need in the 2015-20 MTFP is £285m. 

Section 151 Officer Commentary  

25. The plan outlines the business requirement for additional school places over 
the next 10 years. The Department for Education (DfE) currently provides some 
capital grant funding for additional school places and the council has been 
successful in securing additional funding. However, the grant funding will not 
cover the total cost of the school basic need capital programme and there is a 
requirement for the council to fund the shortfall..  

26. Individual proposals for expanding schools are considered as part of the capital 
business planning process. The revenue cost of the additional places will be 
met from the Dedicated Schools Grant allocated by DfE for the additional 
pupils.   

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer 

27. This is a key document in ensuring that Surrey County Council is able to 
comply with its duty to ensure that sufficient school places are available in the 
area. Section 13 of the Education Act 1996 places a general duty on the 
Council to secure that efficient primary and secondary education is available to 
meet the needs of the population in its area.  In doing so, the Council is 
required to contribute to the spiritual, moral, mental and physical development 
of the community. Section 14 of the Education Act 1996 places a duty on the 
Council to secure that sufficient schools for providing primary and secondary 
education are available in its area. There is a legal duty on the Council 
therefore to secure the availability of efficient education in its area and sufficient 
schools to enable this. 

Equalities and Diversity 

28. There are no direct equalities implications arising from the School Organisation 
Plan. However, the provision of a sufficient number of school places which are 
open to all applicants will support the council's commitment to equality and 
diversity.  

  

Page 29

8



6 

Corporate Parenting/Looked After Children implications 

29. This is a key document to ensuring that the appropriate numbers of school 
places are provided to meet the demand of our residents. All places provided 
have the highest priority given to children in the care of the local authority.  

Safeguarding responsibilities for vulnerable children and adults implications 

30. The council has a duty to promote and improve educational outcomes for all 
children, particularly those who are vulnerable or disadvantaged. The School 
Organisation Plan is an important piece of evidence used to plan the 
appropriate number of school places, so by aiding the council in fulfilling this 
duty.  

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

31. If approved by Cabinet, and subsequently by Council, the School Organisation 
Plan will be published on the Surrey County Council website and distributed 
widely to all stakeholders including Surrey schools, district and borough 
councils and local Diocesan boards.  

32. The School Organisation Plan is reviewed periodically to allow for the 
incorporation of new and updated information, usually following an annual 
timescale.   

 
Contact Officer: 
Sarah Jeffery, Assistant School Commissioning Officer, Tel: 020 541 7409 
 
Sources/background papers: 
Annex 1 - School Organisation Plan 2015/16 - 2024/25 
 

 

Page 30

8



 

1 
 

             
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

                               
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

School 
Organisation Plan 
 

School places in Surrey  
2015/16 - 2024/25 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 

                                          December 2015 Page 31

8



 

2 
 

Contents 
 
Foreword from the Director of Children's Services 3 

Introduction and the purpose of this plan 4 

Government Regulations, Guidance and Policies 5 

The process of School Commissioning 6 

The current position in Surrey 10 

Elmbridge 15 

Epsom & Ewell 19 

Guildford 23 

Mole Valley 27 

Reigate & Banstead 31 

Runnymede 35 

Spelthorne 38 

Surrey Heath 41 

Tandridge 44 

Waverley 47 

Woking 51 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32

8



 

3 
 

Foreword from the Director of Children's Services 
 
The publication of the School Organisation Plan (SOP) is an important milestone in Surrey 
County Council’s school planning activities. Whilst no longer a statutory document, the 
County Council continues to highlight its influence in setting out the policies and principles 
underpinning school organisation in Surrey. It forecasts the supply and demand for school 
places over the next decade and highlights the areas this will impact in the county and our 
plans to manage this. 
 
Surrey has seen a sharp rise in the number of births within the county over the last decade. 
Whilst the pace of this growth in births has now receded, it still leaves a rising number of 
children who will require entry to primary and secondary school in the foreseeable future. 
This increase in pupil population has created a clear and demonstrable continuing basic 
need for additional school places.  
 
In the primary sector the County Council has responded to this need with an unprecedented 
programme of school expansion, with very few areas of the county unaffected. In the last five 
years, approximately 13,000 additional school places have been provided, predominantly in 
the primary sector. This significant investment programme has come with considerable strain 
on the County Council's finances and on the school community. We thank the Surrey family 
of schools for their professional and helpful response to this issue. 
 
During this challenging period the County Council has always maintained its statutory duty of 
offering all residents a school place, and has been successful in continuing to meet parental 
preference. For September 2015, Surrey County Council was able to offer a place at a 
preferred school to 95.6% of reception applicants, 95.5% of junior applicants and 94.7% of 
secondary applicants.  
 
Reflecting the increase in the primary sector, growth in the secondary school population will 
be the major focus of work and investment over the next five years. Surrey County Council is 
well placed to understand and meet this need in a sustainable manner. We will work closely 
with our district and borough councils to ensure that appropriate contributions from 
developers are received to meet the future education infrastructure demands of additional 
housing.  We will also continue to work with the Department for Education for a fairer funding 
settlement from central government. 
 
Given the size and diverse nature of Surrey, changes in pupil population will not be uniform 
throughout the county and whilst there will be areas of acute demand, the council will also be 
working with schools facing different challenges associated with falling rolls and a transient 
population. It is important to note the specific pressures that this can put on school 
leadership and organisation. Surrey County Council has a reputation for being active in its 
school planning, and this plan signals an intention to maintain that approach as part of a 
commitment to continuing to raise standards. 

 

 

 
 

Julie Fisher 
Deputy Chief Executive  

Page 33

8



 

4 
 

 Introduction and the purpose of this plan  

Surrey County Council has a statutory duty to ensure that there are enough school places in 
the county to meet demand. The council must therefore plan, organise and commission 
places for all state-funded schools in Surrey so that high standards are maintained, diverse 
school communities created and fluctuating pupil numbers are managed efficiently.   
 

Education in Surrey can be divided into three overlapping, age-determined phases:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The purpose of this document is to understand the projected need and demand for future 
school places for 4 - 16 year olds in Surrey. Information relating to the statutory provision of 
Early Years education and 14 - 19 education are covered in other documents which can be 
found on the Surrey County Council website. 
 

The demand for school places changes over time - this document is considered to be ‘live’ 
and, as such, will require regular updates. It sets out where the council currently thinks there 
will be a need to provide more school places and if there may be a need to provide fewer 
places over the next ten years. Increases in demand can lead to the creation of a new 
school or the expansion of schools, whereas decreases in demand can lead to a reduction in 
school provision.  
 

Predicting school demand is a complex task. Where children go to school involves a range 
of different and often conflicting factors, and as a result planning for school places is based 
on probabilities, not certainties. This means that while projections may be made from robust 
calculations, they do not offer any guarantees. 
  

It is important to be as open and transparent as possible when considering school 
organisation decisions. We strive to communicate effectively with schools and school 
communities about the school place pressures in their area. However, the council must also 
endeavour to manage expectations regarding school organisation proposals that are less 
certain. This document does not seek to set out all the actions the council intends to take in 
the future, but rather to provide an overview of issues that may arise in Surrey. Generally 
speaking, the council will only name particular schools in this document when there is 
sufficient assurance that a proposal will be implemented or where this has already taken 
place. There may be occasions when longer term planning is required or information is 
shared regarding future school organisation issues. 
 

In order to explain the complex task of school commissioning, this document provides a brief 
outline on:  
 

 Government regulations, guidance and policies 

 The process of school commissioning 

 The current position in Surrey 

These are followed by more in-depth information on each borough or district, presented in 
area based chapters. 

EARLY YEARS 
A range of private, 

voluntary, independent 
(PVI) and maintained 
providers (including 

nurseries and children's 
centres) provide the 

free entitlement for 2 - 4 
year olds. 

 
5 - 16 YEAR OLDS 
This is compulsory 
school age, during 
which schools are 
the main providers. 

 

 

14 - 25 YEAR OLDS 
Both colleges and 

schools offer 
substantial provision, 
with colleges as the 

sole provider for 
young people aged 

19-25. 

 

Page 34

8

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/


 

5 
 

Government Regulations, Guidance and Policies            
 

 
 

Duties to provide for students aged 5-16 
The law requires that a child is in receipt of an education and provision is made for that 
education from the first term they begin as a five year old to the end of the academic year in 
which their sixteenth birthday falls, either at a school or otherwise. Some parents will choose 
to educate their children independently, either at independent schools, via parental provision 
or otherwise, whereas others will send their children to maintained schools inside or outside 
of Surrey. Some children are educated in special schools or non-school forms of special 
education because of their special educational needs. Surrey County Council offers a school 
place to any resident applicant between 5 and 16 years old, whether they end up accepting 
the school place or not. 
 

Duties to provide for students aged 14-19 
The Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 places Local Authorities as the 
lead strategic commissioners of 14-19 education and training. Surrey County Council 
therefore has a duty to ensure that sufficient and appropriate education and training 
opportunities are accessible to this age group. Details of Surrey's 14-19 policy can be found 
on the public website at www.surreycc.gov.uk in the 14-19 Education and Training section.  
 

Legislation 
The main legislation governing school organisational changes is found in sections 7 - 32 of 
the Education and Inspections Act 2006, as amended by the Education Act 2011. In 
addition, the Schools Organisation Maintained Schools Guidance for proposers and decision 
makers dated January 2014, issued by the Department of Education (DFE), accompanies 
new School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2013 and (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) Regulations 2013, 
which came into force on 28 January 2014.  
 
In changing or increasing provision, the council is required in certain circumstances to seek 
and consider bids from external providers including trusts and other educational 
organisations. The council values diversity in its school provision. Within our guidelines, 
individual cases will always be judged on their merits. Church dioceses have long supported 
voluntary aided schools in Surrey. Government legislation dictates that any new schools 
must be either an Academy or a Free School, so the county council welcomes approaches 
from appropriate bodies proposing sponsorship arrangements for new or reorganised 
schools or academies. 
 
Under Surrey County Council’s scheme of delegation, decisions relating to school 
organisation within the remit of the council are delegated to the Cabinet Member for Schools, 
Skills and Educational Achievement, except in the case of opening or closing schools, where 
the Leader of the Council makes the final decision. The Cabinet Member for Schools, Skills 
and Educational Achievement is advised by the Strategic Director for Children's Services.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 35

8

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/


 

6 
 

 The Process of School Commissioning    

 
 

Primary Planning  
Provision for children aged 4 – 11 at primary, infant and junior schools 
In considering changes to provision or the creation of new provision in the primary sector, 
the council will plan on the following principles: 
 

 Published Admissions Numbers (PANs) for primary schools will not normally be 
less than 30 or greater than 180, and will normally be multiples of 30 or 15.  
 

 The council will avoid arrangements that involve large admission intakes outside 
the common admission points at Reception and Year 3. 
 

 The council prefers to provide all through primary schools, rather than separate 
infant and junior schools, to provide continuity between Key Stages 1 and 2. 
 

 However, the council will have to regard existing local arrangements where these 
are clearly beneficial to education, such as to maintain a feeder link between an 
infant and a junior school, or reducing transport needs in rural areas.  
 

 The council will seek to strengthen existing links between feeder schools if the 
opportunity arises  
 

 At present, all primary school provision is co-educational, and the council 
anticipates that future arrangements will conform to this pattern. 
 

 The council will seek to maintain smaller schools where the quality of provision is 
high and where the school offers value for money.  
 

 The council will consider arrangements that allow for the management of small 
local schools within a single institutional framework (a federation) under a single 
governing body and one head teacher. 

 

Secondary Planning 
Provision for children aged 11 – 16 at secondary schools 
In considering changes to provision or the creation of new provision in the secondary phase 
the council will plan on the following principles: 
 

 PANs for secondary schools will not normally be less than 150 or greater than 
360, and will normally be multiples of 30.  
 

 The majority of current Surrey secondary provision is co-educational and the 
council expects any new provision to conform to this pattern. This is because the 
creation of a single sex school in isolation gives rise to gender inequalities in the 
provision of school places. 

 

Special Educational Needs Planning  
In planning provision for children with Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) the 
council will be guided by the following principles: 
 

 The council will ensure that provision is available for Surrey children and young 
people aged between 2 and 25 years who have an Education Health and Care Plan 
(EHCP) or a Statement of Special Educational Needs (SSEN). Access to specialist 
provision will also be made available for pre-school children without an EHCP, where 
this is necessary. 
 

 The council aims to increase the inclusion of children with SEND into mainstream 
settings, with appropriate support. To this end, the council will give priority to 
organisational changes that specifically promote this aim and develop its specialist 
provision, so that as many pupils as possible, both those with SEND and also the 
mainstream cohort, receive the educational benefits of inclusion and as few pupils as 

Page 36

8



 

7 
 

possible with an EHCP or a SSEN are placed at non maintained and independent 
special schools. 
 

 Future planning of provision will be influenced by the objectives outlined in the 
forthcoming SEND Strategy. 

 

Pupil Referral Unit Planning  
 The council will provide Pupil Referral Units (PRU) and other services/provisions 

for children temporarily unable to attend mainstream school due to temporary or 
permanent exclusion, attendance, behaviour or other needs. 
 

 PRUs will not be used as long-term substitutes for mainstream or special 
schools. In general, the function of PRUs will be to provide short-term provision. 
However, for some children in Years 10 or 11, PRUs will provide support from the 
point of admission to the conclusion of Key Stage 4. 

 

What factors do we consider in making school organisational changes? 
A variety of factors may lead to the council making proposals for changes in school provision 
(these would apply to nursery and college provision too). As the list below indicates, the 
supply and demand of school places is only one of the factors that the council will consider, 
other factors include: 
 

 Changes in the population and/or the continuing demand for places in an area 
 

 Opportunities to make positive educational developments 
 

 Opportunities to regularise local arrangements to accord with general Surrey 
arrangements 
 

 The quality of education provided by the school according to recent performance 
data and Ofsted inspections.  
 

 The objective results and data for the institution in question in relation to public 
examinations or national tests 
 

 The comparison of these results to those of other local and/or other similar 
schools 
 

 The value that the school can be shown to be adding to the educational 
achievement of pupils 
 

 The popularity of the school with local residents and wider user groups 
 

 Parental preference for the school 
 

 The prospects for the school of remaining or becoming viable in terms of 
admission numbers 
 

 Indicators that the institution has a good understanding of the challenges it faces 
and the ability and determination to tackle these challenges 
 

 Indicators as to whether the institution is able to make a sound educational offer 
within its allocated budget 
 

 The feasibility of physical capacity of the school site 
 

 Compliance with planning regulations 
 

 Financial feasibility 
 

 Maintaining or enhancing the diversity of provision 
 
Proposals to change nursery, school or college organisation will be designed to ensure that 
the interests of existing pupils, students and service-users are protected and advanced. The 
council will not, however, refuse to take action necessary to the long-term interests of Surrey 
residents because this causes short-term difficulties or disruption. 
 

Page 37

8



 

8 
 

Schools operate most efficiently and effectively when full or nearly full. To this end the 
council seeks to keep the number of vacant places (those that are surplus to requirements) 
to a minimum. The Audit Commission recommends that there should be approximately a 5% 
surplus of places in an area to allow flexibility in responding to parental preference and to 
account for unexpected changes in pupil numbers (i.e. such as pupils moving into the area). 
Where the surplus is higher than this, normally the council will seek to take action to lower 
this number. However, there may be certain circumstances where a higher number of 
surplus places are accepted.  
 

Working with schools and other local authorities 
The council wishes to work closely with all schools in Surrey irrespective of their school 
status. This includes maintained, voluntary aided/controlled, foundation, free schools and 
academies. The council has built and maintains a strong professional relationship with all the 
current Surrey free schools and academies and places at these schools are taken into 
account within strategic planning to ensure a sufficiency of school places.  
 
There is a good track record of schools working together in Surrey to address the needs of 
all children in an area. Almost all Surrey schools are part of a cross phase local 
confederation, in addition to the twelve ‘14-19’ Learning Networks which comprise all 
secondary schools. These voluntary collaborative partnerships have developed strong local 
models for improving outcomes through shared continued professional development, joint 
working groups and strategic planning. As well as the above there are a number of different 
models of leadership and partnerships that exist at a school level (amalgamation, federation, 
partnership etc.). School organisation issues rarely affect schools in isolation; therefore 
school partnerships are important to understanding the impact school organisation decisions 
may have on education in an area.  
 
In planning the provision of school places, the council will take account of demands from 
residents of other local authority areas and vice versa. This information is shared with other 
local authorities and will increase or decrease the estimates of demand within the county 
according to where these pressures occur geographically. 
 

How do we forecast the demand for school places? 
The council works with schools and governing bodies to address supply and demand issues 
in the shorter and longer term. Early Years projections and 14-19 education are planned 
through a different process, and the relevant documents can be found on the Surrey County 
Council website under the appropriate sections.  
 
Surrey covers a large area and so in order to carry out pupil forecasts effectively the county 
must be split up into different ‘planning areas’. Any decisions on changes to school provision 
such as the expansion or contraction of schools are taken within the context of these 
planning areas. In Surrey, there are both primary and secondary planning areas, and you 
can find more details of these in the individual borough and district reports.  

 
Primary planning areas are typically made up of between three and eight schools and vary in 
size depending on the rural or urban nature of the area. Where possible, primary planning 
areas are made up of complete electoral wards, however sometimes the geography of an 
area or the historical patterns of schooling means a planning area could span more than one 
or only part of a ward. School place planning does not take into account district or borough 
boundaries, and there are occasions where one planning area may cover parts of two 
different boroughs or districts.  
 
Usually, a number of primary planning areas are grouped together to form a single 
secondary planning area, although in some areas geography dictates the need for multiple 
secondary planning areas, such as in Tandridge or Waverley.  

Page 38

8



 

9 
 

 
Birth data underpins all forecasts. Birth data is collected by the Office for National Statistics 
(ONS) by electoral ward. Alongside birth data, the council also collects data on pupil 
movement trends from the School Census and examines pupil movement between schools; 
in and out of the county, and between educational stages i.e. transferring from primary to 
secondary school. These trends are combined with birth and housing data in specialist 
demographic forecasting software called 'Edge-ucate', which creates pupil projections or 
forecasts. These pupil projections allow the council to commission adequate educational 
provision to ensure that every Surrey child who requires a school place is offered one.  
 
Although school place demand is based on planning areas, there is no direct link between 
the number of children living in a particular planning area and the number of school places 
located there. This is because, when it comes to applying for a school place, parents/carers 
are under no obligation to apply for their nearest maintained school, and could instead 
express a preference for a school outside of their town, borough/district or county, or choose 
independent schooling for their child. The council strives to meet parental preference where 
possible, and analysing historic pupil movement trends enables the planning of school 
places to take preference patterns in an area into consideration. Surrey County Council's 
planning is effective in this regard and for September 2015, the council was able to offer a 
place at a preferred school to 95.6% of reception applicants, 95.5% of junior applicants and 
94.7% of secondary applicants. Pupil movement trends also allow the council to understand 
whether there is a significant export or import in the area.  
 
This document largely focuses on the ‘intake’ years – Reception year for infant and primary 
schools; Year 3 for junior schools and Year 7 for secondary schools. These are the most 
recently admitted year groups, and so the first that will show the effects of a change in birth 
rate and the best reflection of current parental attitudes to schools. Therefore pupil 
projections or forecasts are based on how many children are predicted to require a school 
place in these 'intake' year groups in a given area. This number is then evaluated against the 
number of school places in the relevant year group in that planning area and action is then 
required if the demand significantly outstrips the supply (or vice versa). 
 
 
  

Page 39

8



 

10 
 

The current position in Surrey    
 

Surrey's population 
Surrey is the most densely populated shire county in England. The population density is 655 
per sq km, compared with a South East average of 425 and a UK average of only 246.  
 
Surrey’s population has increased every year since 1987. In the 2011 census, there were 
1.13 million people living in Surrey, an increase of 7% from the 2001 census. The population 
in Surrey is estimated to continue to grow to 2037.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The fastest growing borough in terms of overall population is Elmbridge, followed by Woking.  
This upward trend can largely be explained by the birth rate and net inward migration, as 
Surrey is a net importer of people, as illustrated below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Only 34% of Surrey’s land is urban, yet 83% of the population live there. The council’s 
approach to school planning must therefore adapt to support small and isolated populations 
in the more rural areas, as well as the more concentrated populations in town centre 
locations. 
 
Surrey is made up of diverse rural and urban communities, including minority ethnic 
communities. Data from the 2011 census indicates that 83% of Surrey's population identify 
themselves as being White British. The remaining 17% is made up of people from minority 
ethnic communities as follows: 
  

 

 

2014 

Page 40

8



 

11 
 

Surrey's school population 
In January 2015, Surrey's school population was made up of: 

 
 

Data collected from schools in January 2015 showed that the ethnic makeup of Surrey's 
state-funded school community is as follows: 
 

 
In total, 197 languages other than English are spoken by children and young people in the 
county’s schools. In Surrey state-funded primary schools approximately 12% of pupils have 
English as an additional language and there are 8% of students in secondary education for 
whom English is not their first language. 
 

 

2 
Includes pupils of compulsory school age and above from state-funded primary and secondary schools, excludes unclassified 

pupils for whom the information was refused or not obtained. 

State funded 

primary, 46.53%

State funded 

secondary, 
31.24%

Other, 1.55%

Independent, 

20.68%

State funded primary

State funded secondary

Other

Independent

Page 41

8



 

12 
 

On 1 October 2015, there were the following state-funded schools in Surrey: 
  

  Community Voluntary 
Controlled 

Voluntary 
Aided 

Foundation Academy Trust Free Total 

Nursery 4       4 
Infant 46 9 24 2 5 1 1 88 
Primary 65 11 47 7 37 2  169 
Junior 18 3 11 3 9   44 
All through   1    1 2 
Secondary 9  9 3 31  1 53 
PRU 10       10 
Special 20    3   23 

Total 172 23 92 15 85 3 3 393 
 

There are also 31 sixth forms in schools, six sixth form colleges and four general further 
education colleges. In addition, there are also 110 independent schools in the county, which 
provide education for just over 20% of Surrey's school age population.  

 
5 Includes community, foundation, voluntary, middle schools as deemed (primary or secondary) and academies. Excludes 
special schools. 
 

Surrey Births 
Births in Surrey fell significantly from the academic year 1997/98 to reach a low point of 
11,671 in 2001/02. This was followed by significant increases, reaching a peak across the 
county of 14,191 births in the 2011/12 academic year - an increase of just under 22% in a 
decade. The largest percentage increases in births during this time period were in 
Elmbridge, Reigate & Banstead, Guildford and Woking.  
 

 

11500

12000

12500

13000

13500

14000

14500

Birth rate in Surrey

Page 42

8



 

13 
 

 
In both the 2012/13 and 2013/14 academic years, the birth rate decreased significantly in 
Surrey for the first time since 2001. Indeed, the ONS identified the 2013 calendar year births 
as having the largest nationwide decrease since 1975 and in Surrey, most boroughs or 
districts saw a fall in the number of births.  
  
Despite the decline of birth rates in 2013 and 2014, ONS offers no guarantee that this is a 
general trend for future years. There is some caution as to whether this is the start of a 
decreasing trend, or whether these two years are simply outliers. Based on ONS population 
estimates and projected fertility rates, births are projected to follow a trend of increase 
overall but at a shallower rate than first anticipated. As such, we would expect most areas of 
Surrey to at least maintain the current level of demand.   
 
In the short term in Surrey, the birth rate will mean the number of children requiring school 
places will continue to increase sharply until 2016/2017, when the peak in birth rate will see 
the largest cohort of children beginning education.  
 

Surrey housing 
New housing developments will result in an increase in the number of pupils that need a 
place at Surrey schools. The effects are twofold: families that move into new houses in 
Surrey are likely to enrol their children in a local Surrey school. This will result in a short term 
increase in the number of pupils on roll in Surrey schools across all year groups. Secondly, a 
study of the pupil yield from new houses, commissioned by Surrey County Council in 2014, 
has shown that new houses are more likely to produce children between the ages of 0-4 as 
couples move into the area to start or increase their family. This will result in an increase in 
pupils entering Reception year in future years.   
 
When projecting pupil numbers, completions data (e.g. when houses are sold) is used for 
historic data and housing permissions and housing trajectories (e.g. actual and forecast 
planning permissions for new housing developments) are used for making forecasts. 

 
Approximately 47,000 new homes are currently planned in Surrey by 2030. 
Regional plans and government policies seek to increase the level of housing 
that the county should provide and this shapes the school planning challenges 
that the council now faces, as demand for housing puts pressure on all 

services and public infrastructure – particularly schools. There are also associated 
environmental challenges to be considered when trying to meet this pressure. 
  

Page 43

8



 

14 
 

 

Understanding the forecasts for school places in your area  
 
  
 

+      +      +      +        =   = 
 
 
 
By using information on births, housing, pupil movement trends and local knowledge it is 
possible to forecast the need for school places in Surrey in the future. However, forecasts 
are not certainties - they are estimates, and the information in this plan is subject to change 
and update.  As a result, we cannot offer any guarantees.  
 
Demand patterns are not uniform, and overall numbers sometimes mask the school place 
needs of individual areas. Projected spare capacity in a borough/district does not mean that 
all the schools will be able to meet demand in the area – there may be a surplus of places at 
Year 4 for example, but there may be a deficit of places in the Reception year. In this case, 
additional provision will still be needed to ensure that there are enough places for children 
starting school. Furthermore, if there is an oversupply in one area but an under supply in 
another (the north vs. the south, for example) additional provision may still be required in 
one particular town or area even though numbers for the borough/district as a whole indicate 
that there is adequate capacity.  
 
The following sections of this document describe the current pupil numbers and school place 
numbers in each of the eleven boroughs and districts in Surrey. They also set out forecasts 
for how it is thought pupil numbers will change alongside the general changes in school 
organisation and the PANs that will be needed to meet the changing pupil population. 
Further information about schools in Surrey, parental preferences and the allocation of 
school places in 2014 and 2015 can be found on the Surrey website at 
www.surreycc.gov.uk/admissions in the 'Admissions Arrangements and Outcomes' section.  
 
When looking at the projections in each of the subsequent chapters it is important to 
understand that these forecasts are not statements of fact. It is also important to note that 
whilst the council will seek to meet parental preferences, projections are primarily concerned 
with the number of available school places in a given area. It may be the case that there are 
some schools in an area that are consistently oversubscribed against parental preferences, 
giving the impression that there is a shortage of school places in this area when this is not 
the case overall as other schools have capacity. The principal factor is the number of school 
places in an area compared to the number of children that are seeking to start school and it 
is this which the council seeks to predict and to respond.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pupil 

movement 

trends 

 

 

Births 

 

 

Housing 

 

 

Local 

Knowledge 

 

School 

place 

demand 

 

Page 44

8



 

15 
 

Elmbridge 
 

Schools in Elmbridge 
There are 28 primary phase schools in Elmbridge, nine of which have nursery provision. 
There are four secondary schools, three with sixth forms. The Cobham Free School is an all 
through school offering both primary and secondary places, eventually up to sixth form. 
Post-16 provision is also provided by Esher Sixth Form College, and on the Weybridge 
campus of Brooklands College.  

 
One secondary school has a specialist centre supporting 
pupils with hearing impairment. There is also a Special 
School providing education for children with severe 
learning and development difficulties and a secondary 
short-stay Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) situated in 
Hersham. 
 
Elmbridge is made up of six individual primary planning 
areas as identified in the map to the left. Each primary 
phase school is allocated to one of these planning areas.  
 
Elmbridge is a single secondary planning area. This 
means that demand for secondary places is estimated 

across the whole borough.  
 

Births in Elmbridge 
The graph below shows the number of births in Elmbridge each academic year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Data provided by the Office for National Statistics shows that births in Elmbridge steadily 
increased from 2000/01, peaking at 1883 during the 2010/11 academic year. In this period, 
the birth rate rose by 27%. Demand had remained steady from 2010, however 2014 saw a 
drop in the number of births to below 1800 for the first time since 2008/09. There is some 
caution as to whether this is the start of a decreasing trend in the borough.     
 

PRIMARY 
The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. An increase in the 
pupil population in Elmbridge has led to rising demand for school places and a continuously 
increasing number of children starting primary and secondary schools in Elmbridge in the 
foreseeable future. It should be noted that this increase is unlikely to be evenly spread 

Page 45

8



 

16 
 

across the borough. Therefore some of the areas in Elmbridge will experience more 
pressure for school places than others.   
 

The graph shows the number of pupils who started school in Elmbridge in the academic 
years 2010 - 2014. It then estimates the number of pupils that will require a Reception place 
in a primary school in Elmbridge between 2015 and 2021.  
 

 
 

On the basis of the known increase in birth rate, and projected housing completions, the 
rising number of children entering primary schools in Elmbridge is set to continue but with 
demand being sustained at a lower level than the peak cohort of 2015.  
 

Looking at the severity of demand in recent years, the birth rates alone do not entirely reflect 
the rate of increase in applications received in 2012 - 2015. It is likely that these increases 
are also partly due to inward migration and pupils yielded from additional housing in the 
borough. The volume of housing development agreed in the borough in forthcoming years 
could therefore have a significant impact on the level of demand for school places.   
 

What have we done? 
In the last two years, the following projects have been commissioned to meet demand with 
some of the temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or 
permanent expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Manby Lodge Infant School 2013 Bulge class 60 90 

Hurst Park Primary School 2013 Bulge class 30 60 

Hinchley Wood Primary School 2013  Bulge class 60 90 

Claygate Primary School 2013 Bulge class 60 90 

St James CE Primary School (Yr 3) 2013 Bulge class 60 30 

Thames Ditton Junior School 2013 Bulge class 90 120 

Oatlands Infant School 2014 Bulge class 90 120 

Long Ditton St Mary's Junior School 2014 Permanent 45 60 

Long Ditton Infant School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

Hurst Park Primary School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

Burhill Primary School 2014 Bulge class 90 120 

Grovelands Primary School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

Hinchley Wood Primary School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

St Andrews CE Primary School (Yr3) 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

Hurst Park Primary School 2015 Permanent 30 60 

St Alban's Catholic Primary School 2015 Permanent 30 60 

Ashley CE Primary School 2015 Bulge class 60 90 

Bell Farm Primary School 2015 Bulge class 90 120 

Cleves Junior School 2015 Bulge class 150 180 

Hinchley Wood Primary School 2015 Bulge class 60 90 

1350

1400

1450

1500

1550

1600

1650

1700

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Elmbridge, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 46

8



 

17 
 

St Andrews CE Primary School 2015 Bulge class 52 90 

St Andrews CE Primary School  (Yr 3) 2015 Bulge class 60 90 

Thames Ditton Infant School 2015 Bulge class 90 120 

Thames Ditton Junior School 2015 Bulge class 90 120 

Walton Oak Primary School 2015 Bulge class 60 90 

Manby Lodge Infant School 2015 Permanent 60 90 
 

What are we doing? 
There were 1,791 on time primary applications for a Reception place in Elmbridge schools 
for September 2015 and this demand is likely to remain for September 2016. Following 
meetings with Head Teachers and Chairs of Governors the following projects have been 
commissioned to meet the rising demand for primary school places:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New PAN 

Cranmere Primary School 2016 Permanent 60 90 

Hinchley Wood Primary School 2016 Permanent 60 90 

Ashley Primary 2016 Permanent 60 90 

Cleves Junior School 2017 Permanent 150 180 
 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
We measure the accuracy of our forecasts by comparing the number of Reception pupils 
that were on roll in Reception at Elmbridge primary schools in the October school census 
with the number that was forecast in the previous year.  
 

In previous years the demand in Elmbridge had been underestimated. However pupil 
movement into the borough and application trends from recent years are now taken into 
account in the forecasting methodology. It remains difficult to predict exceptional demand 
that is generated by unquantifiable factors like inward migration. The forecasts are based on 
historic trends so where a school organisation change has occurred in an area, such as a 
school being expanded or a temporary 'bulge' class provided, new trends must be 
considered. 
 
For 2014 it was forecast that there would be 1,535 pupils on roll at Elmbridge schools in 
Reception year. However the school census in October 2014 showed that there were 
actually 1,572 pupils on roll, giving an under-estimation in the forecasts of 2%. Despite this, 
an adequate number of school places were provided by the commissioning of bulge classes 
and permanent expansions to ensure that all Surrey children who applied for a school place 
were offered one. 
 

SECONDARY 
The need for secondary school places is based on the local population of secondary age 
children. The forecasts incorporate the numbers of children in local primary schools and 
factor in the historic patterns of pupils taking up secondary places, plus those joining 
Elmbridge secondary schools from outside the local area. Typically in Elmbridge, a small 
number of students from neighbouring local authorities joined the children from the local 
primary schools at the start of secondary education, and whilst remaining small, this number 
has increased in recent years.  
 
The following graph estimates the number of pupils that will require a secondary school 
place in Elmbridge from 2015 – 2021.  

Page 47

8



 

18 
 

 
 
This is based on the current primary cohorts, the historic trends of pupils moving from 
primary to secondary education and is combined with projected housing completions. The 
number of young people entering secondary education is expected to reflect the sharp 
increase seen in the corresponding primary cohorts over the last decade. 
 

What have we done? 
Year 7 numbers are now on an upward trend and are predicted to continue to increase for a 
further seven years.  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or 
permanent expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Esher C of E High School 2015 Permanent 210 240 

 

Currently there is only just sufficient capacity in Year 7 in Elmbridge and the council is 
monitoring the situation closely in order to ensure that a sufficient number of secondary 
places are provided to meet the demand up to the end of the forecast period. To date the 
following projects have been commissioned to meet demand:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or 
permanent expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Rydens Enterprise School by 2019 Permanent 210 300 

 
Furthermore, a need has been identified for up to an additional 6FE in secondary places to 
be provided in Elmbridge, to cater for the increase cohorts moving through the primary 
sector.  Alongside potential free school providers, the County Council is working with local 
secondary schools to agree a clear strategy as to how additional places can be provided, 
which will be shared with stakeholders and residents in due course.  
 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of Year 7 pupils that were on roll at Elmbridge secondary schools in 
the October school census, with the number that was forecast in the previous year. In 
September 2014, the number of Year 7 starting secondary education in Elmbridge schools 
was under-estimated in the forecasts by 5%. However, additional places were offered in 
existing schools so that all Surrey children who applied for a school place were offered one.   
 
 
 
 
 

750

850

950

1050

1150

1250

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7 
places in Elmbridge, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 48

8



 

19 
 

Epsom & Ewell 
 

Schools in Epsom & Ewell 
There are 19 primary phase schools in Epsom & Ewell, six of 
which have nursery provision. There are four secondary 
schools, all with post-16 provision. North East Surrey College 
of Technology (NESCOT) also provides sixth form provision 
to the surrounding area. There is a secondary short-stay 
Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) in the borough.  
 
Three primary and secondary schools host specialist centres 
that support students with special educational needs within a 
mainstream environment. There is also a Special School 
providing education for pupils with complex social 
communication needs.   
 
Epsom & Ewell is made up of four primary planning areas as 
identified on the map. Each primary phase school is allocated 
to one of these planning areas. Epsom & Ewell forms a 
single secondary planning area. This means that demand for 
secondary places is estimated across the borough.  

 

Births in Epsom & Ewell 
The graph below shows the number of births in Epsom & Ewell each academic year. 
 

 
 

Data provided by the Office for National Statistics shows that births in Epsom & Ewell 
reached a low point in 2000/01 before then fluctuating and increasing steadily to 2007/08. 
There was a small dip in 2008/09 followed by a sharp and steady increase to a peak of 945 
in the academic year of 2011/12. Since that time births in the borough have reached a 
plateau.  

 

PRIMARY 

The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. An increase in the 
pupil population in Epsom & Ewell has led to an increase in demand for school places. This 
demand will peak in 2016/17, in correlation with the peak in the birth rate five years 
previously, and remain steady at this level mirroring the plateau in births. It should be noted 
that this demand is unlikely to be evenly spread across the borough and therefore some 
areas will experience more pressure for school places than others.  

Page 49

8



 

20 
 

The graph below shows the number of pupils starting school in Epsom & Ewell in each of the 
academic years 2010 - 2014, and then estimates the number of pupils that will require a 
Reception place in a primary school in Epsom & Ewell between 2015 and 2021.  
 

 
 

On the basis of the known birth rate and projected housing completions the number of 
children entering primary is set to plateau, but at a higher level than perhaps previously 
thought. As demographic demand plateaus the volume of housing development agreed in 
the borough in forthcoming years, and its subsequent yield of additional children, could 
therefore have a significant impact on the level of demand for school places. 
 

What have we done? 

The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand, with some of the 
temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Epsom Primary School 2013  Bulge class 60 90 

Ewell Grove Infant School 2013 Bulge class 70 90 

West Ewell Infant School 2013 Permanent  90 120 

Epsom Primary School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

St Martin's CE Infant School 2014 Permanent 60 90 

St Martin's CE Junior School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

The Vale Primary School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

Danetree Junior School 2015 Bulge class 128 150 

Epsom Primary School 2015 Bulge class 60 90 

Stamford Green Primary School 2015 Permanent 60 90 
 

What are we doing? 
There were 1004 on time primary applications for a Reception place in Epsom & Ewell in 
2015 and this demand is likely to increase in September 2016. Following meetings with 
Head Teachers and Chairs of Governors the following projects have been commissioned to 
meet the demand for primary school places:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or 
permanent expansion 

Previous PAN New PAN 

Ewell Grove Infant School 2017 Expansion to primary  70  
(3 year groups) 

60  
(7 year groups) 

West Ewell Infant School 2017 Expansion to primary  120  
(3 year groups) 

60  
(7 year groups) 

Danetree Junior School 2017 Expansion to primary 128  
(4 year groups) 

120  
(7 year groups) 

St Martin's CE Junior School 2017 Permanent 60  90 

800

850

900

950

1000

1050
N

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
st

u
d

e
n

ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Epsom & Ewell, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 50

8



 

21 
 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
In Epsom & Ewell there were 50 more children on roll in Reception classes in the October 
2014 census than forecast in the previous year. This was an under estimate of 5%. Despite 
this, all Surrey children who applied for a school place were offered one.  
 
The forecasts are based on historic trends, so where a school organisation change has 
occurred in an area, such as a school being expanded or a temporary 'bulge' class provided, 
these trends can be affected, thus reducing their accuracy. The organisational changes 
planned for 2015-2017 are also likely to affect forecasts in Ewell so this area will be 
monitored closely.  
 
Where historic patterns of demand for school places fluctuate, as they have done in Epsom 
& Ewell, this can increase the likelihood of under or over-estimation in forecasts. Forecasts 
are always tempered using local knowledge to enable places to be commissioned when 
demand exceeds supply. This has increased the number of temporary classes in 
comparison to permanent expansions. 

 

SECONDARY  
The need for secondary school places is based on the local population of secondary age 
children. The forecasts incorporate the numbers of children in local primary schools and 
factor in the historic patterns of children joining secondary schools from outside the local 
area. Epsom & Ewell is a net importer of secondary age pupils, because more pupils attend 
secondary schools in the borough than there are on roll at the borough's primary schools.  
The graph below estimates the number of pupils who will require a secondary school place 
in Epsom & Ewell from 2015-2021. 

 

 
 

According to the numbers on roll the number of pupils entering Year 7 declined to a low point 
in 2012/13. 2014/15 saw the beginning of what is expected to be an overall rising trend for 
the forthcoming decade as the larger cohorts from primary schools transfer into the 
secondary sector.  

 

What have we done and what are we doing? 
Additional provision will be needed from 2018, with potentially 2 forms of entry required by 
2022. Discussions have taken place with local schools to determine the most appropriate 
way to provide these required places and it is likely that Epsom and Ewell High School will 
expand to meet the demand.  
  
 

800

900

1000

1100

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7 
places in Epsom & Ewell, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 51

8



 

22 
 

 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It was forecast that there would be 844 pupils requiring a Year 7 place in the borough in 
September 2014. The October 2014 census shows that there were 837 students on roll at 
Epsom & Ewell schools. This indicates an over-estimation of 1%. The fraction of Year 6 
pupils that transferred to secondary schools in September 2014 was slightly lower than the 
previous years, which will impact on the forecasts going forward and so will continue to be 
monitored. 
  

Page 52

8



 

23 
 

Guildford 
 

Schools in Guildford 
There are 38 primary phase schools in the Borough of Guildford, four of which have nursery 
provision. There are seven secondary schools, six with post-16 provision. Guildford College 
also provides sixth form provision to the local and surrounding area. There are three short-
stay Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) situated in Guildford.   
 

A number of primary and secondary schools host specialist centres that support students 
with a range of special educational needs within a mainstream environment. There are three 
special schools - one catering for children with severe learning and development difficulties, 
one for pupils with learning and additional needs and the last for students with social, 
emotional and mental health needs.  
 

Guildford is made up of 10 individual 
primary planning areas as identified in the 
map on the right. Each primary phase 
school is allocated to one of these 
planning areas.  
 

Guildford Borough covers a large 
geographic area and so is split into two 
secondary planning areas shown on the 
map below.  Secondary planning areas 
are used to forecast secondary pupil 
numbers.  

Planning areas are 'border-blind' so do not take into 
account the borough border, but are formed by the 
location of the schools. There are three Guildford 
schools which are considered in school place 
planning areas outside of their home borough: St 
Mary's CE Primary Shackleford is considered in the 
Godalming planning area (Waverley); Pirbright 
Primary School is considered in the Knaphill 
planning area (Woking) and Ash Manor Secondary 
School is considered in the Farnham and Ash 

secondary planning area (Waverley). In return, there are two schools located outside of the 
borough which are considered in Guildford school place planning areas: Bramley CE Infant 
School and Wonersh and Shamley Green Primary School (both Waverley schools) are 
considered in the Tillingbourne Valley planning area.  

 

Births in Guildford 
The graph below shows the number of births in Guildford each academic year: 

 

Page 53

8



 

24 
 

Data provided by the Office for National Statistics shows that births in Guildford have 
fluctuated for some years. Births in the borough reached a low point in 2001/02, and then 
fluctuated in the 1,400s for a number of years, before spiking in 2007/08. This fluctuating 
trend continued with a dip in 2009 followed by a peak of 1,674 in 2011/12. Since then, births 
have reached a plateau in the mid 1,500s.  
 

PRIMARY 
The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. The increase in 
pupil population in Guildford, as described above, leads to an increase in demand for school 
places. It should be noted that this increase is unlikely to be evenly spread across the 
borough. Therefore some of the areas in Guildford will experience more pressure on school 
places than others.   
 

The number of school places across Guildford as a whole is currently very tight. The spare 
places that exist tend to be concentrated in schools in some of the rural areas, with a 
shortage of primary places in the Guildford Town area. Pressure on places will be increased 
by new housing, either through planning applications or through determination of the 
Guildford Local Plan which is yet to be adopted by the Borough Council. 
 

The graph below shows the number of pupils starting school in Guildford in each of the 
academic years 2010 - 2014, and then estimates the number of pupils that will require a 
reception place in a primary school in Guildford between 2015 and 2021.  
 

 
 

On the basis of the known increase in birth rate and projected housing completions, the 
number of children entering primary is set to fluctuate over forthcoming years, with spikes of 
demand being seen in 2016 and 2018, before dropping to a plateau around the 1,550s by 
2020.  
 

What have we done? 
The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand since 2013, with some of 
the temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous PAN New PAN 

Burpham Foundation Primary School 2013 Permanent 30 60 

Onslow Infant School 2013 Bulge class 60 90 

Queen Eleanor's CE Junior School 2013 Bulge class 60 90 

St Joseph's RC Primary School 2013 Permanent 60 90 

Stoughton Infant School 2013  Bulge class 60 90 

Tillingbourne Junior School 2013 Bulge class 90 120 

Stoughton Infant School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

Wonersh & Shamley Green Primary 2013 Expansion to 
primary 

30  
(3 year groups) 

30  
(7 year groups) 

1350

1400

1450

1500

1550

1600

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Guildford, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 54

8



 

25 
 

Onslow Infant School 2014 Permanent 60 90 

Queen Eleanor's CE Junior School 2014 Permanent 60 90 

Stoughton Infant School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

Merrow CE Infant School 2015 Bulge class 60 90 

Northmead Junior School 2015 Bulge class 90 120 

Queen Eleanor’s CE Junior School 2015 Bulge class 90 120 

Stoughton Infant School 2015 Permanent 60 90 
 

What are we doing? 
There were 1,517 on time primary applications for a reception place in Guildford in 2015, 
and this demand is likely to increase in some areas. Following meetings with Head Teachers 
and Chairs of Governors the following project has been commissioned to meet the demand 
for primary school places:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous PAN New PAN 

Worplesdon Primary School  
(junior intake) 

2016 Permanent 60 90 

 

Additional housing created by the Guildford Local Plan will increase the requirement for 
primary places. The number of extra forms of entry due to new housing will depend upon the 
developments that are agreed. School commissioning officers are exploring options for 
expansion or new provision in the area,  which involves co-ordination with local schools as 
well as local planning officers and housing developers. 
 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. In 2014 it was 
forecast that 1,434 children would require a reception place, in comparison to the 1,451 
pupils who were then on roll at Guildford schools in the October 2014 census. This indicates 
an under-estimation of 1%, and the provision of bulge classes ensured that all Surrey 
children who applied for a school place were offered one.  
 

SECONDARY 
The need for secondary school places is also based on the local population of secondary 
age children. The forecasts incorporate the numbers of children in local primary schools and 
factor in the historic patterns of children joining secondary schools from outside the local 
area. Typically in Guildford, a number of children from outside the local area join the children 
from the local primary schools at the start of secondary education.  
 

The graph below indicates the forecasted number of pupils that will require a Year 7 place in 
a secondary school in Guildford between 2015 and 2022. This is based on historic trends of 
children moving from primary to secondary education and is combined with projected 
housing completions.  

 

1200

1300

1400

1500

1600

1700

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7 
places in Guildford, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 55

8



 

26 
 

The number of children entering secondary education is set to continue increasing over the 
next 10 years. However, it is likely to see a period of fluctuation, reflecting the trend of 
increase that has been seen in the primary sector over the last 10 years.  
 
Ash is located in Guildford borough but for the purposes of school place planning is 
considered with Farnham town due to its close proximity. A significant number of 
applications for schools in Ash also come from pupils who are resident in Hampshire. This 
trend pattern is accounted for in the forecast. There are a number of housing developments 
that are proposed or have already received permission in the Ash area.  Although there is 
currently some capacity in secondary phase, demand is reviewed regularly to determine if 
additional places are required,  
 
The increase in places shown in the graph stems from the Effingham and Guildford Town 
planning areas. This increase is driven by a combination of birth rates, inward migration and 
housing developments that have been granted planning permission.   

 

What have we done? 
In the past there have been an adequate number of places within the borough to 
accommodate all students, so there has been no action required to provide additional 
places. However, the increase in primary cohorts will now begin to impact on the secondary 
sector and will continue to do so in forthcoming years.  
 

What are we doing? 
Following discussions with Head Teachers and Chair of Governors, the following projects 
have been commissioned to meet the demand for secondary school places: 
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Up to an additional 3FE in Guildford Town 2017  Permanent  +80 

 

In addition, the Government has approved a new university technical college (UTC) in 
Guildford, specialising in computer science and engineering. Opening in September 2017, 
this provision for 14-18 year olds will initially admit up to 60 students in to Year 10 and up to 
100 students in to Year 12. Although this may alleviate some of the school place pressure on 
Guildford Town, it is likely to draw students from a wider geographical area, with a small 
number transferring from each secondary school within a 10 to 15 mile radius.  
 
With further additional provision needing to be considered, discussions are taking place with 
local schools to determine the most appropriate way to provide these required places.  
 
Additional housing created by the Guildford Local Plan will increase the requirement for 
secondary places.  The number of extra forms of entry due to new housing will depend upon 
the developments that are agreed.  School Commissioning Officers are exploring options for 
expansion or new provision in the area, which involves co-ordination with local schools as 
well as local planning officers and housing developers. 

 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. It was forecast that 
1,434 pupils would require year 7 places in secondary schools in Guildford borough in 2014 
and there were subsequently 1,451 pupils on roll in October 2014, which is a difference of 
only approximately 1%. However, additional places were offered in existing schools so that 
all Surrey children who applied for a school place were offered one.   

  

Page 56

8



 

27 
 

Mole Valley 
 

Schools in Mole Valley 
There are 24 primary age schools in Mole Valley, two of which have nursery provision. There 
are four secondary schools, all with post-16 provision. Sixth form provision to the local and 
surrounding area is mainly provided by East Surrey and Reigate colleges in the adjacent 
borough. There are no short-stay Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) in the district, but there are 
three Special schools - one catering for children with severe learning and development 

difficulties, one for pupils with learning and additional needs and 
the last for students with social, emotional and 
mental health needs. 
 
Mole Valley is made up of 6 individual primary 
planning areas as identified in the map to the 
left. Each primary age school is allocated to 
one of these planning areas.  
 
 

Given its geographical nature, Mole Valley is 
split into two secondary planning areas shown 
in the map to the right. This means that the 
need for secondary places is estimated for the 
north of the district (Leatherhead) as well as in 
the centre/south (Dorking) rather than across 

the district as a whole. 

 
Births in Mole Valley 
The graph below shows the number of births in Mole Valley each academic year. 
 

 
 

Data provided by the Office for National Statistics shows that births in Mole Valley reached a 
low point in 2001/02. Until 2005/06, the birth rate fluctuated at around 800, before increasing 
sharply to a peak in 2009/10. Since then, the district has seen a small decline in births each 
year, reaching 809 in the 2013/14 academic year.   
 
 

PRIMARY 
The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. Any increases in 
pupil population in Mole Valley will lead to an increase in demand for school places. 
 

Page 57

8



 

28 
 

The graph below shows the number of pupils starting school in Mole Valley in each of the 
academic years 2010 - 2014, and then estimates the number of pupils that will require a 
reception place in a primary school in Mole Valley between 2015 and 2021. 
 

 
 

The forecasts indicate there will be sufficient places in Mole Valley for the foreseeable future. 
However, this masks considerable variation across the district as demand is not uniform and 
largely reflects the differing urban and rural nature of the district. To the south, there is 
considerable spare capacity and this is forecast to continue. On the other hand, to the north 
of the district in the Ashtead and Leatherhead planning areas, pressure in places is much 
greater and there has been the need for additional places to be provided.  
    
We are conscious that the district council is undertaking a review that could impact on future 
housing across the area that would inevitably lead to an increase in future demand on school 
places. We will continue to work with the district council to identify how future demand would 
be met through increases in provision. In addition, neighbouring authorities may come 
forward with plans that will impact upon provision in this area and we continue to monitor this 
position closely.   
 

What have we done? 
The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand, with some of the 
temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

St Peter's Catholic Primary School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

The Greville Primary School (Reception) 2014 Bulge class 30   60  

St Peter's Catholic Primary School 2015 Permanent 30 60 

The Greville Primary School (Reception) 2015 Permanent 30  60  

 

What are we doing? 
There were 917 on time primary applications for a reception place in Mole Valley in 2015. 
With additional provision needing to be considered from 2017/18, discussions are taking 
place with local schools to determine the appropriate pupil place strategy, moving forward. 

 
How accurate were our primary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. In 2014, it was 
forecast that there would be 846 children on roll at Mole Valley schools in Reception year. 
The school census from October 2014 showed that there were actually 892 children on roll, 

800

850

900

950

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Mole Valley, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 58

8



 

29 
 

giving an under estimation of 6%. This is mainly due to exceptional demand to the north of 
the district, and adequate provision in this area was provided through bulge classes to 
ensure that all Surrey children who applied for a school place were offered one.  

 

SECONDARY 
The need for secondary school places is also based on the local population of secondary 
age children. The forecasts incorporate the number of children in local primary schools and 
factor in the historic patterns of children taking up secondary places. There is a Catholic 
secondary school located in north Mole Valley, which tends to have a wider geographical 
intake of children, so forecasts also take into account children joining secondary schools 
from outside of the local area. However, overall there are usually fewer pupils starting 
secondary schools in Mole Valley than there are in the last year of primary schools in the 
district.  
 
The graph below estimates the number of pupils that will require a secondary school place in 
Mole Valley from 2015 - 2021.   
 

 
 

This includes information regarding planned housing completions and predicted housing 
trajectories in the district, which could yield additional children who require school places.  

 

What have we done and what are we doing? 
In the past there have been an adequate numbers of places within the borough to 
accommodate all students, so there has been no action to provide additional places. 
However, the increase in applications in the primary sector has now begun to impact on the 
secondary sector. 
 
As with primary, an overall surplus in secondary capacity masks the specific pressures that 
are felt within the more urban areas of Mole Valley. Secondary places are tight in the 
Dorking area and, after a dip in numbers, a shortage is projected. Although there is also 
pressure in the Leatherhead area, this is lower than it otherwise may be, as a number of 
residents in this area historically apply for secondary school places in the adjacent 
Effingham area of Guildford borough. Therefore, demand patterns and potential changes in 
that borough as their local plan comes forward will need to be monitored to ensure a 
sufficiency of school places.   
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Additional 2FE in Dorking Area 2018 Permanent N/A +60 

600

700

800

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7 
places in Mole Valley, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 59

8



 

30 
 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of year 7 pupils that were allocated a place in Mole Valley secondary 
schools in 2014 with the number that was forecast in previous year.  It was forecast that 663 
pupils would require year 7 places in September 2014 and there were 690 pupils on roll in 
October 2014. Therefore, there was an under-estimation of 4%. Despite this, there was 
adequate capacity in the secondary sector to ensure that all Surrey children who applied for 
a school place were offered one.   

  

Page 60

8



 

31 
 

Reigate & Banstead 
 

Schools in Reigate & Banstead 
There are 32 primary age schools in Reigate & Banstead, eight of which have nursery 
provision. There are six secondary schools, three with post-16 provision. The surrounding 
area is served by East Surrey College and Reigate College located in the Reigate and 
Redhill areas. There are three Special schools - one catering for children with severe 
learning and development difficulties, one for pupils with learning and additional needs and 

the last for students with social, emotional and mental health needs. 
There are three short stay Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) in the borough.  
 
Reigate & Banstead is made up of seven individual 
primary planning areas, as identified on the map on 
the left. Each primary age school is allocated to one of 
these planning areas.  
  
Reigate & Banstead is split into three secondary 
planning areas, which match the areas into which the 
Borough Council divides the borough. This means that 
demand for secondary places is estimated separately 
for the three areas shown to the right. 
 

 
 

Births in Reigate & Banstead 
The graph below shows the number of births in Reigate & Banstead each academic year. 
 

 
 

Figures provided by the Office for National Statistics show that the number of births in 
Reigate & Banstead has seen a sustained period of increase since a low point in 2001/02. 
After fluctuating to 2004/05, there was a sharp spike in births to a peak of 1,877 in 2010/11. 
In 2011/12 the birth rate reached a plateau, before dropping marginally to a further plateau 
in 2012/13 and 2013/14.  
 

PRIMARY 
The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. Consequently, the 
increase in pupil population in Reigate & Banstead described above leads to an increase in 
demand for school places. It should be noted that this increase is unlikely to be evenly 
spread across the borough, for example, the outlying areas of Banstead and Horley have not 
seen as sharp an increase as the town areas of Reigate and Redhill. Also, rising figures are 
not solely attributable to an increasing birth rate and additional demand is also being 

Page 61

8



 

32 
 

generated from inward migration and a higher pupil yield resulting from additional housing. 
Some areas of the borough where the birth rate has not increased so dramatically, such as 
Horley, are seeing pressure on places from additional housing developments and inward 
migration into these developments. These factors can be more difficult to track and evaluate.  
 

The graph below shows the number of pupils starting school in Reigate & Banstead in each 
of the academic years 2010 - 2014, and then estimates the number of pupils that will require 
a reception place in a primary school in Reigate & Banstead between 2015 and 2021. 
 

 
  

Reigate & Banstead is experiencing a significant increase in the demand for school places 
reflecting both acute rises in birth rate and increased house building and migration within the 
area.  However, some small areas of surplus are masked by the exceptional increases in the 
more central town areas.  The Banstead and Woodmansterne area is now forecast to have a 
small surplus of places in the immediate future, although increased demand for places from 
residents of Netherne-on-the-Hill may reduce this. The Tadworth, Walton-on-the-Hill and 
Preston area is similarly expected to have a reducing surplus of places to 2021.  
 

The central areas of Redhill, Merstham, Earlswood and Salfords are expected to experience 
the most pressure for places, with significant shortfalls of provision in the area. Given the 
urban nature of the area, and the close proximity of schools, increased demand in one 
planning area is likely to overflow easily into adjacent areas. The situation in the Horley area 
is dependent upon the rate of house building, which is monitored very closely.  
 

What have we done? 
The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand: 
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or 
permanent 
expansion 

Previous PAN New PAN 

Earlswood Infant School 2012 Permanent 90 120 

Meath Green Infant School 2013 Permanent 70 90 

Lime Tree Primary School 2013 New school opened N/A 60 

Reigate Priory Junior School 2013  Bulge class 150 180 

Lime Tree Primary School 2013  Bulge class 60 90 

Langshott Primary School 2014 Expansion to primary 60  
(3 year groups) 

60  
(7 year groups) 

Trinity Oaks Primary School 2014 New school opened N/A 30 

Warren Mead Junior School 2014 Permanent 70  80 

Dover's Green Infant School 2014 Bulge class 56 90 

Earlswood Junior School 2014 Permanent 90 120 

Lime Tree Primary School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

St John's Primary School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

Holmesdale Infant School 2014 Permanent 90 120 

1450
1500
1550
1600
1650
1700
1750
1800
1850

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Reigate & Banstead, forecast from 2015 

onwards

Page 62

8



 

33 
 

Wray Common Primary  2015 Bulge class 60 90 

Reigate Priory Junior School 2015 Bulge class 150 180 

Dover's Green Infant School 2015 Bulge class 56 90 

Horley Infant School 2015 Bulge class 90 120 

Merstham Primary School 2015 Bulge class 30 60 
 

What are we doing? 
There were 1,736 on time primary applications for a reception place in Reigate & Banstead 
in 2015, and this demand is likely to increase for 2016 and 2017. Following meetings with 
Head Teachers and Chairs of Governors the following projects have been commissioned to 
meet the rising demand for primary school places:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or 
permanent expansion 

Previous PAN New PAN 

St Joseph's RC Primary 2016 Permanent 60 90 

Dover's Green Infant School 2016 Permanent 60 90 

Reigate Parish Infant School 2016 Expansion to primary 60  
(3 year groups) 

60  
(7 year groups) 

 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. In previous years, the 
demand in Reigate & Banstead had been underestimated by around 4.5%. This under-
estimate was largely due to exceptional demand in the Redhill and Horley areas. The level of 
exceptional demand in these areas has continued and adequate provision in this area was 
provided through bulge classes to ensure that all Surrey children who applied for a school 
place were offered one. The forecasts are based on historic trends, so are being monitored 
very closely for this area to ensure they continue to take into account the exceptional level of 
demand which is being experienced.  
 

SECONDARY  
Estimations of the future need for secondary places are based on the local population of 
secondary aged children. The forecasts incorporate the numbers of children in local primary 
schools and factor in the historical patterns of children taking up secondary places. In recent 
years, the number of children transferring from primary provision in the borough to 
secondary provision has fallen, indicating that some pupils are moving out of the borough or 
are taking up places in the independent sector for secondary provision.  
 

The graph below estimates the number of pupils that will require a secondary school place in 
Reigate & Banstead from 2015 – 2021.  
 

 

 
 

1100
1200
1300
1400
1500
1600
1700
1800

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7 
places in Reigate & Banstead, forecast from 2015 

onwards

Page 63

8



 

34 
 

What have we done and what are we doing? 
In the past there have been an adequate numbers of places within the borough to 
accommodate all students, so there has been no action to provide additional places. 
However, the pressure on secondary places is expected to sharply increase to reflect the 
sharp increase in numbers already experienced in the primary sector.  
 
The County Council has been working with secondary schools in the borough to identify how 
additional places can be provided in Reigate & Banstead. It is likely that provision will be 
managed on a year on year basis until 2017. From 2017 and beyond, significant additional 
provision will be required and this will be met (in part) by a new free school in the borough. 
Expansion possibilities are also being discussed with existing secondary schools to assist in 
catering for this increased demand, and residents and stakeholders will be subject to a full 
consultation process with residents and stakeholders in due course.   
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or 
permanent expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New PAN 

St Bede's Secondary School 2015 Bulge class 270 300 

Additional 1FE in Banstead 
Area 

2018 Permanent N/A +30 

Additional 9FE in Reigate & 
Redhill Area 

2017/18 Permanent N/A +270 

Additional 2FE in Horley Area 2018 Permanent N/A +60 

 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. In 2014, the number 
of Year 7 pupils forecast to require a school place in the borough was 1,294, whereas the 
number on roll at Reigate & Banstead secondary schools in October 2014 was 1,272. This 
shows an over-estimation of 2%.  
 
 
  

Page 64

8



 

35 
 

Runnymede 
 

Schools in Runnymede 
 

There are 23 primary age schools in Runnymede, 
four of which have nursery provision. There are four 
secondary schools, two with post-16 provision. 
Strodes Sixth Form college is located in the north of 
the borough. Post-16 students in the south of the 
borough are served by Brooklands College at the 
Weybridge Campus in the neighbouring borough of 
Elmbridge.   
 

There are no short stay Pupil Referral Units in the 
borough, but there is one special school catering for 
pupils with learning and additional needs.  
 

Runnymede is made up of five individual primary 
planning areas as identified in the map. Each primary 
age school is allocated to one of these planning 
areas. Runnymede is a single secondary planning 

area. This means that demand for secondary places is estimated across the whole borough.  
 

Births in Runnymede 
The graph below shows the number of birth in Runnymede each academic year 
 

 
 

Figures provided by the Office for National Statistics show that births in Runnymede have 
fluctuated for some years. Births rose from a low point of 814 in 2001/02, and reached a 
peak of 1000 in 2011/12. In between this there was a steady increase, with fluctuation in 
some years. There was a sharp decline in 2012/13, but Runnymede was one of the few 
Surrey boroughs or districts that saw a rise in births in 2013/14.  
 

PRIMARY 

The following graph shows the number of pupils starting school in Runnymede in each of the 
academic years 2010 - 2014, and then estimates the number of pupils that will require a 
reception place in a primary school in Runnymede between 2015 and 2021.  
 

Page 65

8



 

36 
 

 
 

Demand is forecast to fluctuate in forthcoming years, in 2016/17 echoing the peak in the 
birth rate of five years previously. After this, the forecast demand appears to decrease 
slightly and then plateau, mirroring the trend established in births.  
 

What have we done?  
The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand, with some of the 
temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class  
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous PAN New PAN 

The Hythe Primary School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

St Ann's Heath Junior School 2014 Bulge class 64 90 

The Hythe Primary School 2015 Permanent  30 60 

St Ann's Heath Junior School 2015 Permanent  64 90 

Lyne and Longcross Infant 
School 

2015 Expansion to primary  30 
(3 year groups) 

30 
(7 year groups) 

 

What are we doing? 
There were 830 applications who expressed a first preference for a reception place in 
Runnymede in 2014 and demand is likely to increase to September 2016 as the borough 
reaches its peak.  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or 
permanent  expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Additional 1FE in Chertsey or Addlestone 
area 

TBC Permanent N/A +30 

 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of reception pupils that were allocated a place in Runnymede in 2014 
with the number that was forecast in the previous year.  
 
In 2014, it was forecast that there would be 861 children requiring a place in the Reception 
year. However, in the school census of October 2014, there were 827 children on roll at 
Runnymede primary schools, which shows an over-estimation of 4%.  

 

SECONDARY 
The need for secondary school places is also based on the local population of secondary 
age children. The forecasts incorporate the number of children in local primary schools and 
factor in the historic patterns of children taking up secondary places. There is a Catholic 
secondary school located in the borough, which tends to have a wider geographical intake of 

750

800

850

900

950

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Runnymede, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 66

8



 

37 
 

children from feeder schools in the Elmbridge deanery, so forecasts also take into account 
children joining secondary schools from outside of the local area.  
 
The following graph estimates the number of pupils that will require a secondary school 
place in Runnymede from 2015 – 2021.  
 

 
 

The number of secondary aged children is forecast to steadily increase in line with the 
increases already seen in the primary sector. It is anticipated that demand will first peak in 
2020/21 to reflect the 2013/14 spike in primary cohorts, before tailing off and spiking again in 
2023 to accommodate the 2016/17 peak from the primary sector.  
 

What have we done, and what are we doing? 
In the past there has been an adequate number of places within the borough to 
accommodate all students, so there has been no action to provide additional places. 
However, the increase in applications in the primary sector has now begun to impact on the 
secondary sector and will continue to do so in forthcoming years.  
 

Alongside potential free school providers, the county council has been working with 
secondary schools in the North West of Surrey to identify how additional places can be 
provided in Runnymede. The following projects have been commissioned, either by the 
council or by the Department for Education: 
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Runnymede Free School 2017 New free 
school 

N/A 180 

Salesian School* 2017 Permanent 
expansion 

230 TBC* 

 *ongoing feasibility work in progress to establish level of expansion achievable.  
 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of year 7 pupils that were on roll in Runnymede secondary schools in 
October 2014 with the number that was forecast in the previous year.  
 

It was forecast that 943 children would require a Year 7 place in Runnymede secondary 
schools. However, the October 2014 school census showed that there were 899 on roll in 
Year 7 at Runnymede secondary schools, showing an over estimation of 4%.  
  

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7 
places in Runnymede, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 67

8



 

38 
 

Spelthorne 
 

Schools in Spelthorne 
There are 22 primary phase schools in 
Spelthorne, seven of which have nursery 
provision. There are six secondary schools, 
two with post-16 provision. Brooklands 
College has a campus in Ashford that serves 
the local area.  
 

There is one special school cartering for 
pupils with severe learning and development 
difficulties. There are three short-stay Pupil 
Referral Units (PRUs) in the borough.   
 

Spelthorne is made up of five individual 
primary planning areas as identified in the 
map. Each primary phase school is allocated 
to one of these planning areas. Spelthorne is 
a single secondary planning area. This 
means that demand for secondary places is 
estimated across the whole Borough.  

Births in Spelthorne 
The graph below shows the number of births in Spelthorne each academic year. 
 

 
 

Data provided by the Office for National Statistics shows that births in Spelthorne have 
fluctuated for some years, reaching a low point in 2001.  Since that time births have 
increased year on year. In the calendar year of 2013 where births fell overall in Surrey, 
Spelthorne was one of the only boroughs to see a large increase in its birth numbers, 
peaking at 1327. However the number of births subsequently fell slightly in 2014. 
 

PRIMARY 
The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. The increase in 
pupil population in Spelthorne, as described above, has led to an increase in demand for 
school places in some areas. However, demand is not solely attributable to an increasing 
birth rate; inward migration from the London boroughs and additional yield from housing 
developments are also factors and so, some areas in Spelthorne have experienced more 
pressure for school places than others.  
 

The following graph shows the number of pupils starting school in Spelthorne in each of the 
academic years 2010 - 2014, and then estimates the number of pupils that will require a 
Reception place in a primary school in Spelthorne between 2015 and 2021.  

Page 68

8



 

39 
 

 
 

On the basis of the known increase in birth rate, and projected housing completions, the 
number of children entering primary schools is set to peak in 2016 and then reach a plateau.  
 

What have we done? 
The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand with some of the 
temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Saxon Primary School 2013 Bulge class 30 60 

Spelthorne Primary School 2013 Bulge class 60 90 

Town Farm Primary School 2013 Bulge class 60 90 

Stanwell Fields Primary School 2013 Bulge class 60 90 

Spelthorne Primary School 2014 Permanent  60 90 

Saxon Primary School 2014  Bulge class 30 60 

Springfield Primary School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

Ashford Park Primary School 2015 Permanent  60 90 

Saxon Primary School 2015 Bulge class 30 60 

Springfield Primary School 2015 Bulge class 30 60 
 

What are we doing? 
The future need for additional places will not be uniform across the borough. For example, it 
is anticipated that there will be small shortfalls in Sunbury and in the Staines and Laleham 
area, whilst the Shepperton area is forecast to have a few spare places over the immediate 
planning period. Following meetings in with Head Teachers and Chairs of Governors the 
following projects have been commissioned to meet the anticipated demand for primary 
school places:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or 
permanent expansion 

Previous PAN New PAN 

Springfield Primary School 2017 Permanent expansion   30 60 

Saxon Primary School 2017 Permanent expansion  30 60 

Hawkedale Infant School 2017 Expansion to primary 30 
(3 year groups) 

30 
(7 year groups) 

 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
The accuracy of forecasts is reviewed by comparing the number of reception pupils that 
were allocated a place in Spelthorne in 2014 with the number that was forecast in the 
previous year.  
 

The 2014 forecasts showed an increase in the demand profile for Spelthorne. In 2014 it was 
forecast that 1129 children would require a Reception place, whereas in the October 2014 
school census there were 1145 children on roll in Reception year in Spelthorne primary 

1050

1100

1150

1200

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Spelthorne, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 69

8



 

40 
 

schools. This is an under estimate of 1%, however adequate provision in this area was 
provided through bulge classes to ensure that all Surrey children who applied for a school 
place were offered one. 
  

SECONDARY 
The need for secondary school places is based on the local population of secondary age 
children. The forecasts incorporate the number of children in local primary schools and factor 
in the historic patterns of pupils taking up secondary places. There is a Catholic secondary 
school located in the borough which tends to have a wider geographical intake of children 
from out of the county so forecasts also take into account children joining secondary schools 
from outside of both the borough and county.  
 
The graph below estimates the number of pupils that will require a secondary school place in 
Spelthorne from 2015 – 2021. 
 

 
 

What have we done, and what are we doing? 
In the past there has been an adequate number of places within the borough to 
accommodate all students so there has been no action to provide additional places. 
However, the increase in applications in the primary sector has now begun to impact on the 
secondary sector and will continue to do so in future years.  
 

Additional provision will be needed from 2018, with potentially 2 forms of entry required by 
2022, and discussions are taking place with local schools to determine the most appropriate 
way to provide these required places.  
 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
This is measured by comparing the number of year 7 pupils that were allocated a place in 
Spelthorne secondary schools in 2014 with the number that was forecast in the previous 
year.  
 

In 2014, it was forecast that there would be 1049 children requiring a place in Year 7 in the 
borough. However, in the October 2014 school census, there were 1060 students on roll in 
Year 7 at Spelthorne secondary schools. This was an under estimation of only 1%. Despite 
this, there was adequate capacity in the secondary sector to ensure that all Surrey children 
who applied for a school place were offered one.   

  

900

1000

1100

1200

1300

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7 
places in Spelthorne, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 70

8



 

41 
 

Surrey Heath 
 

Schools in Surrey Heath 
There are 27 primary age schools in  Surrey Heath, five of which have nursery provision. 
There are four secondary schools, three of which have post-16 provision. There is no college 
provision in the borough.  

There are three special schools - one for pupils 
with social, emotional and mental health needs, 
one for children with severe learning and 
development difficulties and one for students 
with learning and additional needs. There are 
no short-stay Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) in the 
borough.   
 

Surrey Heath is made up of six individual 
primary planning areas as identified in the map 
to the left. Each primary age school is allocated 
to one of these planning areas.  

 
Surrey Heath is split into two secondary planning areas 
shown in the map to the right. Forecasts are made for 
Gordon's School in the east of the borough separately 
from the remaining secondary schools in the west of the 
borough in Camberley/Frimley.                                                                                                                                     
 

 
 

Births in Surrey Heath 
The graph below shows the number of births in Surrey Heath each academic year. 
 

 
 

Figures provided by the Office for National Statistics show that births in Surrey Heath 
reached a low point in 2001/02. Since then, births have fluctuated following a rise then fall 
trend, before peaking in 2007/08 - earlier than all other boroughs and districts in Surrey. 
From 2008 onwards, births have decreased, reaching a plateau from 2011 onwards at 
around or just below 950.  
 
 

Page 71

8



 

42 
 

PRIMARY 
The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. Any increase in 
pupil population in Surrey Heath, as described above, leads to an increase in demand for 
school places. It should be noted that this increase is unlikely to be evenly spread across the 
borough and some primary areas in Surrey Heath will experience more pressure for school 
places than others. 
 

The graph below shows the number of pupils starting school in Surrey Heath in each of the 
academic years 2010 - 2014, and then estimates the number of pupils that will require a 
reception place in a primary school in Surrey Heath between 2015 and 2021.  
 

 
 

On the basis of the known increase in birth rate and projected housing completions, the 
number of children entering primary is set to peak in 2015, before declining and reaching a 
plateau. From 2015 onwards, any increases in demand will be dependent on the volume of 
housing developments that is agreed by the borough council.    
 

What have we done?  
The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand, with some of the 
temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Connaught Junior School 2014 Bulge class 90 120 

Bisley CE Primary School 2015 Permanent  45 60 

Connaught Junior School 2015 Permanent  90 120 
 

What are we doing? 
Currently, Surrey Heath has a small surplus of primary places and has reached its peak of 
primary cohorts earlier than other boroughs or districts in Surrey. However, there is likely to 
be a shortage of places when and if large housing developments, such as in Deepcut, are 
completed. A new 2FE primary school (420 places) will be planned as part of the 
redevelopment of Princess Royal Barracks but the timing of its opening will depend on the 
pace with which the proposed housing comes forward. 
 
Historically there tends to be an overflow of school applications between Surrey Heath and 
its neighbouring Hampshire schools, and so developments in neighbouring authorities are 
monitored closely for any impact that these may have on the borough.   
 
Any school organisation changes that are planned in the borough are primarily to rectify 
historical imbalances between infant and junior provision, or to equalise a school's PAN into 

900

950

1000

1050

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Surrey Heath, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 72

8



 

43 
 

infant class size groups. The latter applies to South Camberley Primary School, where the 
PAN will be increased from 110 to 120 in September 2016.   
 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of reception pupils that were allocated a place in Surrey Heath in 
2014 with the number that was forecast in the previous year. In 2014 it was forecast that 
there would be 974 children requiring a Reception year place in September 2014. However, 
in the October 2014 school census, there were 988 reception children on roll at Surrey 
Heath primary schools. This was an under estimation of 1%, but there was adequate 
capacity in existing schools to ensure that all Surrey children who applied for a school place 
were offered one.  
 

SECONDARY 
The need for secondary school places is also based on the local population of secondary 
age children. The forecasts incorporate the number of children in local primary schools and 
factor in the historic patterns of children taking up secondary places. Over the last three 
years, only 87% of the cohorts from Surrey Heath primary schools have attended Surrey 
Heath secondary schools. This suggests that a number of pupils are either choosing 
independent provision or attending secondary schools out of the borough. It is worth noting 
that, although there is a Catholic primary school in the borough, children preferring a 
Catholic secondary education will attend Catholic secondary schools in either Woking or 
Waverley, as there is no Catholic secondary school in Surrey Heath.  
 

The graph below estimates the number of pupils that will require a secondary school place in 
Surrey Heath from 2015 – 2021. 
 

 
 

What have we done, and what are we doing? 
It is anticipated that there will be a shortage of places by the peak in secondary demand in 
2019, and discussions will need to take place with local secondary schools to determine the 
most appropriate way to provide these required places.  
 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of year 7 pupils that were allocated a place in Surrey Heath 
secondary schools in 2014 with the number that was forecast in the previous year.  
 
In 2014, the number on roll in Year 7 at Surrey Heath secondary schools was 773, 
compared to the number of 778 which has been forecast. This was an under estimation of 
less than 1%. 

700

800

900

1000

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7 
places in Surrey Heath, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 73

8



 

44 
 

Tandridge 

 

Schools in Tandridge 
There are 25 primary age schools in Tandridge, seven of 
which have nursery provision. There are three secondary 
schools in the district, two with post-16 provision and there is 
no college provision.  
 

There are three special schools in the district - two for pupils 
with communication and interaction needs, and the other for 
students with severe learningand development needs. There 
are no short-stay Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) in the district.  
 

Tandridge is made up of five individual primary planning areas 
as identified in the map to the left. Each primary age school is 
allocated to one of these planning areas.  
 

Tandridge is a single secondary planning area. This means 
that demand for secondary places is estimated across the 
whole district.  

 

Births in Tandridge 
The graph below shows the number of births in Tandridge each academic year. 
 
 

 
 

Data provided by the Office for National Statistics shows that births in Tandridge reached a 
low point in 2001/02. Since then, the borough has seen a small but steady increase in births, 
with spikes in 2007/08 and 2011/12 before plateauing once again.  
 

PRIMARY 
The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. Any increase in 
pupil population in Tandridge, as described above, leads to an increase in demand for 
school places. Whilst the rise in births is relatively modest compared to other boroughs and 
districts in Surrey, it is not spread evenly across the district and therefore some areas in 
Tandridge may experience more or less pressure for school places than others.  This is not 
solely attributable to an increasing birth rate as additional demand is also being generated 
from inward migration and additional housing.  
 

Page 74

8



 

45 
 

The graph below shows the number of pupils starting school in Tandridge in each of the 
academic years 2010 - 2014, and then estimates the number of pupils that will require a 
reception place in a primary school in Tandridge between 2015 and 2021. 
 

 
 
 

What have we done, and what are we doing? 
The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand, with some of the 
temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Hillcroft Primary School 2013 Bulge class 45 60 

St Francis Catholic Primary School 2013 Bulge class 36 60 

St Francis Catholic Primary School 2014 Bulge class 36 60 

Downs Way School 2015 Bulge class 45 60 

St Francis Catholic Primary School 2015 Permanent 36 60 

 

Whilst there are expected to be spare places in Tandridge as a whole, this disguises the 
pressure on places locally. There are small shortages for places in Oxted, Limpsfield and 
Godstone areas. This situation remains under constant review and provisional discussions 
are taking place with schools to determine the appropriate strategy moving forward. 
 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts have been and this is done by 
comparing the number of reception pupils that were allocated a place in Tandridge in 2014 
with the number that was forecast in the previous year.  
 
It was forecast that there would be 906 children requiring a Reception year place in 2014. 
Compared to the number of 897 who were on roll in the October 2014 school census, this is 
an over estimation of 1%.  

 

SECONDARY 
The need for secondary school places is based on the local population of secondary age 
children. The forecasts incorporate the numbers of children in local primary schools and 
factor in the historic patterns of children joining secondary schools from outside the local 
area. On average, historically around 90% of the district's Year 6 cohorts have transferred to 
secondary schools in the district. The remaining 10% of children choose to pursue 
independent secondary schooling, or apply to schools outside of the borough. However, 
overall, the district is a net importer of students from outside of the county. This means that 

800

850

900

950
N

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
st

u
d

e
n

ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Tandridge, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 75

8



 

46 
 

there are more children from outside of Surrey attending Tandridge secondary schools than 
there are Tandridge children attending out of county secondary schools. This is largely 
because the location of schools near to the county boundary means that catchment areas 
include parts of the neighbouring London Borough of Croydon.  
 
The graph below estimates the number of pupils who will require a secondary school place 
in Tandridge from 2015-2021. 
 

 
 

 

What have we done, and what are we doing? 
Secondary provision is located towards the northern half of the district. In the shorter term, 
whilst schools in the borough are oversubscribed, it should be noted that this includes 
significant subscription from adjoining authorities for whose applicants Surrey is not obliged 
to provide a place if applicants do not meet the admissions criteria. Therefore, overall it is 
expected that current provision will be sufficient to meet demand. Admissions in the recent 
past have exceeded the total Published Admissions Numbers (PAN) and numbers are 
expected to once again rise from a low in 2014, with a small shortage of places by 2018. 
 
With additional provision needing to be considered from 2018, discussions are taking place 
with local schools to determine the most appropriate way to provide these required places. In 
outline, the following provision is required: 
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Additional 1-2FE in Tandridge 2018 Permanent N/A +60 

 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of year 7 pupils that were allocated a place in Tandridge secondary 
schools in 2014 with the number that was forecast in the previous year.  
 
It was forecast that 699 Year 7 places would be required for September 2014. However, in 
October 2014, the school census showed that there were 683 Year 7 pupils on roll at 
Tandridge secondary schools. This meant that there was an over estimation of 2%.  

  

600

700

800

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7  
places in Tandridge, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 76

8



 

47 
 

Waverley 
 

Schools in Waverley 
There are 41 primary phase schools in the borough of Waverley, five of which have nursery 
provision. There are four secondary schools, one with post-16 provision. Farnham and 
Godalming Colleges provide sixth form college provision to the east and west of the 
borough.  

 
There are two special schools - one catering 
for students with severe learning and 
development difficulties and one for pupils 
with learning and additional needs. There are 
no short-stay Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) in 
the borough.  
 
Waverley is made up of seven individual 
primary planning areas as identified in the 
map to the left. Each primary phase school is 

allocated to one of these planning areas.  
 

Given the diverse geographical nature of the 
borough, Waverley is split into four separate 
secondary planning areas, as identified in the 
right hand map. This means that demand for 
secondary places is estimated in the north, east, 
south and west of the borough.  
 
Planning areas are 'border-blind' so do not take 
into account the borough border, but rather are 
formed by the location of the schools. There are 
two Waverley schools which are considered in 
school place planning areas outside of their home borough: Bramley CE Infant School and 
Wonersh and Shamley Green Primary School are considered in the Tillingbourne Valley 
planning area (Guildford). In return, there are two schools located outside of the borough 
which are considered in Waverley school place planning areas: St Mary's CE Primary 
Shackleford (Guildford) is considered in the Godalming planning area and Ash Manor 
Secondary School is considered in the Farnham and Ash secondary planning area.  
 

Births in Waverley 
The graph below shows the number of births in Waverley each academic year: 
 

 

Page 77

8



 

48 
 

 

Figures provided by the Office for National Statistics show that, from a low point in 2001/02, 
births in Waverley have fluctuated around 1,200-1,300 per annum for a number of years. 
There was a spike of 1,376 in 2006/07 and another of 1,356 in 2011/12.Since the spike of 
2011/12, births have steadily decreased and in 2012/13 dropped below 1,300 for the first 
time since 2004/05.  
 

PRIMARY 
The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. The current birth 
forecasts indicate that the birth rate across the borough is set to slow and then plateau over 
the next five years although this will vary across the area. The more rural nature of the 
borough does mean that birth rates and pupil populations fluctuate more significantly than in 
urban areas. This can be seen clearly in the recent cohorts of school starters in the graph 
below. It should be noted that demand is unlikely to be evenly spread across the borough. 
Therefore some of the areas in Waverley will experience more pressure on school places 
than others.  
 
Although the birth rate is due to steady, additional demand may be generated from inward 
migration and housing. In certain areas of the borough, the rate of growth will depend solely 
on the volume of new housing development, either through planning applications or through 
determination of the Waverley Local Plan, which is yet to be adopted by the borough council. 
 
The graph below indicates the forecast number of pupils that will require a reception place in 
a primary school in Waverley between 2015 and 2022:  
 

 
 

What have we done? 
The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand, with some of the 
temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous PAN New PAN 

Beacon Hill Primary School 2013 Bulge class 30 60 

Cranleigh CE Primary School 2013 Bulge class 30 60 

Potters Gate Primary School 2013 Permanent 30 60  

St Bartholomew's CE Primary School 2013 Bulge class 45 60 

St Mary’s CE Infant Shackleford 2013 Permanent 25 30 

Grayswood CE Primary School 2014 Expansion to 
primary 

30 
(3 year groups) 

30 
(7 year groups) 

Loseley Fields Primary School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

Milford Infant School 2014 Permanent  50 60 

1200

1250

1300

1350

1400

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Waverley, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 78

8



 

49 
 

St Bartholomew's CE Primary School 2014 Permanent  45 60 

Witley Infant School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

William Cobbett Junior School 2014 Bulge class 90 120 

Farncombe Infant School 2015 Permanent  40 50 

Loseley Fields Primary School 2015 Bulge class 30 60 

Shottermilll Infant School 2015 Bulge class 60 90 
 

In addition, South Farnham Primary Academy expanded in 2015, creating a further 30 
permanent places. 
 

What are we doing? 
There were 1,320 on time primary applications for a reception place in Waverley in 2015. 
The forecasts show that the pattern of peaks and troughs of demand is likely to continue 
before reaching a steady state from 2019 onwards. Following meetings with Head Teachers 
and Chairs of Governors the following projects have been commissioned to both meet the 
demand for primary school places and provide more local choice for educational provision: 
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or permanent 
expansion 

Previous PAN New PAN 

The Chandler CE Junior 2017 Bulge class 90 120 
 

There is considerable overlap between some areas of Waverley and across the border in 
Hampshire and West Sussex. It is important when responding to patterns of demand that we 
give regard to the potential impacts on these adjacent planning areas and vice versa. 
 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of reception pupils that were allocated a place in Waverley with the 
number that was forecast in the previous year. In 2014 it was forecast that 1,296 children 
would require a reception place, in comparison to the 1,387 pupils who were then on roll at 
Waverley schools in the October 2014 census. This indicates an under-estimation of 7%. By 
using existing primary school capacity and commissioning bulge classes in areas of 
exceptional demand, Surrey County Council was able to offer a school place to all Surrey 
children who applied for one. 
 
Where historic patterns of demand for school places tend to fluctuate, as they do in 
Waverley, this can increase the likelihood of under or over-estimation in forecasts. Forecasts 
are always tempered using local knowledge to enable places to be commissioned when 
demand exceeds supply. This has increased the number of bulge classes in comparison to 
permanent expansions. 
 

SECONDARY 
The need for secondary school places is also based on the local population of secondary 
age children. The forecasts incorporate the numbers of children in local primary schools and 
factor in the historic patterns of children joining secondary schools from outside the local 
area. Typically in Waverley, a large number of children from outside the local area join the 
children from the local primary schools at the start of secondary education. Waverley is a net 
importer of secondary age pupils.  
 
The graph below indicates the forecast number of pupils that will require a Year 7 place in a 
secondary school in Waverley between 2015 and 2022. This is based on historic trends of 
children moving from primary to secondary education and is combined with projected 
housing completions. The number of children entering secondary education is set to 
continue to increase over the next 3 years, reflecting the increase that has been seen in the 
primary sector in some parts of the borough. Beyond 2020, the fluctuation seen in the 
primary sector will then be seen in the secondary sector. 
 

Page 79

8



 

50 
 

 
 
In the past there has been adequate numbers of places within the borough to accommodate 
all students. However, in Farnham there is increasing pressure on secondary places 
reflecting rises in birth rate, increased house building and inward migration in the area.   

 

What are we doing? 
There were 1,349 on time secondary applications for a Year 7 place in Waverley in 2015. In 
the past, although Year 7 numbers were expected to fluctuate year on year, they have 
stayed within the planned number of places. Whilst secondary demand is expected to stay 
within planned numbers of places for the borough as a whole, demand is not uniform and 
this masks some areas of increased demand where there is a significant pressure on places.  
 
The following projects have been commissioned to meet the demand for secondary school 
places:  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class 
or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

Weydon Academy 2016 Permanent 252 308 

Weydon Academy 2016 Bulge class 308 336 

Farnham Heath End 2016 Bulge class 190 220 

Additional 1FE in Farnham area 2018 Permanent N/A +30 

 
Additional housing created by the Waverley Local Plan will increase the requirement for 
school places across the borough. The number of extra forms of entry required due to new 
housing will depend upon the housing developments that are agreed. School commissioning 
officers are exploring options that may be required to meet any increase in demand. This 
involves co-ordination with local schools as well as local planning officers and housing 
developers. 
 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of Year 7 pupils that were allocated a place in Waverley with the 
number that was forecast in the previous year. In 2014 it was forecast that 1,165 children 
would require a Year 7 place, in comparison to the 1,160 pupils who were then on roll in 
Year 7 at Waverley schools in the October 2014 census. This is a margin of less than 1%.  
 

  

1100

1200

1300

1400

1500

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring Year 7 
places in Waverley, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 80

8



 

51 
 

Woking 
 

Schools in Woking 
There are 25 primary age schools located in the borough of Woking, eight of which have 
nursery provision. There are four secondary schools, one with post-16 provision. Woking 
College also provides sixth form provision to the local and surrounding area. 
 

A number of primary and secondary schools host specialist centres that support students 
with a range of special educational needs within a mainstream environment. In addition, 
there are two Special Schools - one providing education for children and young people with 
complex social communication needs and the other for pupils with learning and additional 
needs.  There are also two short-stay Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) in the borough.  
 

Woking is made up of five individual 
primary planning areas as shown in the 
map to the left. Each primary age school 
is allocated to one of these planning 
areas. Woking is a single secondary 
planning area so demand for secondary 
places is estimated across the whole 
Borough.  
 

Planning areas are 'border-blind' so do not 
take into account the borough boundary, 
but are formed by the location of the 
schools. There is one school located 
outside of the borough which is 

considered in a Woking school place planning area: Pirbright Primary School (Guildford) is in 
the Knaphill planning area.  
 

The current school place situation in Woking 
The graph below shows the number of births in Woking each academic year. 
 

 
 

Figures provided by the Office for National Statistics show that births in Woking have risen 
steadily year on year from a low point in 2001. There was a sharp rise in births in the 
borough from 2008/09 which peaked at 1504 in 2011/12, before declining in 2012/13. 
However, births in 2013/14 are still over 20% above those in 1999/00. 

 
 
 

Page 81

8



 

52 
 

PRIMARY 
The need for primary school places depends on the local child population. The increase in 
pupil population in Woking, as described above, leads to an increase in demand for school 
places. It should be noted that this increase is unlikely to be evenly spread across the 
borough and is not solely attributable to an increasing birth rate. Additional demand is also 
generated from inward migration and a higher pupil yield resulting from additional housing. 
These factors have specific impacts in different areas and as such some areas in Woking 
will experience more pressure for school places than others. 
 
The graph below estimates the number of pupils that will require a reception place in a 
primary school in Woking between 2015 and 2021.  

 

 
 

On the basis of the known increase in birth rate and projected housing completions, the 
number of children entering primary is set to peak in 2016, before a small but steady decline 
back to the level of demand seen in 2013/14. The birth rates in 2007/8 and in subsequent 
years do not entirely reflect the rate of increase to 2016, so it is likely that the recent 
increases in admissions applications are partly due to inward migration and pupils yielded 
from additional housing. 
 

What have we done? 
In the last two years, the following projects have been commissioned to meet demand, with 
some of the temporary (bulge) classes leading to permanent expansions:  
 
Name of School Year Bulge class or 

permanent expansion 
Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

St Dunstan’s Catholic Primary School 2013 Permanent 60 90 

The Marist Catholic Primary School 2013 Permanent 45 60 

Sythwood Primary School* 2013 Bulge class 60 90 

Goldsworth Primary School 2014 Permanent 60 90 

Beaufort Primary School 2014 Permanent 60 90 

Sythwood Primary School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

Pyrford C of E Primary School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

New Monument Primary School 2014 Bulge class 30 60 

Westfield Primary School 2014 Bulge class 60 90 

West Byfleet Infant School 2015 Permanent 60 90 

Sythwood Primary School 2015 Permanent 60 90 

Westfield Primary School 2015 Bulge class 60 90 

Beaufort Primary School 2015 Bulge class 60 90 

Broadmere Primary School 2015 Bulge class 30 60 
 

* Sythwood also opened a further bulge class in 2013 across year groups (Years 1 and 2).  

1050

1100

1150

1200

1250

1300

1350

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring reception 
places in Woking, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 82

8



 

53 
 

What are we doing? 
There were 1434 first preference applications made for a reception place in Woking for 
September 2015. It is anticipated that demand is likely to reach a peak next year in 
September 2016. Following meetings in with Head Teachers and Chairs of Governors the 
following projects have been commissioned to meet the rising demand for primary school 
places:  
 
Name of School Year Bulge class or permanent 

expansion 
Previous 
PAN 

New PAN 

West Byfleet Junior School 2017 Permanent 60 90 

 

How accurate were our primary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of reception pupils that were allocated a place in Woking in 2015 with 
the number that was forecast in the previous year. In 2014 it was forecast that 1184 children 
would require a reception place, in comparison to the 1280 pupils who were then on roll at 
Woking schools in the October 2014 census. This indicates an under estimation of 
approximately 8%. However, it is likely that this increase may be as the result of inward 
migration between the allocation of places in April and the census date in October. By using 
existing primary school capacity and commissioning bulge classes in areas of exceptional 
demand, Surrey County Council was able to offer a school place to all Surrey children who 
applied for one. 
 

SECONDARY  
The need for secondary school places is also based on the local population of secondary 
age children. The forecasts incorporate the number of children in local primary schools and 
factor in the historic patterns of children taking up secondary places. There is a Catholic 
secondary school located in the borough, which tends to have a wider geographical intake of 
children from out of the borough, so forecasts also take into account the import of children 
from neighbouring boroughs.   
 
The graph below estimates the number of pupils that will require a secondary school place in 
Woking from 2015 – 2021. 

 

 
 

What have we done? 
In the past there has been an adequate number of places within the borough to 
accommodate all students, so there has been no action to provide additional places. 

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200

1300

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

Academic year

Graph showing number of students requiring year 7 
places in Woking, forecast from 2015 onwards

Page 83

8



 

54 
 

However, the sharp increase in applications in the primary sector has now begun to impact 
on the secondary sector and will continue to do so in forthcoming years.  
 

Name of School Year Bulge class or permanent 
expansion 

Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

The Bishop David Brown 2014 Permanent 120 150 

Hoe Valley Free School 2015 New free school N/A 120 

 

The Department for Education have commissioned a new secondary free school, Hoe Valley 
Free School, which opened in temporary accommodation in September 2015. This school 
will grow incrementally over the next 5 to 7 years to become a 4 form entry secondary school 
with sixth form, and is anticipated to move to its permanent site in Woking borough in 2017.  
 

What are we doing? 
Alongside potential free school providers, the county council has been working with 
secondary schools in the north west of Surrey and Woking Borough Council to identify how 
additional places can be provided in Woking.  
 
The following projects have been commissioned to meet demand:  
 
Name of School Year Bulge class or permanent 

expansion 
Previous 
PAN 

New 
PAN 

The Bishop David Brown 2016/17 Permanent 150 180 

St John the Baptist 2018 Permanent 180 240 

 

How accurate were our secondary numbers? 
It is useful to understand how accurate the forecasts are year on year. This is done by 
comparing the number of year 7 pupils that were on roll at Woking secondary schools in the 
October 2014 school census with the number that was forecast. 
 
It was forecast the 882 pupils would require Year 7 places in September 2014, and there 
were 883 pupils on roll in October 2014, which is a difference of 0%. This shows that the 
forecasts were accurate for this area.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84

8



 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF: MS DENISE LE GAL, CABINET MEMBER FOR BUSINESS 
SERVICES AND RESIDENT EXPERIENCE 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

JULIE FISHER, DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

SUBJECT: FUTURE OPTIONS FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF GYPSY 
TRAVELLER CARAVAN SITES  

 
 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
Surrey County Council owns a portfolio of Gypsy Traveller Caravan sites. This report 
provides the options as to how these sites might be managed in the future, 
developing a medium term strategy that will deliver financial savings to Surrey 
County Council whilst protecting their existing use.    
    
At this early stage, Cabinet is asked to approve the principle of looking at alternative 
ways in which sites can be managed, including possible transfer of sites to the 
residents or to a Housing Authority or disposal to a single private purchaser.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that: 

 
1. Cabinet approves a review of future arrangements for the management of its 

caravan sites.  
 
2.    Final recommendations will be made to Cabinet for full consideration in 2016.     

            
 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
Whilst historically a statutory duty was placed on County Councils to provide and 
manage caravan sites, this has not been the case for over 20 years, with relevant 
responsibilities now being placed upon the local housing and local planning 
authorities to ensure sufficient sites are provided in their area.   
 
Different approaches have been taken over the years to optimise the management of 
Surrey County Council’s existing sites, however such direct provision is not the 
Council’s core business and a review of alternatives could deliver this service more 
effectively, produce savings and provide an improved experience for site residents.  
 
 
 
 

Page 85

9

Item 9



2 

BACKGROUND: 

STATUTORY CONTEXT: 
 
1. Under the Caravan Sites Act 1968, County Councils had a duty to ensure 

sufficient provision sites for Gypsies and Travellers who resided in its area of 
responsibility. As a result, Surrey County Council developed 18 Gypsy Traveller 
sites providing circa 200 pitches.    

2. The Act was repealed by the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994, which 
then transferred the responsibility to ensure sufficient provision of pitches for 
gypsies and travellers to the relevant housing and planning authorities, i.e. the 
local district or borough council within Surrey.  However this did not require 
district or borough council’s to take over the management of the sites already 
developed and managed by Surrey County Council. 

 
3. For a period of circa 14 years, Surrey County Council entered into a number of 

agency arrangements with the district and borough councils within Surrey to 
manage the sites located within their area.  In 2010 Surrey County Council 
recommended direct control and management of the majority of its sites. 

 
4. Today, Surrey County Council is responsible for 17 sites, 14 of which are 

owned freehold and 3 held on long leases from Mole Valley District Council and 
Surrey Heath Borough Council.  A list of the sites, number of pitches and 
freehold / leasehold status can be found in Appendix A.  All sites are 
permanent sites.  

 
5.      Each pitch is held by a resident under a formal signed “licence” agreement.  

Following a 2011 amendment to the Mobile Homes Act 1983, site residents 
have the right to remain in occupation for life or until such time as they 
voluntarily vacate the pitch or, are evicted due to serious breach of the tenancy 
agreement.  Residents can seek approval to transfer their rights to a surviving 
family member upon their death.   

 
MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS PAST AND PRESENT 
 
6. As a result of the 1994 Act, removing the duty on Surrey County Council to 

provide sites, the Council adopted a policy to enter into agency agreements 
with the relevant borough and district councils for the management of the sites, 
with the exception of sites in Waverley and Elmbridge where Surrey County 
Council managed the sites.  The main drivers for the policy were the lack of 
alternative arrangements, continuity and local management in parallel with the 
housing obligations of the borough and district councils.   

 
7. The Agency Agreement offered little incentive to the borough and district 

councils to manage the site effectively and secure income through licence fees, 
with Surrey County Council funding any deficit funding (costs over income).  In 
2010/11 and 2011/12 the deficit to Surrey County Council was £375,461 and 
£429,900 respectively.   

 
8. In 2011 Members approved that the management of the sites be brought back 

in-house to be managed by Surrey County Council, with a few exceptions (see 
point 14).  Surrey County Council saved approximately £100,000 per year in 
management fees against the previous arrangement (Note: Appendix B; 
2010/11 management fees recorded as Rents Payable of £233,864 and in 

Page 86

9



   3 

2011/12 recorded Managing Agents costs of £177,973.  These reduced to circa 
£10,000 to £20,000 per annum after in-sourcing). 

 
9. New agency agreements were put in place with Guildford Borough Council and 

Epsom & Ewell Borough Council, to incentivise better management of the sites 
and financial control.    

 
10. The Estates team has also tendered and implemented a Responsive 

Maintenance Contract for the repair and maintenance of its sites to bring about 
procurement efficiencies.  Borough and district councils can also use the 
contract if they wish.  

 
11. A summary of the income and expenditure for the portfolio of sites as whole for 

each of the last five full financial years is attached in Appendix B.    
 
12. Expenditure on maintenance during the three financial years ending 31 March 

2015 has averaged £263,000 per annum (Appendix B – Revenue Maintenance 
/ Repairs / Inspections).  Completed Condition Surveys indicated that an 
additional £30,000 per year over 8 years will need to be spend to maintain the 
sites at existing levels.  It does not take account of improvements that may be 
required to bring premises up to modern standards.   

 
13. The deficit has reduced over recent years, however, after taking into account 

staffing costs and the maintenance requirements the portfolio continues to run 
at deficit of circa £90,000 per annum increasing to a predicted £120,000 per 
annum as a consequence of additional maintenance requirements.   

 
14. Property Services has implemented a number of initiatives to bring costs down 

over the last three years, but given the on-going negative financial position 
recommends a further review into how sites are managed and owned, where 
such models might offer improved value for money, whilst maintaining a good 
standard of management and service to residents.     

 
OPTIONS 
 
15. Property Services intends to explore a number of options for the future 

management of the sites, an overview of which is provided below.  At this early 
stage Property Services seeks approval from Members to review the future 
arrangements for the management of its caravan sites, with a view to making 
recommendations next year. 

 
16. (1) External Management   

This involves identifying an appropriate body to manage the sites effectively.  
Surrey County Council will look to transfer risk and reward to the managing 
body.     

 
17. (2) Disposal / Transfer (retaining the existing use) 

This option considers the opportunities to dispose of the site to a single 
purchaser or body.  Property Services will explore opportunities to transfer sites 
to the district and borough councils, housing associations, site residents or a 
private purchaser amongst other options.  The disposal will be subject to the 
placement of restrictive covenants within the transfer protecting the sites 
existing use as a Gypsy Traveller Caravan site.  The purchaser would 
effectively become the Landlord, collecting rents, providing maintenance 

Page 87

9



4 

services and fulfilling the Landlord obligations within the tenancy agreements 
held by individual pitch holders.   

 
18. (3) Leasing  

Under this option Property Services will investigate whether there are 
opportunities to lease sites to a single individual, organisation or association or 
other body.  The lease will contain restrictions and obligations on the 
organisation that can be enforced by Surrey County Council.  The organisation 
will become the head lessee of the site and become responsible for the 
management, maintenance and collection of rents from individual pitch 
residents, who will become subtenants of the organisation.   

 
19. Under each of the above options, the existing site licence agreements 

(tenancy) for each pitch will continue to exist and so residents would still have 
the statutory protection of their rights and security of tenure under the licence 
agreement.   

 
 

CONSULTATION: 

20. At this stage no consultation has been undertaken but would follow upon 
identifying the available options.   

21.  Following the options analysis, consultation with all relevant stakeholders will 
take place as part of the study to include site residents and the Gypsy Traveller 
Forum, local Members, the local borough or district council and parish councils.  
The results will be reflected in the recommendations for next steps.  

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

22.  The risks, both financial and qualitative will be identified during the next stages 
and reported to Cabinet together with the implications.  Recommendations for 
reducing risks will be made where possible.    

 
23.  There are no risks in completing the feasibility study into other forms of 

management.   
 

Financial and Value for Money Implications  

24. There are no immediate significant financial implications in completing the 
study into alternative methods of managing Gypsy Traveller Caravan sites, as 
this will be undertaken internally without recourse to external consultants.  The 
Council will continue to fund any deficit in the revenue budget until a decision 
has been reached and implemented in the future.  The deficit is estimated at 
£0.1m from 2016/17, shown in Appendix B.  

 

Section 151 Officer Commentary  

25.  The Section 151 Officer confirms that the net costs of managing the Council’s 
caravan sites in 2016/17 is likely to be £120,000 and savings of alternative 
arrangements will be considered as part of the next phase, prior to 
consideration by Cabinet next year. 

Page 88

9



   5 

 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer 

26.  Provision and management of gypsy traveller sites is a historic and not a 
current statutory duty placed on county councils.  This specialist type of 
housing provision is now dealt with through statutory duties and guidance 
placed on local housing authorities and local planning authorities to ensure that 
sufficient resources exist and/or future supply is identified, either by way of 
direct provision of accommodation to gypsy travellers in the area or by way of 
identifying appropriate land where private sites may successfully obtain 
planning permission.  

 
27. As such, this changed statutory background serves to illustrate that gypsy / 

traveller site provision is properly a housing and planning issue and not a core 
function of the council.  Continued involvement in this specialist sphere may not 
represent the optimum method to secure the future viability of what is an 
increasingly scarce resource. 

 
28. At this stage, Cabinet is not being asked to commit the Council to a particular 

course of action and the options that fall out of the study will be fully evaluated 
and returned to Cabinet for further approval. 

 
29. As a minority ethnic group, the Council has equality duties towards gypsy / 

travellers under the Equality Act 2010 as well as a duty under statutory 
guidance to protect and promote the gypsy / traveller way of life.  This report 
envisages that site residents’ interests will be at the forefront of the study and 
borne in mind when considering the viability of other options. 

 
 

Equalities and Diversity 

30. There is a requirement for the County Council to ensure it is providing 
appropriate services to a community to whom it is responsible by virtue of land 
ownership.  The recommendations suggested in this report will ensure a 
transparent and improved service to the residents of the traveller sites.  As set 
out in the Race Relations Act 2000, Surrey County Council recognises that the 
Gypsy Traveller community are a recognised minority ethnic group who should 
be treated as equals to the settled population of Surrey.  If changes are to be 
made in the way in which sites are managed, due regard will be had as to 
whether an Equalities Impact Assessment is required and reported alongside 
the final recommendations next year.   

 
 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

31. If Cabinet approval is given, Property Services will investigate the various 
options in more detail. The following actions and timescales are anticipated: 

 Property Services will investigate the legal implications of the various 
options and seek out case studies to review in order to understand the 
implications of the options, understand what works well and what has not 
worked well.  New options may be considered.  

Page 89

9



6 

 The various options will be explored further to ascertain the appetite for the 
various options, how it might apply to the various sites and possible 
implications including risks to Surrey County Council.  If an option is viable, 
Property Services will formulate terms on which the options might be 
considered.   

 A full financial and risk analysis will be completed.  

 Consultation with stakeholders will be completed.   

 A further report will be made to Cabinet setting out the recommendations 
for the future management of Gypsy Caravan sites.  Different solutions are 
likely to be considered due to the differences between sites.   

 
 

 
 
Contact Officer: 
Clare Neave, Estates Delivery Manager, Property Services. 
Tel: 020 8541 9387 
Email: cneave@surreycc.gov.uk 
 
Consulted: 
N/A 
 
Annexes: 
Appendix A List of Gypsy Caravan Sites 
Appendix B Income & Expenditure  
 
Sources/background papers: 
N/A 

 

Page 90

9



APPENDIX A GYPSY CARAVAN SITES - SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL

SITE ADDRESS NO. OF PITCHES DISTRICT FREEHOLD OR LEASEHOLD 

The Oaks, Woodstock Lane South, Long Ditton, KT10 0TA. 16 Elmbridge Freehold

Greenlands Caravan Site, Cox Lane, Ewell. 16 Epsom Freehold

Conifer Park, Nonsuch Industrial Estate, Kiln Lane, Epsom, KT17 1EG. 7 Epsom Freehold

Ash Bridge Caravan Site, Aldershot Road, Ash. 16 Guildford Freehold

Clasford Bridge Caravan Site, Cobbets Close, Cobbett Hill Road, Normandy. 16 Guildford Freehold

Conifer Park, Ranmore Road, Dorking, RH4 1HW. 4 Mole Valley Leasehold

Salvation Place, Young Street, Leatherhead, KT22 9BS. 10 Mole Valley Freehold

Traveller’s Rest, Cowslip Lane, Mickleham. 3 Mole Valley Freehold

Brambledown, Coldharbour Lane, Dorking, RH4 3JG. 3 Mole Valley Leasehold

The Paddocks, Bridge Lane, Virginia Water, GU25 4ET. 15 Runnymede Freehold

Elm Farm, Lyne Crossing Road, Lyne, Chertsey, KT16 0AT. 15 Runnymede Freehold

Littleton Lane Caravan Site, Littleton Lane, Shepperton, TW17 0NF. 10 Spelthorne Freehold

Kalima, Chertsey Road, Chobham, GU24 8PE. 15 Surrey Heath Freehold

Swift Lane Gypsy Site, Swift Lane, Bagshot, GU19 5NN. 15 Surrey Heath Leasehold

Pendell Camp, Merstham Road, Bletchingley. 4 Tandridge Freehold

The Willows, Tongham Road, Runfold, Farnham, GU10 1QG. 10 Waverley Freehold

Hatchingtan, Burdenshott Road, Mayford, Woking, GU3 3RN. 16 Woking Freehold

191

P
age 91

9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Annual Running Costs - Gypsy Traveller Caravan Sites

Note: Positive (+) figures are a cost or a deficit.  Negative (-) figures are an income or surplus. 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16* 2016/17*

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Maintenance & Adaptation 306 467 281 379 269 324 410

Utilities 24 125 63 143 161 152 143

Rates, Rents & Service Charges 234 -11 0 20 26 23 20

Managing Agents DC/BC 0 178 10 20 15 17 20

Other Running Costs 19 18 20 27 56 41 27

Staff Costs 50 60 77 78 78 78 78

Total Expenditure 635 836 452 668 605 636 699

Income -259 -408 -484 -579 -527 -553 -579

Net Expenditure 375 428 -33 89 78 83 120

* Estimate

Page 93

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF: MR MIKE GOODMAN, CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT 
AND PLANNING 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

MR TREVOR PUGH, STRATEGIC DIRECTOR, ENVIRONMENT & 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

SUBJECT: SHAPING SURREY’S COMMUNITY RECYCLING CENTRES 

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

The Environment Service has identified a number of efficiency measures in the 
operation of Community Recycling Centres (CRCs) that will lead to operational cost 
reductions of £1.8 million commencing in 2016/17.  
 
The CRCs are the most highly rated service provided by SCC, with over 80% of 
users stating that they are satisfied or very satisfied with the service. A public 
consultation was carried out over the summer seeking Surrey residents’ and other 
stakeholders’ views on the cost savings options (Para 17). 
 
Having taken into consideration these factors, this report recommends implementing 
changes that will: 
 

 Reduce contract costs and improve efficiencies. 

 Retain all fifteen existing CRCs and ensure these are operated efficiently. 

 Protect the use of the sites for the deposit of household waste by Surrey 
residents, by excluding the free use of sites by traders, and enabling Surrey 
residents to deposit reasonable amounts of non-household waste.  

 Retain a comprehensive service but with a reduction in opening times, and days, 
when sites are less well used on value for money grounds.  

 Develop a strategy to tackle fly tipping in Surrey. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that changes, as set out in paragraphs 24 to 51 below, are 
implemented as soon as is operationally possible. 
 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

All council services are required to consider options for cost reduction. Any savings 
must be recommended with due regard to the customer and stakeholder views 
expressed through consultation. As Annex 2 shows, there are times and days when it 
is not value for money to operate the sites. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95

10

Item 10



2 

DETAILS: 

The current service 

1. Surrey County Council (SCC) provides 15 CRCs site across the county. They 
manage, in total, 144,000 tonnes of material per year. 

2. SCC has been providing this service for around 40 years, during which time the 
service has changed and evolved. Fourteen of the sites are open 7 days per 
week. Due to planning restrictions, one site is open 6 days per week throughout 
the year but apart from this the sites are only closed on Christmas day, Boxing 
day and New Year’s day. 

3. Opening times vary with the seasons. The sites open 8am on weekdays and 
9am on weekends all year round, but close at 4:15pm on weekdays and 
weekends in winter. During the summer, sites close at 5:15 on weekdays and 
4:45 on weekends. 

4. In 2014/15, 64% of the materials collected at the CRCs were recycled. This 
does not include materials which are sent for energy recovery or other 
beneficial use. When all materials are considered, 96% of material was diverted 
away from landfill in 2014/15. 

Customer satisfaction 

5. The CRCs are very popular with Surrey residents and attract more than 3 
million visits per year. The quarterly Surrey resident surveys, undertaken by 
SCC, show that the CRCs are the highest rated service that SCC provides, with 
over 80% of respondents consistently stating that they are satisfied or very 
satisfied with the service. 

6. Research undertaken by the county council in 2014 shows a similar picture, 
although there are differences between the sites. The results of the 2014 
survey are set out in the following table. Sites that Surrey residents are most 
satisfied with are on the left and least satisfied on the right. 

 
 (Source – CRC satisfaction survey, August 2014) 

Page 96

10



   3 

 
7. Sites that have been redeveloped are predominantly those with the highest 

satisfaction levels. 

8. The graphs below show the annual tonnages and visitor numbers to CRCs 
from lowest and least busy on the left, to highest and busiest on the right. The 
annual tonnage ranges from just over 3,000 tonnes at the smallest site in 
Warlingham, to over 20,000 tonnes at the largest site in Shepperton. Annual 
visitor numbers range from 70,000 at Warlingham to 430,000 at Shepperton. 

 

 
   
  

 
 

Page 97

10



4 

 
 
Operational improvements and efficiencies already implemented 

9. As part of the long-term waste disposal contract with SITA, over £9 million of 
capital has been invested in upgrading 9 of the 15 CRCs. 

10. It has not been possible to identify options for major upgrades for the 6 
remaining sites, which operate on a single level and are too small to redevelop 
into modern split level sites. 

11. In 2007, SCC negotiated changes to the contract with SITA Surrey to improve 
customer service and recycling performance. As a consequence, there has 
been a significant increase in recycling performance and landfill diversion, as 
well as a significant reduction in complaints about the service. 

12. A number of measures have already been introduced to improve the efficiency 
of the service. These measures are set out in the table below. 

Cost saving measure Commentary 

Van permit scheme All users of vans or trailers are 
required to have a permit and usage of 
the sites is monitored to prevent 
unauthorised use by traders. This is to 
be further enhanced in 2016 with the 
introduction of a limit on the number of 
visits that can be made with a permit in 
any calendar year.  

Enhanced Surrey resident scheme  
(at 4 CRCs) 

The use of 4 of our CRCs is restricted 
to Surrey residents only.  

Increased range of materials that can 
be recycled 
 
 

Over 35 separate materials can now 
be recycled at all sites.   

Extracting maximum value from 
materials 
 

Outlets for materials are kept under 
constant review to ensure maximum 
income or lowest cost.   

Black bag sorting Recyclable materials are being 
separated from black bags resulting in 
savings of approximately £0.5m per 
year. 

Enhanced security In October 2015, enhanced security 
measures were introduced at the 
CRCs to reduce the amount of 
unauthorised trade waste being 
delivered to the sites. 

 
The drivers for change 

13. As set out in the introduction to this paper, there is a need to identify further 
efficiency measures from the operation of the service. In addition, there are 
pressures relating to the operations of the sites which need to be addressed. 
Firstly, we have seen increasing levels of non-household waste being 
deposited at the CRCs and, secondly, we have reached the point where further 
development of the CRCs is not possible due to space limitations. Furthermore, 
it is very difficult to identify new sites although we continue to look for, and 
evaluate, any new opportunities that might arise. 

 

Page 98

10



   5 

14. Surrey is not unique in facing these challenges and officers have undertaken 
extensive research to understand what service changes other waste disposal 
authorities have been introducing to reduce the cost of operating this service. 
The results of this research are summarised in the table below. 

Cost saving measure Commentary 

Restrictions and charging for non-
household waste 

Over two thirds of WDAs restrict non-
household waste in some way, with 
one quarter of authorities making a 
charge with or without minimum 
allowances. 

Reuse shops Other authorities, such as 
Warwickshire, receive income from 
reuse shops. 

Reducing staffing levels, opening 
hours and opening days 

Authorities such as Leicestershire 
open their sites only 5 days a week 
and Hampshire have recently reduced 
opening hours. 

Closing sites Other authorities, such as Somerset 
and Oxfordshire, are proposing to, or 
have already closed some of their 
sites. 

 
Consultation 

15. A public consultation, detailed in the next section, was conducted during 
summer 2015 and asked Surrey residents on the options provided and any 
preferences or comments regarding a number of ways of reducing costs. 
Feedback was taken into account and has helped shape the recommendations 
in this report. A summary report of the consultation responses is set out in 
Annex 1 to this report. 

Timescale for implementation 

16. In order to maximise the impact of the savings measures, it is recommended 
that the proposed changes be introduced as soon as is operationally possible. 
This is expected to be during February 2016. 

 

CONSULTATION: 

17. A public consultation on potential changes to the CRC service was conducted 
from 15 July 2015 to 30 September 2015. The following proposals were 
included in the public consultation: 

a) Charging for non-household waste 
b) Residual waste in clear sacks  
c) Reuse shops 
d) Reducing opening hours and days 
e) Closure of some sites 

 
18. The consultation was advertised online, in social media and the local press 

including TV and radio coverage of the consultation. Information was made 
available at council offices, libraries as well as community recycling centres. In 
addition, all Surrey MP’s, County Councillors, Borough and District Councils 
and all Parish Councils were notified of the consultation.    

19. Surrey residents could complete an online survey or request a paper 
consultation pack from our contact centre. The resources have been shared 
with district and borough councils and through the Surrey Waste Partnership. 

Page 99

10



6 

20. 4581 people have responded to the consultation which compares well to the 
response rate that Hampshire achieved from a similar consultation in summer 
2014. The following are the most commonly expressed views: 

a) There is a strong desire to retain the existing service as it is at present 
and concerns that this choice was not an option in the consultation. 

b) Concerns raised by Surrey residents that changes to the service could 
have the potential to increase fly tipping. 

c) Concerns from districts and boroughs that additional material will end up 
in kerbside collections. 

d) Surrey residents commented that council tax should cover service or 
service changes. 

 
21. Surrey residents were asked to assess the four proposals in terms of their 

impact on the service. The table below ranks these in order of impact, with 1 
being the least impact and 4 being the most, that is to say 1 is the most 
supported of the options and 4 the least supported. This feedback is reflected 
in the recommendations.  

Proposal Rank 

Reduced opening hours at off peak times 
 

1 

Reduce opening days at some sites 
 

2 

Charging for non-household waste 
 

3 

Closing of some CRCs 4 
     

22. Consultation responses raised the question of whether there would be an effect 
on kerbside recycling activity. Given the types of materials taken to CRCs, it is 
not anticipated that there will be a significant effect. However, officers will 
monitor the situation. 

23. Consultation responses also agreed there may be benefit in using clear plastic 
bags to assist in maximising recycling at CRCs. Officers will assess the cost 
benefit of this potential initiative before implementation. 

 

DETAILED RECOMMENDATIONS 

24. As a result of the consultation the following changes are recommended that will 
retain all 15 CRCs, and a comprehensive service, but introduce reduced 
opening times when the sites are not well used on value for money grounds. 
The changes, when taken as a whole, are expected to reduce the council’s 
expenditure in this area by £1.8 million per year.  

Officers continue to work with SITA Surrey to pursue operational efficiencies 
and cost reduction measures. 

 
25. A project team, led by the council’s procurement officers, will continue to work 

with SITA Surrey to identify and implement further efficiencies and cost savings 
measures. This will ensure that front line services are preserved as far as is 
practically possible.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100

10



   7 

Officers continue to work with SITA to enforce the council’s existing trade 
waste and resident scheme policies. 

26. The costs of operating the CRCs will be minimised by ensuring that traders are 
directed to waste transfer stations where waste can be paid for and that the use 
of four specific sites are limited to Surrey residents only.    

 
Weekday opening hours at the CRCs are reduced at the least busy times in 
order to ensure the sites run as efficiently as possible. 

27. The results of the consultation indicated that of all the service reduction 
options, reducing opening hours was the most palatable and generally 
acceptable to residents.  

28. Traffic count data collected at all sites over the last year shows that the quietest 
times of the day are at the beginning and end of the day. An example of traffic 
count data used for this analysis is shown in Annex 2 

29. It is proposed that opening hours are reduced at all sites, by either opening 
later or closing earlier, or a combination of both. The changes will be designed 
to maximise savings, whilst minimising impacts on site users and staff. 

Opening days are reduced in order to fit with demand for the service, but to 
ensure that a number of sites are always made available to residents on a daily 
basis. 

30. Consultation results showed that closing sites one or two days a week during 
the least busy weekdays was the next most acceptable service reduction 
option.  

31. Traffic count data collected at all sites over the last year shows that the least 
busy days of the week are Wednesdays and Thursdays. This is especially true 
in winter, when sites can become extremely quiet compared to the summer 
months. 

32. It is proposed that some sites in the network are closed one day during the 
week but that a number of strategic sites will remain open 7 days per week to 
accept waste. The number and location of the sites that will need to be closed 
one day per week will be designed to maximise savings whilst minimising the 
impact on members of the public and site staff. 

Charging to cover costs for non-household items, comprising large gas bottles 
and car tyres, should be implemented across the service. 

33. Charging for non-household materials divided public opinion. Almost one third 
of residents said it was their most preferred service change and almost one 
third said it was their least favourite. 

34. The legal obligation of the Waste Disposal Authority is to provide places where 
residents can dispose of their household waste free of charge. However, not 
all waste that arises from a residents’ home is classified as household waste. 
Tyres and gas bottles are not defined as household waste and therefore the 
Waste Disposal Authority does not have to accept these types of waste.  

35. It is legal for local authorities to charge residents for the disposal of non- 
household waste and a number of Waste Disposal Authorities already charge 
for gas bottles and tyres.  

Page 101

10



8 

36. The proposal would be to introduce charges to residents for dealing with tyres 
and large gas bottles, which would be solely to cover the costs of dealing with 
these materials, including the administration of the charging system. 

37. Indicative charges of £4 per tyre and £15.50 for a domestic heating gas bottle 
were included in the consultation but the precise charges will be calculated in 
order to recover the cost of dealing with these materials, including the cost of 
administering the charging system.  

Charging to cover costs for asbestos should not be implemented. 

38. This is as a result of concerns raised by residents, district and borough councils 
and members regarding the potential for increased fly tipping. Asbestos is a 
hazardous material and SCC collects less than 300 tonnes per year. It is 
recommended that Surrey residents are able to continue to dispose of asbestos 
containing products from their homes free of charge at the small number of 
sites that are able to accept it. 

Cabinet delegates authority to the Strategic Director, Environment and 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning to devise how to implement a charging scheme which allows 
residents to deposit small amounts of inert building material and plasterboard 
free of charge. 

39. As stated above, charging for non-household materials divided public opinion. 
Almost one third of residents said it was their most preferred service change 
and almost one third said it was their least favourite. 

40. Construction and demolition waste from households and waste arising from 
excavations are not defined as household waste and, therefore, the Waste 
Disposal Authority does not have to accept these types of waste. 

 
41. SCC already charges for construction and demolition waste from households if 

delivered to sites in vans and trailers, although it is estimated that this accounts 
for only 5% of the material affected by this proposal. 

42. Inert material makes up over 90% of the non-household materials tonnage and 
costs almost £1 million per year to manage and send for processing. Inert 
material comprises rubble, soil, stones, concrete, bricks, ceramics and tiles. 
The inert material collected at the sites is very poor in quality and heavily 
contaminated which limits outlets and results in processing costs. 

43. Plasterboard cannot be sent to landfill and therefore has to be collected 
separately from the rubble and soil. 

   
44. Given the divided public opinion, a reasonable approach would be to allow 

residents to bring small amounts of inert materials and plasterboard for free. If 
large scale works are being carried out at home, then SCC would expect 
residents to factor this into their home improvement project costs and pay to 
dispose of the material at a site that is able to weigh the material and accept 
payments. 

45. Indicative charges of £3 per 20 Kg load of inert material and £4.50 per sheet of 
plasterboard were included in the consultation but the precise charges will be 
calculated in order to recover the cost of dealing with these materials, including 
the cost of administering the charging system. 

 

 

Page 102

10



   9 

 

Reuse shops will be opened at suitable sites across the network to reduce 
waste sent for disposal and generate additional income. 

46. Other authorities have already exploited the potential for generating income 
and reducing disposal costs through capturing and selling reusable items. For 
example, Warwickshire County Council already has a number of successful 
reuse shops which they franchise out to charitable organisations to generate a 
significant income. It is unlikely that shops could be introduced at all sites due 
to space constraints and they would need careful management to ensure that 
they did not lead to congestion of the CRCs.  

47. Planning issues will also need to be considered and planning applications may 
be required depending on the scale and potential impacts of this activity. 

48. A trial commenced at the Leatherhead CRC during October 2015, which will 
provide income and intelligence on how to roll out and operate reuse shops at 
other suitable sites across the county.  

Cabinet delegates authority to the Strategic Director, Environment and 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning to lead a new initiative to co-ordinate and enhance the fly-tipping 
investigation, prevention and enforcement activities of district and borough 
councils, the Police and the Environment Agency. 

49. In 2014/15, SCC had to dispose of over 2,500 tonnes of fly-tipped material 
collected by district and borough councils. This year there has been a 
significant increase in the amount of fly- tipped material collected by district and 
borough councils and, based on levels to date, we are projecting a year end 
out-turn of over that over 4,000 tonnes. The disposal cost alone is likely to be in 
the order of £400,000 and this is in addition to the significant costs of collection 
incurred by district and borough councils. 

50. Officers consider that there would be merit in creating a post to assist in co-
ordinating the work of existing enforcement agencies in Surrey, sharing 
intelligence and creating a focal point for anti-fly tipping measures. Kent County 
Council created a similar role some years ago as part of the Cleaner Kent 
initiative and this has proven to be effective in tackling fly-tipping. The idea of 
creating something similar in Surrey has been met with a very positive 
response from the respective enforcement. 

51. The employment of any additional resource will be considered on an invest to 
save basis having regard to the current expenditure by districts, boroughs and 
the county council on collecting and disposing of fly-tipped material.  

 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

52. Many consultees raised concerns that reducing the opening times of CRCs, 
and introducing charges for non-household materials, could lead to an increase 
in fly-tipping.  

53. The proposed recommendations include the creation and implementation of a 
strategy to co-ordinate and enhance the fly-tipping investigation, prevention 
and enforcement activities of district and borough councils, the Police and the 
Environment Agency. 

 

Page 103

10



10 

Financial and Value for Money Implications  

54. All of the recommendations are cost reducing or invest to save projects. Any 
initial costs will be met by the service budget and savings over and above 
spend will be achieved through the year. 

Section 151 Officer Commentary  

55. The measures set out in the report will deliver an estimated saving of £1.8m 
commencing in 2016/17. These proposals are part of a package of measures to 
reduce the cost of waste management and deliver the savings required in the 
council's current Medium Term Financial Plan of £6m per year by 2019/20. 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer 

56. Surrey County Council (SCC) is the Waste Disposal Authority for the area and 
has a legal duty to provide places for Surrey residents to dispose of their own 
household waste. In the current challenging financial environment, the council 
has been reviewing all its services and, where possible, is delivering efficiency 
savings whilst continuing to meet its duty to provide services to residents.  

57. The proposals in this report were developed following the public consultation, 
detailed earlier in the report, and Members should take the outcome of that into 
account and where that the Equalities Impact Assessment has not identified 
any disproportionate impacts on people with protected characteristics. 

Equalities and Diversity 

58. Equality impact assessments (EIAs) have been undertaken on the two main 
proposed changes to the operation of the CRCs, which are a reduction in 
working hours and days and the introduction of charges for non- household 
waste.  

59. Whilst the proposed changes will reduce the overall level of service offered to 
the public generally, the EIAs have not identified that the changes will 
disproportionally impact persons with protected characteristics. 

 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

60. The proposals will be implemented during February 2016, or as soon as 
operationally possible. 

61. A communications programme will be devised to ensure that the changes are 
effectively publicised to site users and other stakeholders. 

 
Contact Officer: 
Richard Parkinson, Waste Operations Group Manager, Tel: 020 8541 9391 
 
Consulted: 
A public consultation took place between 15 July and 30 September 2015, responses 
were received from members of the public, district, borough, parish and town 
councils and other organisations such as the National Farmers Union and National 
Trust. Furthermore, SCC Cabinet, SCC Members and SCC MPs were also 
consulted.  
 
 
 

Page 104

10



   11 

 
Annexes: 
Annex 1 - Summary of consultation responses 
 
Annex 2 - Automatic traffic counter data - example 
 
Sources/background papers: 

 Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) for the proposed service changes. 
 

 

Page 105

10



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1 

Summary of consultation responses  
 
Total responses to survey - 4581 
 
 
Question 1a: Which CRC have you used most in the past year? 
 
All 15 sites were represented in the responses received. 
 
 
Question 1b: How often do you visit that CRC? 
 
The top three visiting frequencies are monthly (28.4%), 3-4 times per year (21.63%) and every other 
month (16.96%). 
 
 
Question 2a: It currently costs £1.3 million per year to dispose of non-household materials, such as 
DIY waste referred to in Q2b, which we don’t have to take at CRCs. One option is to stop taking 
these materials and another is to charge for them. Which option would you prefer? 
 
6.5% of residents chose to stop taking the materials, 68.57% chose to charge for them and 24.93% 
chose not to answer. 
 
 
Question 2b: If we did decide to charge for taking non-household waste, it would be to cover our 
costs. What do you think of the suggested charges below? 
 
Rubble £3 per bag – 47.54% thought the charge was about right, 2.18% thought the charge was too 
low and 50.27% thought the charge was too high. 
 
Plasterboard £4.50 per sheet – 30.76% thought the charge was about right, 1.75% thought the 
charge was too low and 67.50% thought the charge was too high. 
 
Asbestos £7.50 per sheet – 51.39% thought the charge was about right, 18.84% thought the charge 
was too low and 29.76% thought the charge was too high. 
 
Gas bottles (depends on size) £15.50 per standard 11kg heating bottle – 35.91% thought the charge 
was about right, 2.31% thought the charge was too low and 61.78% thought the charge was too 
high. 
 
Car tyres (depends on size) £4 per car tyre – 50.01% thought the charge was about right, 7.31% 
thought the charge was too low and 42.68% thought the charge was too high. 
 
 
Question 3: Do you think that CRCs could only open at times when they are well used? This could 
mean the sites might open a little later and close a little earlier – for example 9am-4pm on 
weekdays. What do you think of this idea? 
 
56.08% agreed or strongly agreed and 29.58% disagreed or strongly disagreed. 
 
 

Page 107

10



2 
 

Question 4: Another option is to close CRCs for one or two days per week, on each site’s least busy 
weekday/s. What do you think of this? 
 
43.74% agreed or strongly agreed and 42.61% disagreed or strongly disagreed. 
 
 
Question 5: If permanent closure of some CRCs was considered, what’s the maximum time you 
would be prepared to drive to reach an alternative site? 
 
89.7% of residents would be prepared to drive up to 20 minutes, 9.74% would drive up to 30 
minutes and less than 2% were prepared to drive further. 
 
 
Question 6: Please rank the four options listed below in order of preference.  
 
The process took into account residents 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th choices and ranked them accordingly. 
 
1st – reduced opening hours at off peak times (most preferred option) 
2nd – closing for one or two days 
3rd – charging for non-household waste 
4th – closure of some community recycling centres (least preferred option) 
 
 
Question 7: There are items which could be recycled which are mistakenly being thrown away in 
black bags at CRCs. One way to help CRC staff to spot this and advise customers is by asking 
people to use clear plastic bags instead. Do you think this is a good idea? 
 
49.07% agreed or strongly agreed and 30.14% disagreed or strongly disagreed. 
 
 
Question 8: We’ve been trying different ways to encourage more reuse of good quality second 
hand items like furniture and electricals, and we’re currently exploring options like on-site shops 
at CRCs. Please select the top three items you would be interested in buying second hand from 
your CRC. 
 
The top three items selected were tools, furniture and bric-a-brac. 
37.85% of residents said they would not be interested in buying from an on-site shop. 
 
 
Question 9: If charges are introduced to deposit non-household waste or for sales of reuse items it 
would be preferable to not have cash on site. Would you be happy to pay for those items by credit 
or debit card? 
 
80.07% of residents indicated that they would pay by card. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 108

10



3 
 

Question 10: Do you have any further comments about possible changes to CRCs? 
 
Almost two thirds of residents had further comments to make.  
 
The strongest themes to emerge are as follows -  
46% expressed concerns about the risk of increased fly tipping or inappropriate deposit of waste in 
kerbside containers. 
8% want the service to remain unchanged. 
8% agreed with one or more proposal or had alternative savings proposals. 
7% disagreed with the questions in the survey. 
4% thought that their council tax should pay for the service and that separate charges should not be 
levied. 

Page 109

10



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 2 

Automatic traffic counter data – example 

Graphs showing typical midweek and weekend activity during winter 2014 

and summer 2015 at one CRC. This pattern is representative of  and repeated 

across the network of sites. 

 
Midweek activity shows quiet periods at the beginning and end of the day, whilst weekends are 

much busier and only become quieter at the end of the day. 

 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

08:00 - 
09:00 

09:00 - 
10:00 

10:00 - 
11:00 

11:00 - 
12:00 

12:00 - 
13:00 

13:00 - 
14:00 

14:00 - 
15:00 

15:00 - 
16:00 

16:00 - 
17:00 

Woking CRC Wednesday 3rd December 2014 

Cars per hour 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

08:00 - 
09:00 

09:00 - 
10:00 

10:00 - 
11:00 

11:00 - 
12:00 

12:00 - 
13:00 

13:00 - 
14:00 

14:00 - 
15:00 

15:00 - 
16:00 

16:00 - 
17:00 

17:00 - 
18:00 

Woking CRC Wednesday 8th July 2015 

Cars per hour 

Page 111

10



2 
 

 

 

 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

09:00 - 
10:00 

10:00 - 
11:00 

11:00 - 
12:00 

12:00 - 
13:00 

13:00 - 
14:00 

14:00 - 
15:00 

15:00 - 
16:00 

16:00 - 
17:00 

Woking CRC Sunday 7th December 2014 

Cars per hour 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

09:00 - 
10:00 

10:00 - 
11:00 

11:00 - 
12:00 

12:00 - 
13:00 

13:00 - 
14:00 

14:00 - 
15:00 

15:00 - 
16:00 

16:00 - 
17:00 

Woking CRC Sunday 5th July 2015 

Cars per hour 

Page 112

10



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF: MR MEL FEW, CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE, 
WELLBEING AND INDEPENDENCE 

 

 

 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

MRS HELYN CLACK, CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING 
AND HEALTH 

 

DAVID SARGEANT, STRATEGIC DIRECTOR, ADULT SOCIAL 
CARE, WELLBEING AND INDEPENDENCE 

JULIE FISHER, STRATEGIC DIRECTOR, BUSINESS SERVICES 
 
HELEN ATKINSON, DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

 

SUBJECT: PROGRESSING THE INTEGRATION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE IN SURREY 

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
Having grown and developed over time, the move towards integrated services has 
become a fundamental part of the way the Council and its partners develop and 
deliver services. This has been accelerated in health and social care by the 
introduction of the Better Care Fund and is a key strategy for Surrey’s Adult Social 
Care service to manage increasing demand.  
 
Due to differing contexts and local needs across the six Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) areas in Surrey, the speed and form of integration is not identical in 
each area. This report provides the Cabinet with an updated position and requests 
approval for the direction of travel including the ‘fast-track’ approach in two of the 
CCG areas. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that the Cabinet : 

 
1. Notes the progress made towards the integration of health and social care, 

particularly in North East Hampshire and Farnham and Surrey Heath CCG 
areas 

2. Approves the development of frameworks to support integration such as pooled 
budgets or the development of separate integrated care organisations 

3. Delegates authority to the Strategic Director of Adult Social Care Wellbeing and 
Independence, the Director of Public Health and the Director of Finance, in 
consultation with Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Wellbeing and 
Independence, to approve pooled budget agreements for the integration of 
health and social care. 

Page 113

11

Item 11



2 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The approach to integration proposed will support the provision of better outcomes to 
Surrey residents at less cost and enable the council to better influence and control 
the source of demand for social care services. 
 
The proposals further work towards expanding pooled budgets beyond those 
currently within the remit of the Better Care Fund under Section 75 agreements. 
Including more Adult Social Care and NHS funding, with agreement on shared risks, 
will ensure we are jointly focusing on reducing the increasing demands on our 
services. 
  
‘Fast-tracking’ two areas will provide learning for the rest of the County and support 
the local approach of the right pace and form for each area dependent on needs and 
context. 
 
The models and degrees of integration available are varied and range between, for 
example, co-location, joint commissioning arrangements, one accountable 
organisation as a  lead commissioner, pooled budgets and the creation of a separate 
integrated care organisation. All key decisions required in the progress to integration 
will follow the County Council’s due process, and where required will be reported 
back or brought to the Cabinet for decision.   
 
Pursuing opportunities for further integration will help to ensure the County Council 
meets its statutory duties, set out in both the Care Act 2014 and the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, for encouraging and promoting the integration of health and 
social care. 
 

DETAILS: 

Drivers for Integration 

1. The policy direction for the integration of health and social care services has 
been set out by government in recent legislation including the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 and the Care Act 2014. 

2. In adult social care nationally, services have been successful in maximising 
their resources by managing ‘supply’ – working with the market to ensure best 
value for the services provided. However, a point has been reached where 
strategies focusing only on supply are insufficient to sustain services and 
deliver efficiencies.  To continue to support people with safe, high quality care 
and support focus must shift towards managing demand as well as supply. A 
transformational change in the way the system as a whole operates is required.  

3. The inter-relationship between health and social care services is now widely 
recognised. Across the health and social care system demand pressures and 
the need to deliver better outcomes at lower cost have brought into sharp relief 
that change or delay in one area of the system will inevitably impact another. In 
order for adult social care to manage the demand for its services, it needs to be 
able to influence where that demand is generated; a key area is from the health 
service, for example, hospital discharge. By creating more integrated 
relationships and services with health system, social care will have a greater 
ability to influence and control that demand.  

Page 114

11



  
 

4. The NHS Five Year Forward View, published last year, signalled important 
changes for the NHS over the coming years. It described various models of 
care which could be provided in the future such as integrated out of hospital 
care services and the development of ‘Accountable Care Organisations’ across 
a range of health and care organisations. It also stated that the NHS would 
‘take decisive steps to break down the barriers in how care is provided between 
family doctors and hospitals, between physical and mental health, between 
health and social care’. 

5. To support new ways of working Adult Social Care is developing a strategy for 
workforce integration and has produce six principles to guide this work which 
are laid out in Annex 1. 

6. The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a national programme with the objective of 
creating single pooled budgets to support and enable closer working between 
the NHS and local government.  It has been an additional catalyst to progress 
toward integration in Surrey. It is designed to:   

a. Improve outcomes for people. 

b. Drive closer integration between health and social care.  

c. Increase investment in preventative services in primary care, community 
health and social care. 

d. Support the strategic shift from acute to community and to protect social 
care services. 

 
7. The BCF should not be considered ‘new’ money - it is a pooling of existing 

funding streams including the Whole Systems Partnership funding that Surrey 
County Council (SCC) received in previous years from the Department of 
Health, funding from Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) baselines and 
capital resources previously paid to SCC and Surrey’s district and borough 
councils. 

Plans and Progress in each Surrey CCG area 
 
8. Surrey’s BCF has been developed to ensure the services that are 

commissioned meet the County Council and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
shared strategic aims and programme objectives:  

a. Enabling people to stay well - Maximising independence and 
wellbeing through prevention and early intervention for people at risk 
of being unable to manage their physical health, mental health and 
social care needs  

b. Enabling people to stay at home - Integrated care delivered seven 
days a week through enhanced primary and community services 
which are safe and effective and increase public confidence to remain 
out of hospital or residential/nursing care  

c. Enabling people to return home sooner from hospital - Excellent 
hospital care and post-hospital support for people with acute, 
specialist or complex needs supported by a proactive discharge 
system which enables a prompt return home 

 
9. A ‘local’ approach has been taken to Surrey’s BCF development - using six 

Local Joint Commissioning Groups that have been established between Surrey 

Page 115

11



4 

County Council and the CCGs, plans are being developed that are appropriate 
for each local area based on local need. Through the plans, there is 
commitment to achieving consistent, improved health and social care outcomes 
but recognise that to achieve that, the solutions may look different in each area. 

‘Fast-track’ areas 
 
North East Hants & Farnham CCG 
 
10. The North East Hampshire and Farnham health and social care system have 

been selected as a national ‘Vanguard site’. The Vanguard Programme, 
initiated by NHS England and its national partners, selected a number of areas 
across the country to test integrated care models, at pace, and to share their 
learning. This is a trailblazer for Surrey and the only Vanguard site within the 
Surrey County Council boundaries. 

11. This area is ready to embark on a fast track programme of work to bringing 
together organisations responsible for planning & providing health and social 
care and to create a single plan & budget. Providers of health & care are 
already working to integrate service delivery, and the fast track programme will 
help them go further & faster. It will bring about significant change and enable 
this part of Surrey to be at the national forefront of health & care integrated 
working. 

12. Other workstreams already underway are integrated teams of specialist health 
and social care professionals, enhanced community services, access into and 
out of specialist inpatient services and prevention and self-care. 

13. Adult Social Care and the CCG have made a commitment to their aims for 
integration, using the Vanguard process, in an open letter at Annex 2 : 

 Improved health and wellbeing of population of Farnham  

 Improved experiences of using health and social care services  

 Assessing together the needs of the population  

 Better coordination and value of public funds  

 Creating single commissioning and single health & social care budget  

 Measuring system wide success  

 Working in equal partnership with the local community  

 Problem solving sessions on system wide pressures  

 Joined up health and care services . 

 
Surrey Heath CCG 
 
14. The Surrey Heath CCG area is poised to commence a wide ranging and 

ambitious programme of transformation across health and social care. Their 

Page 116

11



  
 

plans aim to deliver a one place, one budget, one team model with a lead 
organisation, Surrey Heath CCG. 

15. The ultimate aim is the creation of a single budget and management structure 
for the commissioning of care for older people and adults with long term 
conditions and/or complex needs including mental health 

16. With the appropriate approvals, it is intended to start the programme in late 
2015, with the first phase ‘going-live’ in April 2016. However, given the 
complexity it is possible that shadow arrangements may be put in place for 
2016/17 with full delegation from April 2017. 

17. The Surrey Heath CCG Governing Body approved this direction of travel at its 
meeting on 3 November 2015. 

18. Anticipated benefits of this approach stretch across the service provided to 
people needing care and support, improved quality and improved efficiencies.  

19. Progress to date includes: 

To date Surrey Heath has achieved: 
 

 8 to 8 working for General Practice  

 Three GP hubs created with integrated care teams encompassing  
Mental Health, Community Nursing and  Social Care ( 7 staff now 
appointed and dedicated to the Integrated Care Team )  

 Co location of rapid response and reablement staff 

 A single point of access to the above services  

 Surrey Heath has been nominated as a finalist for the Health Service 
Journal award for its improved partnership between health and local 
government. 

 
Other CCG areas in Surrey 
 
East Surrey CCG 
 
20. One Commissioning Team – commissioning for the whole East Surrey System. 

This is in development and is being progressed initially through joint 
commissioner meetings. 

  
21. Integrated Urgent Care Team - There are plans to develop an ‘at the front door’ 

of acute care service operating 24/7. This would be a multi-disciplinary team for 
timely and complete assessment; Ambulatory pathways with access to 
diagnostics and specialist opinion. 

 
22. Integrated Hospital Discharge Team – Adult Social Care Staff currently work 

closely with health staff. The aim is to further improve by providing wrap around 
community services undertaking the Discharge to assess process,   with timely 
follow up from community health and social services.  

Page 117

11



6 

23. There is a proposal to develop an integrated reablement unit on the same site 
as Surrey and Sussex Hospital – This proposal would be a partnership 
development between Surrey County Council, East Surrey CCG and the Surrey 
and Sussex Hospital Trust. A companion report dealing specifically with this 
initiative is on the Cabinets agenda today. 

24. Following the implementation of the Integrated Rehabilitation Unit space will be 
freed up to create a Frailty Unit on the hospital site creating different patient 
pathways for urgent care that is more suited to them. 

25. To support the Acute Model changes the East Surrey system will also integrate 
social care services into primary/community care settings to enable residents to 
access these services in an out of hospital setting to avoid admission or speed 
up discharge. 

Guildford & Waverley CCG 
 
26. The development of five locality HUBs across 21 GP practices.  

27. Proactive Care Teams Pilot – A further development from the locality HUBs the 
pilot will initially cover East Waverley and will respond to the needs of the 
individual and their carer, supporting them to remain within the community. 

28. Integrated Care Assessment Service at The Royal Surrey County Hospital – A 
Multi- Disciplinary discharge team has been created which include social care 
professionals. 

29. Discharge to assess service – A joint team which includes staff from the 
community health provider and the Adult Social Care Reablement Team, along 
with health staff. 

30. Age UK Personal Independence Programme – Staff in this programme 
supports the Proactive Care Teams and contributes to the prevention of higher 
needs. 

 
North West Surrey CCG 
 
31. The development of three Community HUBs in Woking, Weybridge and 

Ashford. The first to come on-line will be Woking in December 2015. The HUBs 
will provide integrated multidisciplinary teams of health and social care staff led 
by Primary Care. 

32. Care Home Support – This service has been implemented. 

33. The development of a pool of bank care staff to provide additional support – 
this resource is now available. 

34. Governance and development structures – various structures have been 
developed to support transformation and integrated working which include GP 
led Locality network Boards , regular Senior leaders meetings across partner 
organisations, Strategic Change Boards across all areas of transformation in 
the CCG area.  

 

Page 118

11



  
 

Surrey Downs CCG 
 
35. A joint local integration strategy has been developed, this provides the overall 

framework for local integration in Surrey Downs. A local joint commissioning 
partnership is in place, working with District and Boroughs, Voluntary sector 
and public health this provides a coordinated local approach to prevention. On 
25 November 2015, an engagement event will take place involving 
representatives from the Districts and Boroughs and the voluntary sector. The 
aim of the event is to share priorities for prevention which will help to shape our 
local joint prevention strategy and local services. 

36. Epsom Health & Care Strategic Board - A strategic group of local 
commissioners and providers are working together to develop a sustainable 
longer term plan for a new model of provision in the Epsom GP cluster area. 

37. A GP led unit at Epsom Hospital, Community Assessment Unit (CADU) has 
been developed at pace in readiness for winter 2015. This will be supported by 
Epsom Hospital, Social Care and CSH Surrey staff. It will provide same day 
diagnostic and integrated support to return home, where required. A simulation 
event with local residents and staff will be undertaken ahead of the service 
starting. The service started on 9 November 2015 and will be continuously 
evaluated to test its benefit for residents and its effectiveness. 

38. Community HUBs provide proactive care from an integrated health and social 
care service. This is initially for people over 75 years and will then be rolled out 
for those over 65 years and the wider population. The Hubs consist of staff 
from CSH Surrey and Adult Social Care who will be co-located. This service 
was launched in East Elmbridge in the summer of this year, with planning 
underway for an Epsom service in the autumn and Dorking in the spring of 
2016.   

CONSULTATION: 

39. Consultation on the development of local plans has been on-going through the 
Better Care Fund process.  

40. As local plans are developed consultation on specific changes have and will be 
undertaken in the local area, with particular focus on local residents. 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

41.  The following high levels risks and mitigations have been identified. A full risk 
register will be developed for each of the areas as part of formal project 
management: 

Risk Mitigation 

Financial: Ability to appropriately 
disaggregate Adult Social care 
budgets. Need to equitably share 
financial risk 

Sound systems currently in place, as 
a starting point 

Strong accountability 

Good relationships in place 

Page 119

11



8 

 

Workforce: Ability to develop the skills 
required for an integrated workforce 

Development of workforce integration 
strategy 

Detailed workforce analysis and 
training programme 

Governance: Ability to meet the 
Governance requirements for the 
organisations involved 

Clear assurance mechanisms to be 
established 

Communication & Engagement: 
Ability to consult with, inform and 
engage a diverse range of 
stakeholders 

Early planning and appropriate 
resource allocated 

Reputation: Ability to achieve a 
smooth transition to the new way of 
working  - failure could impact on the 
Surrey-wide reputation and impact 
development of other areas 

Assurance mechanisms in place at 
key milestones throughout the 
transformation allowing early 
feedback on issues and remedial 
action to be put in place 

Capacity: Ability to appropriate skills 
at the right time to achieve the 
programme, particularly at pace. 

Formal project planning approach to 
identify requirements at each stage 

 

Financial and Value for Money Implications  

42. There are no direct immediate financial implications arising from this report.  
The financial implications of specific integration plans will be considered as part 
of the development of business cases for each proposal for the relevant local 
system. 

43. A key decision of any integration proposals will be whether to pool funds across 
health and social care.  The Better Care Fund has been the first step in this 
journey, with £65.5m of revenue and £5.9m of capital funding pooled across 
Surrey’s health and social care system for 2015/16.  As part of considering 
whether to pool funds beyond the Better Care Fund, it will be important to 
ensure that funds are only pooled for services that will be directly impacted by 
integration plans.  It will be equally important to ensure that there is a clear 
agreement about how financial risks are shared across the whole system for 
any funds that are pooled. 

 

Section 151 Officer Commentary  

44. The Section 151 Officer supports the overall health and social care integration 
agenda as it will enable better use of resources across the whole system to 
create improved and more efficient services for residents. 

Page 120

11



  
 

45. The efficacy of specific integration proposals will be judged based on whether 
there are robust business cases that demonstrate that the proposals represent 
best value for the whole system and also ensure that the Council’s financial 
position is safeguarded in the process of integration. 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer 

46. The Care Act 2014 places a duty on local authorities to promote and encourage 
the integration of health and social care provision, with the aim of joining up 
services. The Council's Health and Wellbeing Board also has a statutory duty 
to encourage integrated working. This report sets out how the Council is 
working with the Surrey CCGs to meet these duties. 

47. In developing specific plans for integration there will be a wide range of 
arrangements with differing legal implications that will need to be considered on 
a case by case basis. Arrangements for authorising the various plans are 
included in the report and members should note that, wherever necessary, the 
Council's processes for procurement and for making key decisions will be 
followed. 

Equalities and Diversity 

48. An equalities impact assessment would be required for any aspect of service or 
policy change relating to the local integration of health and social care services. 
If Cabinet approve the recommendations a full Equalities Impact assessment 
will be completed for relevant changes in each area. This will be an on-going 
process, with the assessments updated as work progresses.  

Safeguarding responsibilities for vulnerable children and adults implications 

49. The further integration of health and social care services will support the 
safeguarding of vulnerable Surrey residents. More joined up service delivery by 
organisations will aid the identification and support of people vulnerable to 
abuse and enhance consistency of approach and training to safeguarding 
issues. 

Public Health implications 

50.  Integration across health and social care will support and promote the health of 
the Surrey population, more closely aligning outcomes and resources. 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

51. Dependent upon the Cabinets approval of the recommendation: 

 Plans will be further developed for the integration of health and social 
care, with particular focus on the North East Hampshire and Farnham 
areas 

 Defining the pooled budget in each area , financial management 
arrangements and governance will be key elements of the initial phase of 
work 

Page 121

11



10 

 On-going monitoring of progress with be outlined in the monthly budget 
monitoring report to Cabinet 

 Where appropriate, the Cabinet will receive a further report requesting 
approval for any key decisions 

 
Contact Officer:  
Jean Boddy, Area Director for Farnham and Surrey Heath, Adult Social Care 
Tel: 01483 518474 
 
Consulted: 
Internal Surrey County Council representative officers from: 
 
Finance 
Legal 
 
Public Health 
Adult Social Care 
 
External:  
Representatives from the Clinical Commissioning Groups 
 

 

Page 122

11



respect trust listen responsible 

Flexibility 

Workforce 

equity 

Behaviours 

Growing 

expertise 

Systems 

We will identify opportunities to enhance the skills 

of our staff to support the movement of skills and 

resources across health and social care disciplines 

  

We will review new and changed roles against our 

job evaluation framework to ensure work is 

rewarded appropriately and consistently. 

Involvement 

We will encourage the development of tailored ways 

of working and models of delivery that optimise the 

strengths and resources of each area. 

We will work with partners to develop systems that 

support and enable integrated ways of working.  

We will involve staff in the development of new 

ways of working and delivering our services. 

Local services designed for local people 

We are committed to supporting each area with the freedom and 

flexibility to shape their health and social services around the local 

population. To enable this, we have agreed 6 core principles to 

provide a framework for workforce integration. 

 

Delivering the vision 

To realise the directorate vision and meet the 

demographic, policy reform and financial challenges 

ahead, we need a strategic shift in the way Adult Social 

Care delivers services and a refocus of available 

resources.  

 

What will this look like? 

 Joined up health and social care services centred 

around the individual, not organisational boundary. 

 A shift from countywide models of delivery to local 

services designed to meet the needs of local people. 

 Shared resources and skills to better meet individual 

needs. 

 New models of delivery in collaboration with health and 

other partners. 

 High quality, cost effective and sustainable services 

designed around people and local communities. 
 

Adult Social Care - A strategy for workforce integration 

Adult Social Care Directorate strategy vision for 17/18 

Work collaboratively with our partners to ensure people 

have choice and control, so they can maximise their 

wellbeing and independence in their local community and 

remain safe. 

As a leadership team, we will share progress, knowledge 

and ideas with one another to ensure our local plans are 

consistent with these principles.  

We will have individuals working in a variety of 

different models who all provide services to 

residents in a way that embodies the behaviours 

and values of the council. 

P
age 123

11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HEALTH AND WELLBEING IN FARNHAM 

PROPOSED WAY FORWARD 

 

 

 

The North East Hampshire and Farnham health and social care system have been selected as a 
national Vanguard site to test new integrated models of care.  Good progress has already been 

made in Farnham with developments such as an operational Integrated Care Team, Farnham 
Making Connections scheme and local people recruited as community ambassadors.  This is a 
trailblazer for Surrey and the only Vanguard site within the Surrey County Council boundaries. 

 
Health and social care is complex with organisations responsible for planning health and social 

care for Farnham being separate.  Our objectives and priorities are similar but not fully aligned, 

we have separate budgets and work to separate rules. However the health and care needs of 

Farnham residents are not separate. We don’t always fully meet their needs or expectations and 

we can be inefficient.  Delayed transfers of care for people leaving hospital is a good example– 

some vulnerable people don’t always get the care they need in a timely way as well as causing 

financial and operational system pressure. 
 

We propose bringing together organisations responsible for planning & providing health and social 

care for Farnham with local people to create a single plan & budget for health and care delivery in 

Farnham. Providers of health & care are already working to integrate service delivery, this will 

help them go further & faster. The opportunities brought about by devolution will also be aligned 

with our collective work.  This will bring about significant change and enable this part of Surrey to 

be at the national forefront of health & care integrated working. 
 

The aims of this group of organisations working together will be: 
 
 Improved health and wellbeing of population of Farnham 
 Improved experiences of using health and social care services 

 Assessing together the needs of the population 
 Better coordination and value of public funds 
 Creating single commissioning and single health & social care budget 

 Measuring system wide success 
 Working in equal partnership with the local community 

 Problem solving sessions on system wide pressures 
 Joined up health and care services 

 
As we come together, our first objective will be to ensure that we have no Farnham residents 

waiting to come back home after a stay in hospital this winter – in other words, no delayed 

transfers of care.  This will be a significant national achievement. 
 

To make this work, we need strong leadership and partnership working between health and social 

care, clinicians and elected members, the County and Borough Councils and the Community itself. 
 
 
 
Sarah McBride                                                     Jean Boddy 

                                                           
Director of Commissioning and Delivery                    Area Director, Adult and Social Care 

North East Hampshire and Farnham                         Surrey County Council 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

  Page 125

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF: MRS HELYN CLACK, CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING 
AND HEALTH 

 

 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

 
MRS LINDA KEMENY, CABINET MEMBER FOR SCHOOLS, 
SKILLS AND EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT 
 
 
JULIE FISHER, DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
HELEN ATKINSON, DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

 

SUBJECT: THE PROCUREMENT PROCESS FOR COMMUNITY HEALTH 
SERVICES 

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
The integration of health and social care is a key strategy for Surrey County Council 
and its partners to improve outcomes for residents and enhance the sustainability of 
the whole system. Public Health is part of this system and commission a range of 
services for adults and children that are key to delivering better health and wellbeing 
outcomes. 
 
This report outlines the commissioning and procurement process for Community 
Health Services that is taking place across Surrey. Final contract award is anticipated 
to take place in August 2016 and will include services that are commissioned by the 
Council – including School Nursing and Health Visiting. This will assist with the 
integration of health and social care. 
 
There are a number of recommendations that Cabinet is asked to approve to 
progress with the procurement of these services. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that the Cabinet: 

 
1. Approves a procurement process with the NHS for Health Visiting, School 

Nursing, Parent Infant Mental Health and CAHMS Community Nurses and 
include these within the Associate Commissioner arrangement between Surrey 
County Council and the six Clinical Commissioning Groups in Surrey, as set 
out in paragraphs 9 and 10. The process will be led by North West Surrey 
Clinical Commissioning Group with the Council as a key partner. 

2. Grant approval to council officers to negotiate contract extensions with East 
Surrey CCG and First Community Health and Care for the provision of Health 
Visiting and School Nursing services.  

3. Approves the award of new contracts with each of the Community Health 

Page 127

12

Item 12



2 

Service providers for the provision of CAMHS Community Nursing and Parent 
Infant Mental Health Services, from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2017.  

4. To agree delegation of decision making authority to the Strategic Director in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Health and the Head 
of Procurement to sit on the Committee in Common, to be involved in the 
determination of the procurement and tendering process and to award the 
contracts for the above services.  

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

Commissioning and procuring NHS and public health services jointly will help to 
provide a seamless service for users and carers and reflects the synergies that exist 
between the services commissioned by the Clinical Commissioning Groups and the 
Council. Whilst North West Surrey Clinical Commissioning Group will lead the 
process the Council is a key partner due to the services included in the procurement. 

 

Delegating decision making authority to the Strategic Director in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Health and Head of Procurement, as part of a 
Committee in Common will allow for decisions on the procurement of Community 
Health Services in Surrey, to be made collectively with Clinical Commissioning 
Groups in line with the procurement time frames. All key decisions in the 
procurement process will follow the County Council’s due process, and where 
required will be reported back or brought to the Cabinet for decision.   

 

Aligning the timeframes for the commissioning and procurement of these services will 
address the issue of current contract expiry for the CAMHS Community Nurse 
Services and Parent Infant Mental Health Services delivered by the three Community 
Health Providers. It will also reduce the need to go out to market on multiple 
occasions. 

 

DETAILS: 

Community Health Procurement Process 

1. The transfer of Public Health into local authorities and the establishment of 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in April 2013 meant that some 
historical commissioning and contracting arrangements between the now 
dissolved Primary Care Trust and local Community Health providers transferred 
to the successor bodies. 

2. In Surrey these arrangements resulted in the Council becoming ‘Associate 
Commissioners’ to the overall Community Health service contracts held by the 
CCGs for Public Health services such as School Nursing, Sexual Health and 
recently Health Visiting. 

3. By the 31 March 2017 two of the three Community Health Provider contracts 
(Virgin Care Services Limited and First Community Health and Care) will have 
reached their end point with the third (Central Surrey Health) expiring on 31 
March 2018. It is therefore necessary to start the procurement process for 
future provision of Community Health Services. 

Page 128

12



   3 

4. The Community Services Procurement Programme Board has been 
established to oversee the process and is made up of two members at 
executive level from the Council and each of the 6 Clinical Commissioning 
Groups in Surrey. The Community Services Procurement Board has oversight 
and provides governance to the overall procurement process. It will defer to the 
proposed Committee in Common for three key approvals that will be required 
as part of the procurement process (these are detailed in paragraph 11 of this 
paper).   

Services to be included within the procurement 

5. A full list of services currently being considered as part of the procurement 
process is provided in Annex A. It includes services for both children and 
adults. 

6. We have considered which of the services the Council currently commission as 
Associate Commissioners with the CCGs, should remain in this procurement 
process.  These are set out in the table below and also include two services 
(CAMHS community nursing and Parent Infant Mental Health Service) not 
currently part of the Associate Commissioner arrangement.  

7. These services are earmarked for the Community Health Service procurement 
in order to ensure alignment between Council commissioned services and 
those services commissioned by the CCGs.  

Services commissioned by SCC provided by the Community Health Services. 

Services to remain within the jointly 
led procurement process 

Services SCC will independently 
procure 

Health Visiting 
School Nursing 
Family Nurse Partnership 
CAMHS community school nurses  
Parent Infant Mental Health Services. 

All Sexual Health Services 
Needle Exchange and  
Community Pharmacy for Supervised 
Consumption  
 

 
8. The Council has recently agreed the procurement process for a new 0-25 years 

Speech and Language Therapy service as well as Specialist School Nursing. 
These will continue separately to the wider Community Health Services 
procurement, outlined in this paper.  

Associate Commissioning Arrangements  
 
9. Options for the future commissioning and contracting arrangements for these 

services are: 

I. To remain as Associate Commissioners to wider CCG NHS Health 
Contracts and procure services jointly with the CCGs.   

II. To become lead commissioners for the relevant services and procure 
these independently of the CCGs.  

III. To procure jointly with other Local Authorities.   
 
10. The table below provides a full appraisal of the possible routes to market. 

Option 1 is the preferred option because it promotes integration between 
Health and Social care and supports both local and national strategic direction. 

 

Page 129

12



4 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 

OPTION 1: Joint 
procurement with 
the NHS as an 
Associate 
Commissioner to 
the NHS 
Community 
Contract. 

Facilitates a seamless service for 
users and carers and reflects the 
synergies that exist between the 
services commissioned by the 
CCGs and the Council 

Supports the Council’s Strategic 
Goals of ‘Wellbeing’ and 
‘Resident Experience’ 

Creates economies of scale and 
increases the purchasing power 
of the commissioning 
organisations 

Efficient use of resources (mainly 
people) across the sector 

Throughout the 
procurement agreement 
will be by consensus and 
may be difficult for the 
Council to influence the 
direction of the 
procurement. 

 

The Council will have to 
delegate decision making 
authority in order for the 
procurement to be fully 
effective 

OPTION 2: SCC 
procure services 
directly 

The Council are in control and 
able to make decisions without 
reference to other commissioners 

 

Procuring directly would 
still require close working 
with NHS colleagues to 
ensure care pathways 
have appropriate hand 
over points – this would be 
harder to achieve outside 
of a joint procurement 

It would be harder for the 
Council to influence the 
NHS service specifications 

Is not in keeping with the 
national and local strategic 
direction with regard to the 
integration of Health and 
Social Care 

OPTION 3: SCC 
jointly procure with 
another LA 

This option has not been 
explored to date as it is felt that 
integration/joint procurement in 
this context  should focus on the 
NHS rather than other Local 
Authorities 

 

OPTION 4: Do 
nothing 

There are no advantages to this 
approach. All of the contracts are 
expiring and re-procurement is 
required in order to secure future 
service delivery (some service 
elements are mandated) 

The Council would be at 
risk of challenge if services 
continue to be delivered 
without formal contracts 
being put in place. 

 

 
 
Decision making process  
 
11. Three key approvals and decisions will be required as part of the procurement 

process which will require sign off by the organisations involved in the 
procurement of the Community Health Services (the CCGs and the Council). 

Page 130

12



   5 

I. Confirmation and approval of the scope of the procurement and 
process to be undertaken (January 2016). (This would normally be a 
Procurement Review Group decision at the Council). 

II. Confirmation and approval of the Invitation To Tender documentation 
(March 2016). (This would normally be a lead Procurement Officer 
decision at the Council). 

III. Approval of contract award (August 2016). (This would normally be a 
Cabinet decision). 
 

12. The preferred approach for these approvals to be made is to establish a 
Committee in Common that will allow for procurement timeframes to be met 
whilst each organisation involved in the Community Health Services 
procurement retains its own decision making authority. It is suggested that the 
Strategic Director, Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Health and Head of 
Procurement are the representatives from the Council on the Committee in 
Common. All key decisions in the procurement process will follow the County 
Council’s due process, and where required will be reported back or brought to 
the Cabinet for decision.   

13. A Committee in Common will include voting members from each of the 6 CCG 
Governing Bodies who, just as for representatives from the Council, would be 
given delegated powers of authority. Since each representative would have 
fully delegated powers from their organisation, each organisation would retain 
its own decision- making and accountability and therefore effectively have a 
veto in the Committee in Common.  

Aligning contracts with the three Community Health Providers 

14. There are different contract end dates for each of the three Community Health 
service providers. The Council commission services provided by the 
Community Health providers either as Associates to these contracts, with the 
CCGs, or directly. There are two steps that will need to take place to enable 
timeframes for services within these contracts to be aligned. 

15. The contract with First Community Health and Care, for the provision of School 
Nursing and Health Visiting, expires on the 30/09/2016. We request approval to 
negotiate a contract extension of 6 months (until March 2017) for these 
services to align with those of the wider Community Health services 
procurement. 

16. It is also necessary to ask for an award of new, back dated, contracts for two 
years with the option of further extension for one year with the three 
Community Health providers in Surrey, for the provision of CAMHS Community 
Nurses and Parent Infant Mental Health Services. The contracts came to an 
end on 31 March 2015 with no further scope to extend them.  

17. These services will be included in the future procurement of Community Health 
Services due to their alignment with the health visiting and school nursing 
services. However this will not start until 1 April 2017 and therefore there is the 
need to agree new contracts for CAMHS Community Nurses and Parent Infant 
Mental Health Services to cover the backdated period from 1 April 2015 
through to 31 March 2017. 

Page 131

12



6 

18. These two steps will allow for one procurement process to take place and 
enable these services to maintain pathways with interdependent services that 
are part of the wider Community Health Services procurement.   

CONSULTATION: 

19. Engagement activities with the public and providers regarding the procurement 
exercise that have already been undertaken are set out in the table below. The 
information arising from these engagements is being shared with 
commissioners involved in the development of the services that are part of the 
procurement. Commissioners will build in, where appropriate, mechanisms that 
will address and improve issues raised as part of the engagement activities.  

Communications Activity 

Provider/Market warm up event 1 early October 2015 

CCG website content and notification to all Practices, Patient Groups and current 
providers  
Website information: http://www.nwsurreyccg.nhs.uk/Get-involved/community-
services-surrey/Pages/default.aspx 
(content provided by NWS CCG for editing as appropriate by SCC and each 
CCG) 

Establish virtual comprehensive and relevant patient reference group to target 
Survey Monkey specific questions  
(collective activity managed by NWS CCG but distributed by SCC and each 
CCG) 

GP engagement via Locality Meetings in October and November 
(independent activity per CCG; content provided by NWS CCG) 

Service User Event 1 – end October 
(independent activity per CCG; invitation and content provided by NWS CCG, 
jointly Chaired by NWSCCG and SCC) 

Service User Event 2 – mid-end November 
(independent activity per CCG; invitation and content provided by NWS CCG 
jointly Chaired by NWSCCG and SCC) 

Provider Event 2 – Early November 
(collective activity managed by NWS CCG jointly Chaired by NWSCCG and 
SCC) 

Provider Event 3 – End of November  
Focusing on Children’s Services. (collective activity managed by NWS CCG 
jointly Chaired by GWCCG and SCC) 

HOSC and Health & Wellbeing Board Meetings 

Newsletter content 

Twitter 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 132

12

http://www.nwsurreyccg.nhs.uk/Get-involved/community-services-surrey/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.nwsurreyccg.nhs.uk/Get-involved/community-services-surrey/Pages/default.aspx


   7 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

Category Risk Description Mitigation Activity 

Financial 

Cost of service does not 
deliver quality outcomes 
expected. 

The price of the contracts is capped and the 
Community Health Providers will be 
expected to manage demand and quality, 
performance and waiting time targets within 
the ceiling of the annual contract price. 

Any under spend at end of year against the 
contract value will be reimbursed 
proportionally to SCC and CCGs. 

Potential risk that during 
the life of the contract the 
community health 
providers will request an 
inflationary increase 
against the annual 
service delivery cost. 

There will be no year on year adjustment for 
growth as this will have been stated in the 
contracts. 

The price of the contracts will be capped 
and therefore the provider will be expected 
to manage demand, quality, performance 
and waiting time targets within the ceiling of 
the annual contract price. 

Any under spend at end of year against the 
contract value will be reimbursed 
proportionally to SCC and CCGs. 

The financial envelope 
may be subject to change 
due to differences in 
service delivery or 
required savings. 

The financial envelope provided is the 
maximum available.  

 

Reputational 

Stakeholders may not 
have confidence in the 
selected Community 
Health Services to deliver 
against the service 
specifications. 

Surrey County Council will work with Family 
Voice, CAMHS Rights and Participation 
Team and CCG public and patient groups. 

Page 133

12



8 

 

Financial and Value for Money Implications  

20. The total annual value of the Community Services procurement is 
approximately £91 million. The Council’s budget for services included in the 
procurement is currently £14.7m, equivalent to £103m over a possible 7 years 
contract term. The actual funding will be confirmed when the contracts are 
awarded. 

21. Any administrative cost of the procurement process will need to be met within 
the £14.7m annual budget. 

22. The finance for the contract variation for First Community Health and Care to 
continue to provide Health Visiting and School Nursing services until 31 March 
2017 is £1,307,500. 

23. The total cost of the new contract awards for the CAMHS community nursing 
and PIMH service is £858,000. This relates to the total possible time period of 
two years with the option of further extension for one year. 

a. Both of these services are funded from the CAMHS Pooled Budget, which is 
managed by the Council. The services will be commissioned as part of the 
Community Health services procurement rather than the full CAMHS 
procurement due to how these two services align with Health Visiting and 
School Nursing. 

24. Services are funded from ongoing revenue budget and ring-fenced grant.  As 
such there are no new financial implications as this will be an extension of 
services at current budgeted levels. 

 

 

 

Service 
Delivery 

Quality of service 
delivered does not meet 
objectives and needs. 

Strong contract management and joint 
contract review meetings will be established 
and will call the Providers to account.   

They will be required to produce remedial 
action plans within agreed timescales as 
per the remedial clauses with the standard 
NHS terms of contract 

In addition should under performance 
continue the standard NHS contracts 
include termination for breach of contract 
and non-performance.  

Procurement 
Process  

Challenge that the new 
contracts are not 
appropriate  

Working with the CCGs, Council officers will 
make sure that the procurement process is 
compliant and carried out in a timely 
manner with appropriate service 
specifications and performance monitoring. 

Page 134

12



   9 

Section 151 Officer Commentary  

25. The Section 151 Officer confirms that all relevant financial implications have 
been considered.  This proposal represents the best option to commission an 
integrated service that offers value for money and will make a significant 
contribution in delivering the Council's strategic objective to improve the 
health of Surrey's residents. 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer 

26. The Council has a duty to secure best value and to comply with relevant 
statutory provision in the way in which it procures services.  The Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 requires greater integration and co-ordination between 
health and social care organisations in carrying out its functions.  The 
procurement process outlined in this report supports these objectives. 

Equalities and Diversity 

27. On advice from the Council’s EIA leads an EIA is not required at this point in 
the procurement process as there are currently no proposed service changes. 

Corporate Parenting/Looked After Children implications 

28. The Community Health Services Procurement will include the CCG 
commissioning of Looked After Children Health Team. This will ensure 
continued alignment with other services and uniform offer across Surrey. 

Safeguarding responsibilities for vulnerable children and adults implications 

29. Health Visitors and School Nurses have a direct role in providing a 
safeguarding function. This will be maintained as part of the Community 
Health Services procurement and will support the developing Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub. The CCG commissioned Safeguarding Children team will 
also be part of the Community Services Procurement. 

Public Health implications 

30. The services commissioned by Surrey County Council included within the 
Community Health Services contracts improve the following Public Health 
Outcomes: 

 Improving life expectancy and healthy life expectancy;  

 Reducing infant mortality;  

 Reducing low birth weight of term babies;  

 Reducing smoking at delivery;  

 Improving breastfeeding initiation;  

 Increasing breastfeeding prevalence at 6-8 weeks;  

 Improving child development at 2-2.5 years;  

 Reducing the number of children in poverty;  

 Improving school readiness;  

 Reducing under 18 conceptions;  

 Reducing excess weight in 4-5 and 10-11 year olds;  

 Reducing hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate 
injuries in children and young people aged 0-14;  

Page 135

12



10 

 Improving population vaccination coverage;  
 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

31. The broad timeframes for the Community Health Services commissioning and 
procurement are: 

September-November 
2015 

Engagement with primary care practices, services users 
and the public, potential bidders and other stakeholders 

September-November 
2015 

Development of service specifications 

December 2015 Review of draft Pre Qualifying Questionnaire, Invitation 
To Tender, specifications and contract 

January 2016 Release of the Pre Qualifying Questionnaire 

April 2016 Release of Invitation To Tender 

August 2016 Contract award 

from September 2016 Mobilisation and transition of services. 

 

32. The outcome of the recommendations made within this paper will be fed-back 
to the Community Health Services Procurement Board in early December. 
Should approval be given regarding the Council being a member of the 
Committee in Common this will first meet in January 2016. 

33. The Community Health Service providers will be notified of the new contract 
awards for the CAMHS Community Nurses and Parent Infant Mental Health 
Service soon after the November Cabinet meeting. Regular reports will come to 
Cabinet via the monthly finance reporting from Public Health and Children, 
Schools and Families.  

 
 

 
Contact Officer: 
Harriet Derrett-Smith Public Health Principal 
T: 020 8213 2549 
M: 0781 2660100 
 
Consulted: 
Internal 
Helen Atkinson Director of Public Health 
Ian Banner Head of Children's Social Care and Well-being Commissioning 
Anna Tobiasz (Kwiatkowska), Category Manager, Adults and Public Health 
Carmel McLoughlin, Principal Solicitor, Contracts Team  
Andrew Healey, Principal Accountant. 
William House, Finance Manager, Adult Social Care 
 
External 
Rachael Graham Programme Director NWSCCG 
Sarah Parker Director of Children’s Commissioning GWCCG 
 
 
 

Page 136

12



   11 

Annexes: 
 
Annex A: List of services currently being considered within the Community Health 
Services Procurement process. 
 
 

 

Page 137

12



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A 

List of services currently being considered within the Community Health Services 

Procurement process 

 Community hospitals 

 Rapid Response – Discharge Facilitation and Admission Avoidance 

 Community nursing 

 Community continence service 

 Intermediate care services 

 Community podiatry 

 Speech and language therapy 

 Community specialist nursing including but not limited to neuro rehab, cardiac, 

respiratory, diabetic, epilepsy, lymphoedema  

 Wheelchairs  

 Children's community nursing service 

 NHS funded children's continuing care  

 Community paediatric occupational therapy 

 Paediatric physiotherapy 

 Paediatric audiology 

 Paediatric diabetes nursing service 

 Paediatric epilepsy nursing  (PENS) 

 Paediatric speech and language therapy 

 Special school nursing 

 Youth counselling service 

 Immunisations for 0 to 19 year olds  

 Developmental paediatrician service  

 Health assessment service  

 HPV immunisation programme 

 Meningitis C immunisation Programme 

 

Those commissioned by SCC 

 Health visiting  for 0 to 5 year olds 

 School nursing for 5 to 19 year olds 

 CAMHS School Nursing 

 Parent Infant Mental Health 

 Family Nurse Partnership 

 

Page 139

12



This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF: MRS HELYN CLACK, CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING 
AND HEALTH 

 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

 
 
HELEN ATKINSON, DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 
DAVID SARGEANT, STRATEGIC DIRECTOR  ADULT SOCIAL 
CARE, WELLBEING AND INDEPENDENCE 
 
 
 

SUBJECT: EAST SURREY INTEGRATED REABLEMENT UNIT 

 
 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
This report outlines a proposal to create a ‘beacon’ service for a new Integrated 
Reablement Unit and specialist elderly frail service as part of the health and social 
care system transformation in East Surrey 
 
The integration of health and social care is a key strategic priority for Surrey County 
Council and its partners to improve outcomes for residents and enhance the 
sustainability of the whole system. The proposal to develop the Integrated 
Reablement Unit highlights the partnership working that is taking place between 
Surrey County Council and the NHS. 
 
The timing of this provision is very important to being able to manage the increase in 
demand associated with winter and the additional pressure this creates on health and 
social care services.  
 
The Integrated Reablement Unit would contribute to the Council’s corporate 
Wellbeing objective by supporting older people to be discharged from hospital 
appropriately and live independently in the community. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that the Cabinet: 

 
1) Approves Surrey County Council’s initial investment of £1.7m in an Integrated 

Reablement Unit on the East Surrey Hospital site in Redhill operated by Surrey 
and Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust. 

2) Delegates authority to the Strategic Director for Adult Social Care Wellbeing and 
Independence, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and 
Health, to approve legal arrangements to develop and bring the Integrated 
Reablement Unit into operation. 

Page 141

13

Item 13



2 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The provision of an Integrated Reablement Unit in East Surrey will provide an 
improved process for discharge from hospital and enable Surrey and Sussex 
Healthcare NHS Trust (SaSH), East Surrey Clinical Commissioning Group (ES CCG) 
and Surrey County Council (SCC) to make better use of their available resources. It 
will be the first step in system transformation in East Surrey to provide a better 
service to Surrey residents. The creation of the unit will release immediate financial 
savings for the health system and is anticipated to achieve cost avoidance for the 
County Council. 
 
The Integrated Reablement Unit will allow people to receive an intense rehabilitation 
service which will enable greater independence on discharge. This will in turn ensure 
that more can be delivered for less cost but with improved outcomes, helping to 
maximise efficiency across both Health and Social Care.  
 
Developing the unit at pace will mean that it will be ‘up and running’ in time to help 
support the health and social care system with ‘winter pressures’.  During the winter 
months there is increasing demand on services, especially bed capacity at East 
Surrey Hospital. This Unit will ensure people receive a timely assessment which will 
provide an individual support plan detailing need and how this will be met.  
 
All people transferred to the Integrated Reablement Unit will be medically fit for 
discharge from the acute wards. Transferring to the Integrated Reablement Unit will 
reduce the risk of further infections, consequently reducing the risk of increased 
length of stay for people in a hospital environment. Discharge processes will be more 
streamlined, which would provide better out comes for people.  
 
The Integrated Reablement Unit will enable Health and Social Care to work 
collaboratively together to provide the best possible outcomes for East Surrey 
residents.     
 
 

DETAILS: 

1. As part of the transformational integration of health and social care planned 
across Surrey, it is proposed that a new integrated reablement unit is created 
on the site of East Surrey Hospital (ESH) in Redhill. The facility will be one of 
the first of its kind in the country and will enable people who are medically 
ready to be discharged to be moved out of acute hospital beds and placed in 
the unit for a short period of time while appropriate arrangements are put in 
place for their ongoing care. 

2. Improving the wellbeing of Surrey’s residents is the primary focus of the 
prevention strategy being implemented across the health and social care 
system.  The creation of the integrated reablement unit will help to achieve 
some of the key aspects of this prevention strategy such as reducing patients’ 
length of stay in acute hospital settings, enabling people to live more 
independently following discharge and in so doing reduce rates of re-admission 
back into hospital. 

3. The new unit will have a 22 bed capacity.  Currently there are on average 30-
35 people from Surrey medically ready to be discharged at ESH on any given 
day who have to stay in an acute bed while appropriate arrangements are put 
in place for their ongoing care.  The new unit will therefore alleviate the majority 

Page 142

13



   3 

of the current delays for Surrey patients medically ready for discharge.  This will 
improve the patient experience, significantly reduce the costs of administering 
and paying fines for delayed discharges and also reduce acute staffing costs. 

4. A care provider will be commissioned to run the new unit operationally and 
provide core day to day care services for the individuals residing in it.  The 
revenue operating costs of the unit will be paid by ES CCG out of the savings 
that will be delivered for them as a result of the unit’s creation. 

5. In addition to the core care services, health rehabilitation and social care 
reablement will be made available to individuals where relevant to support them 
in their future care pathway.  These services will be provided from within 
existing community health and social care reablement resources.  The 
additional support provided in the unit will enable people to live more 
independently once they leave the unit, which is fundamentally better for their 
wellbeing and also means that in many cases they should require a lower 
funded care package than had they remained in acute hospital beds. 

6. The creation of the unit will enable SaSH to redevelop 22 acute beds in the 
hospital and in doing so achieve cost savings, particularly in relation to agency 
staff that are currently required to operate the acute beds.  These savings will 
be reinvested to create two new specialist units in the hospital itself – an elderly 
frail unit and an end of stroke pathway unit.  Therefore the creation of the 
integrated reablement unit will not only ensure people who are medically ready 
for discharge are more appropriately supported while arrangements for their 
ongoing care are confirmed, it will also improve the care pathways of 
individuals who require specialist acute care. 

7. The construction of the integrated reablement unit will be managed by SaSH.  
A contractor with a proven track record in this field has already been 
commissioned to undertake the development work subject to final approval 
from all three organisations.  The unit will be a new modular building erected 
just beyond the east entrance to the hospital. SaSH is confident that the work 
can be completed within 20 weeks from the start date.  As the work has already 
begun and is progressing without issues, it is anticipated that the works will be 
completed by the end of January 2016.  A proportion of the acute beds planned 
to be redeveloped as a result of the creation of the unit will be temporarily kept 
open to deal with pressures over the winter period.  The new elderly frail unit 
will be opened no later than 1 April 2016, followed by the new end of stroke 
pathway unit in September 2016. 

8. SCC’s hospital care team who currently provide a seven days per week 8am to 
8pm service in ESH to conduct social care assessments and facilitate 
discharge of patients, will be part of integrated discharge team responsible for 
who is admitted into the integrated reablement unit.  This will ensure that only 
patients medically ready for discharge and with suitable care needs that could 
be enhanced by the rehabilitation and reablement services on offer in the unit 
will be admitted. 

CONSULTATION: 

9. All of the relevant key stakeholders of SCC, SaSH and ES CCG have been 
consulted as part of the development of plans for the creation of the integrated 
reablement unit.  The creation of the unit has been signed off by the governing 

Page 143

13



4 

bodies of SaSH and ES CCG and is now awaiting final sign off by SCC’s 
Cabinet so that the project can proceed. 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS: 

Category Risk Description Mitigation Activity 

Financial 

The construction costs of the unit 
could exceed the £2.6m financial 
envelope agreed, requiring 
additional investment leading to 
a request for further funding from 
SCC 

Costs have been validated with 
SaSH and the memorandum of 
understanding / agreement that 
will be signed off for the project 
will make it clear that SCC’s 
investment is limited to £1.7m.  As 
part of this, SaSH have already 
agreed to cover any cost overrun 
on the construction. 

There is a risk that ES CCG’s 
share of the construction costs 
that SCC is initially funding is not 
repaid to SCC 

A timeframe for repayment of 
SCC’s investment will be set 
which ES CCG are committed to 
honour 

It may not be possible to 
evidence cost avoidance benefits 
to SCC as a direct result of the 
creation of the unit 

Work is underway to identify case 
studies that clearly show that cost 
avoidance savings should be 
secured as a result of people’s 
ongoing care needs being 
reduced because of their stay in 
the unit.   
Subject to these case studied 
being identified, a clear 
methodology will be established to 
track these cost avoidance 
savings from when the unit 
becomes operational 
 

Reputational 

There is a risk that if we do not 
proceed with this development 
our reputation and relationship 
with the East Surrey Health 
economy will be damaged 

Maintain open dialogue with all 
partners expressing views at all 
stages 

Service 
Delivery 

Change in work, with expectation 
of managing front door of the 
service as well as current 
assessment work within the 
hospital 

Establish joint training programme 
for staff.  

Legal 
It may prove difficult to agree 
suitable legal arrangements to 
enable the project to proceed 

Ensure the funding and operation 
arrangements of the unit are 
clearly set out in the legal 
agreement and signed off by all 
parties so that SCC’s investment 
is clearly safeguarded  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 144

13



   5 

Financial and Value for Money Implications 

10. The construction of the integrated reablement unit is estimated to cost £2.6m.  
Costs have been calculated by SaSH who are managing the construction and 
have experience of creating similar care settings.  The capital construction 
costs will be funded equally by SaSH, ES CCG and SCC – i.e. each 
organisation will contribute £0.86m towards the unit’s construction.  SaSH will 
meet any construction costs over and above the £2.6m estimate. 

11. In recognition of the ES CCG’s current challenging financial position, it is 
proposed that SCC initially pays £1.7m to SaSH, covering both the Council’s 
and ES CCG’s share of the capital investment.  Arrangements will be made for 
ES CCG to repay their share of the investment (£0.86m) to SCC out of the 
savings they secure once the unit is operational.  The terms of the repayment 
will be agreed as part of the legal agreement to be established. 

12. SCC will fund the £1.7m investment through borrowing at an annual cost of 
£131,000 assuming a 25 year life of the asset. 

13. The creation of the unit is expected to deliver the following efficiencies across 
the whole health and social care system: 

a. SaSH will avoid additional agency staffing costs as result of the 
redevelopment of 22 acute beds. The introduction of this unit creates the 
capacity to develop the specialist elderly frail and end of stroke pathway units 
within the hospital as outlined above.  This will deliver savings from the 
commissioning spend. There will also be a reduced administrative burden in 
issuing delayed discharge fines to ES CCG. 

b. Nationally all CCGs are required to pay a £250 per day delayed discharge 
fine to NHS hospital trusts for anyone who is assessed as medically ready for 
discharge but who has to stay in an acute bed until appropriate 
arrangements can be made for their ongoing care.  ES CCG will therefore 
save over £2m in delayed discharge fines that are currently paid to SaSH for 
people who in the future will be able to placed temporarily in the integrated 
reablement unit rather than remain in acute beds. 

c. It is anticipated that cost avoidance savings will be achieved for SCC as a 
result of people being discharged from hospital with lower social care needs 
(and therefore requiring cheaper packages of care) having passed through 
the new integrated reablement unit rather than remaining in acute hospital 
beds. 

14. It is estimated that the unit will cost in the region of £0.7m - £1m per year to 
operate.  These revenue running costs will be paid by ES CCG out of the 
savings they will accrue from no longer paying delayed discharge fines.  ES 
CCG, in consultation with SCC and SaSH, will lead a procurement exercise to 
commission a care provider to operate the unit on behalf of all of the funding 
bodies. 

Section 151 Officer Commentary  

15. The Section 151 Officer supports the development of an integrated reablement 
unit to assist demand management across the health and social care system in 
East Surrey.  Although the main financial benefit to SCC is cost avoidance 

Page 145

13



6 

savings, it is recognised that this initiative is a key aspect of the strategic 
priority of health and social care integration. 

16. The legal agreement that protects the Council’s investment and ensures that 
the funds are used for the project is intended is regarded as essential by the 
Section 151 Officer. 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer 

17. The Council has a statutory duty to promote and encourage the integration of 
health and social care, with the aim of joining up services. This report concerns 
one such project to provide integrated care at East Surrey Hospital.  

18. Legal arrangements will need to be put in place to protect the Council’s 
investment and ensure the funds are used for the project as intended. 
Proposals are included in the report for delegated authority to approve these 
arrangements following further discussion between the partners. 

Equalities and Diversity 

19. Pending Cabinet approval, a full equalities impact assessment will be 
completed. It is not anticipated that there will be any detrimental impact on 
people with protected characteristic by developing the integrated reablement 
unit.  

Safeguarding responsibilities for vulnerable children and adults implications 

20. It is anticipated that the development of the integrated reablement unit will have 
a positive impact on vulnerable people in this area of Surrey, particularly older 
people with support needs. This development will contribute to older people 
being supported back into the community appropriately and maximise their 
independence. 

Public Health implications 

21. The integrated rehabilitation unit will support a number of public health 
indicators including: 

 Reducing emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital  

 Health-related quality of life for older people  

 Reducing excess winter deaths  

 Increasing diagnosis rate for people with dementia 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

22. If the recommendations set out above are approved by the Cabinet then the 
following actions will be taken: 

 SCC will make arrangements to borrow £1.7m of capital resources and pay 
this to SaSH. 

 SaSH will proceed with completion of the construction of the unit. 

 ES CCG will conduct a tender process and award a contract to a care 
provider to operate the unit. 

Page 146

13



   7 

 A legal agreement will be drawn up to formalise the ownership, funding and 
ongoing operation of the unit.   

 Arrangements will be made for the repayment of £0.86m of SCC’s initial 
investment by ES CCG. 

 The new integrated reablement care unit will be opened following completion 
of construction works and procurement of an appropriate care provider.  The 
target opening date is February 2016. 

 If activity remains the same, SaSH will close the 22 acute beds enabling them 
to develop the elderly frail unit planned to be opened by April 2016 and an 
end of stroke pathway unit planned to be opened in September 2016. 

 Metrics will be agreed and measured to determine the success of the unit.  
This will help to inform further integration plans and could lead to the creation 
of similar units elsewhere in Surrey if there is clear evidence of strong 
performance for this particular unit. 

 

 
Contact Officer: 
Jo Poynter, Adult Social Care Area Director for East Surrey 
T: 01372 833182 
M: 07794 034773 
 
Consulted: 
David McNulty, Chief Executive Surrey County Council 
William House, Finance Manager for Adult Social Care 
Sarah Baker, Group Manager Children, Education and Adults Group, Legal and 
Democratic Services Surrey County Council 
Elaine Jackson, Chief Executive Officer East Surrey Clinical Commissioning Group 
Richard Bates, Interim Chief Finance Officer East Surrey Clinical Commissioning 
Group 
Michael Wilson, Chief Executive Surrey and Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust 
Paul Simpson, Chief Finance Officer Surrey and Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

Page 147

13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF:    MR MEL FEW, CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE, 
WELLBEING AND INDEPENDENCE 

 MS DENISE LE GAL, CABINET MEMBER FOR BUSINESS 
SERVICES AND RESIDENT EXPERIENCE 

 MRS LINDA KEMENY, CABINET MEMBER FOR SCHOOLS, 
SKILLS AND EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT 

LEAD  
OFFICER:          MR DAVID SARGEANT, STRATEGIC DIRECTOR, ADULT  
  SOCIAL CARE 
 
SUBJECT: APPROVAL TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION 

OF COMBINED SENSORY SERVICES AND FOR THE 
PROVISION OF MOBILITY AND INDEPENDENT LIVING SKILLS 

 

SUMMARY:  

 
This Cabinet report seeks approval to award a three year contract with an option to 
extend for up to two additional one year periods to Sight for Surrey for the provision 
of combined sensory services and mobility and independent living skills, to 
commence on 1 February 2016. Annual value of this contract is £1.5m. The report 
provides details of the procurement process, including the results of the evaluation, 
and, in conjunction with the Part 2 report demonstrates why the recommended award 
delivers value for money and meets the needs of individuals in Surrey. 
 
In line with the general responsibilities of local authorities under the Care Act 2014 
Surrey County Council must promote wellbeing of individuals, empowering adults 
and children to remain active in their local communities with support to access 
services and activities that help them sustain their independence. The Friends Family 
and Community agenda supports this. Key to this is the provision of appropriately 
commissioned services and access to information, advice and support to help 
individuals receive a timely diagnosis and community based support thereafter. 
These principles will be at the heart of the new contract for combined sensory 
services and mobility and independent living skills services that will be delivered to 
Surrey residents from 1 February 2016. 
 
Due to the commercial sensitivity involved in the contract award process, the Value 
for Money details have been included as a Part 2 report. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that a contract for the provision of combined sensory services and 
for the provision of mobility and independent living skills is awarded to Sight for 
Surrey starting from 1 February 2016 for a period of three years with an option to 
extend on an annual basis for two more years. 
 
 

Page 149

14

Item 14



REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The current separate contracts listed below are due to expire on 31 January 2016. 
 

A. Contract for the provision of services for people with visual impairments 
delivered by Sight for Surrey 

B. Contract for the provision of services for people with hearing impairments 
delivered by First Point 

The contract listed below expired on 31 October 2015 with temporary arrangements 
currently in place to ensure continued service delivery. 

 
C. Contract for provision of mobility and independent living skills delivered by 

Sight for Surrey   

A joint contract for adults and children’s demonstrates best practice and has the 
biggest potential to deliver improved outcomes for Surrey residents and will provide 
value for money.  
 
This joint contract will ensure that Surrey residents continue to receive a timely 
provision of service, and enable Surrey County Council to continue to meet its 
statutory duties to provide appropriate services to people with a visual impairment, 
hearing impairment, dual sensory loss, people who are Deaf, people who use British 
Sign Language, and to children for provision of mobility and independent living skills.  
 
 

DETAILS: 

Business Case 

1. Sensory services, for people with sight and/or hearing impairments, provide 
vital support to Surrey residents to maintain their independence at home 
through the provision of early intervention and prevention, specialist 
assessments and support, community equipment and adaptations, and can 
delay or avoid admission to hospital and residential/nursing care.  

2. The Council believes that combining visual and hearing impairment services 
across the County will improve outcomes for Surrey residents and value for 
money:  

a) Aim to ensure services are build around the needs of people and their 
families, rather than be separated to fit local authority structure  

b) Single point of contact, while retaining separate skills sets   

c) Improved links between health, social care, rehabilitation services and 
the voluntary sector around identification and notification of sensory 
impairment 

d) Commissioning and delivering high quality personalised, equitable, 
responsive and affordable services that reflect the needs and wishes of 
people with sensory impairment at their families 

Page 150

14



e) Ensuring equitable access to a range of services which are integrated 
across settings, professions and organisations 

f) Achieving outcomes which make a real difference to the lives of people 
with sensory impairments 

Above outcomes will help people with sensory impairments to live as 
independently as possible.  

Doing this will support the personalisation agenda and help the Council. By 
combining these services will enable timely assessment and intervention that 
can reduce ongoing care needs. 

3. This contract will ensure the rights of Surrey’s most vulnerable sight and 
hearing impaired residents are protected and promoted and that children and 
young people in Surrey with visual impairment will have access to assessment 
and habilitation, specialist assessment, information, support and advice for 
children and their parents, as well as mobility and independent living skills 
programmes. 

Background and options considered 

4. Two commissioning strategies informed the re-commissioning process.  

a) Adults Joint Commissioning Strategy 

b) Children’s Commissioning Strategy 

5. The Adults Joint Commissioning Strategy provides an overview of the proposed 
service developments for adults living in Surrey who are profoundly deaf, are 
Deaf and use British Sign Language, who are hearing impaired, sight impaired, 
severely sight impaired or who have dual sensory loss.  The aim of all services 
is to provide sensory impaired people with appropriate support and resources 
to maintain and/or improve their health and wellbeing, enabling them to 
continue to live as independently as possible. 

6. The Surrey Children’s Commissioning Strategy aims to ensure all children have 
the right to the best education possible to equip them with the skills and 
knowledge they need for life. Also, the re-commissioning process undertaken 
ensures compliance with the requirements identified within the Special 
educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years 2014. It reflects 
the drive within the UK Vision 2020 Strategy 2013-2018 that Children and 
young people should be assured full access to the academic and habilitation 
(mobility and independence skills) curricula and equality of opportunity. From a 
Surrey perspective, the provision of habilitation also responds to the vision of 
the Children, Schools and Families directorate that "Every child and young 
person will be safe, healthy, creative, and have the personal confidence, skills 
and opportunities to contribute and achieve more than thought possible." 

7. We currently have separate services for people with hearing and visual 
impairment, provided to SCC residents by Sight for Surrey and First Point. 
These contracts are expiring on 31 January 2016; it was therefore necessary to 
start the procurement process for future provision of Sensory Services to 
Surrey residents. 

Page 151

14



8. Both Surrey County Council and NHS organisations in Surrey face significant 
financial challenges. Therefore, different options were considered in order to 
ensure that the newly commissioned services are cost effective and offer best 
value. New ways of working and providing services were explored. 

9. Options considered – Adult Services: 

A. Re-tender for two separate contracts for visual and hearing 
impairments – as per current arrangement. 
This option was discounted as was deemed inefficient, as some 
services (Dual Sensory Loss) could be covered by both contracts.   

B. Tender for a single contract for combined sensory services. 
Bringing visual and hearing impairments into one contract was 
considered a viable option, in line with the commissioning intentions, 
which recognized potential for delivering a better, more integrated and 
joined up service to Surrey residents. Opportunities for efficiencies 
and savings were also identified as part of the review.  

10. Options considered – Schools & Learning – Physical and Sensory Support 
Service : 

A. Bring services in-house - Assuming the staff would agree to be 
TUPE’d, which they may not, this may reduce cost slightly and bring it 
closer to the £105,000. However, it would impact negatively on a local 
Voluntary Care Service which provides not only habilitation services 
for Surrey but also a wider range of value and emotional support for 
Surrey families and Children and Young People with vision 
impairment. We would also lose the other links we have to their 
charitable activities and for the Children, young people and families to 
feel there is an ‘independent’ provider they can contact who will work 
with them across the transition from Children’s to Adult services. Also 
as one of the paediatric habilitation officers does not work only for 
Sight for Surrey we may find that we do not have sufficient trained and 
experienced staff who want to move.  

B. Tender for a single contract for the provision of mobility and 
independent living skills for children and young people. 
This was considered a viable option which was in line with Schools & 
Learning commissioning Strategy. 

11. Option recommended – joint process  

 
A. Tender for a single contract combining sensory services 

contracts for Adult’s and Schools & Learning’s requirements 
Procurement identified this option as having the biggest potential to 
deliver improved process, delivery and outcomes to Surrey residents. 
Market intelligence told us that the same providers often deliver 
Services to Adults and Children and would be interested in bidding for 
Adults and Children’s contracts. By integrating both areas we will be 
able to jointly manage and monitor the contract.  

  
 

Page 152

14



Procurement Strategy 

12. After a full and detailed options analysis, including consultation with service 
user groups, it was decided to go out to tender for a combined sensory services 
contract incorporating both Adults’ and Schools & Learning’s requirements. 

13. Preparations for the retendering of combined sensory services commenced in 
2014 – i.e. consultation on a draft service specification and procurement 
approach. Procurement delivered a Concept Day that was held in January 
2015 that involved a wide range of key stakeholders. Consultation and co-
production continued through early spring 2015. A full competitive tender 
process, compliant with the European Public Procurement Regulations and 
Procurement Standing Orders, has been carried out following the receipt of 
authority from Procurement Review Group (PRG) on 1 April 2015. The final 
Tender documents were published on the e-tendering portal with a closing date 
of 11 May 2015. 

14. It was decided that the open procedure was appropriate and bidders were 
given 35 days to complete and submit their tender. 

15. Tender received was evaluated against a number of quality questions. This 
aspect made up 60% of the overall score with price evaluation making up the 
balance.  

16. Bidders were asked to respond to quality questions which included:  

 What key skills and resources, as perceived by people using and 
people funding your service, will demonstrate your success in 
delivering services for people with combined sight and hearing loss? 

 How will your service ensure the provision of separate specialist 
services for people with sight and hearing loss (as well as those with 
combined sight and hearing loss)?  Please outline the benefits of 
delivering these within a combined sensory service. 

 What preventative activity do you undertake?  How does this promote 
wellbeing, early intervention and maximising independence? 

 How will you ensure you are able to respond to the requests for 
specific services, equipment, or aids, tailor-made to the needs of 
individuals? How will you provide personalised information in an 
accessible way to a person who is both deaf and blind? 

 In what ways will you deliver additional environmental, social and 
economic benefits to the community above and beyond the delivery of 
your specific service? 

 Please describe the added value that will be achieved by working in a 
formal or informal partnership with other local provider(s) to deliver the 
service. If you are applying as a single provider please describe what 
added value you will be able to deliver?  

 

 

Page 153

14



Key Implications 

17. The Council will meet its statutory duties by awarding a contract to the 
recommended supplier for the provision of combined sensory services and 
provision of mobility and independent living skills to commence on 1 February 
2016. 

18. The Council can terminate the contract with three months notice should 
priorities change or funding no longer be available or if the provider commits a 
breach of the terms of the agreement. The specification also facilitates flexibility 
in service levels commissioned, in case of greater demand than anticipated.  

19. The Terms & Conditions of the contract include standard provision for: 

 Default 

 Dispute resolution. 
 
20. Business Continuity Plans were evaluated as part of the Tender. The Provider 

successfully completed satisfactory financial and competency checks.  

21. To ensure that individuals with visual and/or hearing impairments are at the 
centre of future service delivery, the new service specification was designed 
around these specific objectives for Schools & Learning: 

 to teach children and young people who have vision impairment the 
skills and concepts necessary to enable them to travel safely and 
independently and with confidence in the future 

 to encourage children and young people with some residual vision to 
make best possible use of their vision 

 

 to plan and provide Independent Living Skills (ILS) training to enable 
children and young people to acquire the skills needed to function as 
independently as possible and to have choice over the activities of 
daily living as and when requested by Physical and Sensory Support 
(Visual Impairment) and in conjunction with a mobility and ILS training 
programmes with individual children and young people, teach skills 
and evaluate outcomes 

 

 provide appropriate training when necessary including but not limited 
to: 

 
a.  Learning to use a cane as mobility device 
b. sighted guiding 
c. spatial awareness 
d. road layout and crossing 
e. traffic flow 
f. independent use of public transport 
g. Independent route negotiation e.g. moving around school or college, 

work experience placements, 
h. shops and journeys to and from school / leisure facilities 
i. dressing skills and personal hygiene 
j. preparation of food and beverages 
k. identification and use of money 
l. household skills 
m. use of telephone  

Page 154

14



And these outcomes for Adults: 

1. That I understand my sensory impairment, and the registration 
process  

2. That I have someone to talk to 
3. That I can look after myself, my health, my home and my family 
4. That I receive statutory benefits and information and I need 
5. That I can make the best use of the sight and/or hearing I have  
6. That I can access information making the most of the advantages that 

technology brings 
7. That I can get out and about 
8. That I have the tools, skills and confidence to communicate 
9. That I have equal access to education and lifelong learning  
10. That I can work and volunteer 

 
22. Performance will be monitored through a series of Key Performance 

Indicators as detailed in the contract and reviewed at monthly operational 
meetings. The top performance indicators and targets are as follows: 

 number of people using this service  

 number of people referred to this service and the referral source 

 compliments and complaints, including feedback from individuals and 
carers 

 safeguarding 

 Case studies (evidencing outcomes and a shift in meeting new 
specification). 
 

23. The management responsibility for the contract lies with Adult Social Care 
Commissioning Team and with the Schools & Learning Physical and Sensory 
Support Service. The contract will be managed in line with the Contract 
Management Strategy and plan as laid out in the contract documentation, 
which also provides for review of performance and costs in line with identified 
continuous improvements in performance. 

24. A detailed summary of the evaluation process is provided in the Part 2 report. 

25. The tender evaluation panel for the service included representatives from 
Adults Social Care, Schools & Learning, Procurement and Service Users. 

CONSULTATION: 

26. The consultation process for this re-tendering of the contract has been ongoing 
since 2013 and multiple conversations have taken place with stakeholders from 
voluntary organisations, independent representatives, and people with sensory 
disabilities.  

27. In January 2015 Concept Day was held to share the vision and strategy with 
current and prospective providers, as well as Surrey residents that use those 
services. 

28. Surrey Sensory Partnership, Surrey Vision Action Group, Surrey Hard of 
Hearing Forum, Surrey Deaf Forum and Officers from Adult Social Care and 
Schools & Learning have been consulted at every stage of the process, from 
specification to questions that were asked during the tender process.  

Page 155

14



29. The draft specification was shared with Surrey Sensory Partnership, Surrey 
Vision Action Group, Surrey Hard of Hearing Forum, and Surrey Deaf Forum. 
Representatives from these groups were invited to participate in the 
evaluation and moderation process. Feedback from these consultations and 
proposals were all positive.   

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

30. The contract includes a ‘Termination Clause’ (Clause 33) that will allow the 
Council to terminate the contract with 3 months notice should priorities change 
or if the provider commits a breach of the terms of the agreement. Due regard 
to early consultation with the provider will be given. 

31. The following key risks associated with the contract and contract award have 
been identified, along with mitigation activities. 

 

Category Risk Description Mitigation Activity 

Finance Potential risk that during 
the life of the agreement 
the provider will request 
an inflationary increase 
against the annual 
service delivery cost. 

The rates are fixed for the duration of the 
agreement. 

 

Reputational 

Quality of service 
delivered does not meet 
objectives and needs. 

Strong contract management and quarterly 
performance review meetings which will 
enable us to influence, closely monitor and 
understand performance delivery. 

 
 

Financial and Value for Money Implications  

32. Full details of the contract value and financial implications are set out in the 
Part 2 report.  

33. The procurement activity for Adult Social Care has delivered a solution within 
budget and with identified savings. The new contract will deliver better 
outcomes for service users at lower cost.  

34. Following tender evaluations, the price for the Schools and Learning element of 
the contract was £30,000 higher than the current budget.  The Schools and 
Learning Management Team have agreed to this higher level of service 
specification.  It should be noted that no savings have been made on this 
element of the contract. 

35. Key Performance Indicators (KPI) reporting will be improved and robust 
contract monitoring will ensure targets are being met. 

 

 

Page 156

14



Section 151 Officer Commentary  

36. The S151 officer supports the proposals to award a new combined sensory 
contract to Sight for Surrey, as this will result in a better, more coordinated 
service, releasing council accommodation and resources as well as delivering 
savings and efficiencies on the current cost of the separate sensory services 
contracts.  

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer 

37. By providing this service as set out in this Report, the Council is complying with 
the general responsibilities under the Care Act 2014. 

38. The Council has a duty to secure best value in carrying out its duties, and to 
procure services in accordance with the relevant statutory provisions. The 
procurement exercise undertaken to secure combined sensory services as 
outlines in this report complies with these requirements.   

Equalities and Diversity 

39. Under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, Cabinet must comply with the 
public sector equality duty, which requires it to have due regard to:  

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
40. An equalities impact assessment has been written and is attached as Annex 1. 

It sets out the impacts of the recommendation on each of the protected group 
for each service. A range of positive impacts have been identified for all groups, 
including increased flexibility of provision for individuals and carers.   

41. The contract will be managed and monitored in line with Surrey’s obligations 
under the equalities monitoring of the contract. 

 

Safeguarding responsibilities for vulnerable children and adults implications 

42. The Terms and Conditions of the contract, which the provider will sign, stipulate 
that the providers will comply with the Council’s Safeguarding Adults and 
Children’s Multi-Agency procedures, any legislative requirements, guidelines 
and good practices. This will be monitored through contractual arrangements. 

43. The provider submitted their safeguarding policies as part of the tender 
process. This service plays a key role in safeguarding adults and children and 
we are confident that the providers can deliver safe, quality and efficient 
services.  

 

 

Page 157

14



WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

44. The timetable for implementation is as follows: 

Action Date  

Cabinet decision to award (including ‘call in’ period) 24 November 2015 

‘Alcatel’ Standstill Period 4 December 2015 

Contract Signature 14 December 2015 

Contract Commencement Date 1 February 2016 

 
45. The Council has an obligation to allow unsuccessful suppliers the opportunity 

to challenge the proposed contract award. This period is referred to as the 
‘Alcatel’ standstill period 

 
Contact Officer: 
Sarah Ford – Assistant Area Director East Surrey ASC Tel: 07896 815 912 
Dagmara Wielemborek - Procurement Category Specialist Tel: 020 8541 7856 
 
Consulted: 
Liz Uliasz – Area Director SW Surrey ASC  
User Representatives: Surrey Sensory Partnership, Surrey Vision Action Group, 
Surrey Hard of Hearing Forum, Surrey Deaf Forum 
Rachel Moyle - Legal Services  
Neill Moore – Strategic Finance Manager – Adults 
Procurement Review Group 
Adult Social Care staff 
Pamela Todd - Strategic Manager, Physical & Sensory Support  
Children’s Services: Cabinet members 
 
Annexes: 
Annex 1: Equality Impact Assessment Summary of Impact and Actions  
Part 2:  Annex attached as agenda item 18  
    
 
Sources/background papers: 
None  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 158

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

 
 
 
1. Topic of assessment  

EIA title:  Combined Sensory Services  

 

 

EIA author: Sarah Ford – Commissioning Manager 

 

2. Approval  

 Name Date approved 

Approved by1 Jo Poynter 23/10/2015 

 

3. Quality control 

Version number  1.0 EIA completed  

Date saved 13.03.2015 EIA published  

 
4. EIA team 

Name Job title 
(if applicable) 

Organisation Role 
 

S. Ford 
Commissioning 
Manager 

Surrey County 
Council 

Strategic 
Commissioning 
oversight 

Jo Poynter Area Director 
Surrey County 
Council 

Strategic oversight 

 

 

  

                                                 
1
 Refer to earlier guidance for details on getting approval for your EIA.  

 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Combined Sensory Services in Surrey 

Page 159

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

5. Explaining the matter being assessed  

What policy, 
function or 
service is being 
introduced or 
reviewed?  

SCC currently have separate services for people with hearing and 
visual impairment, provided to SCC residents by Sight for Surrey and 
First Point. Contracts with both providers will expire at the end of 
September 2015. 
 
Going forward we would like to provide Combined sensory services to 
Surrey residents, and to deliver this the plan is to tender for 3 years 
for a contract with a single provider, with the option for 2 one year 
extensions.   
 
Context:  
 
Services will be delivered based on the co-designed Joint 
Commissioning Strategy for People with Sensory Impairment. The 
services are designed to reflect what sensory impaired people in 
Surrey want, what Surrey County Council (SCC) has an obligation to 
provide, and what services have been recommended within best 
practice or national guidelines.  
 
The Joint Commissioning Strategy provides an overview of the 
proposed service developments for adults living in Surrey who are 
profoundly deaf, are Deaf and use BSL, who are hearing impaired, 
sight impaired, severely sight impaired or who have dual sensory 
loss.  The aim of all services is to provide sensory impaired people 
with appropriate support and resources to maintain and/or improve 
their health and wellbeing, enabling them to continue to live as 
independently as possible. 
 
Both Surrey County Council and NHS organisations in Surrey face 
significant financial challenges.  Services will be required to be cost 
effective and offer best value. New ways of working and providing 
services will need to be explored by suppliers. 
 
Compliance with statutory and legal Requirements 
The Care Act 2014, together with a range of regulations and statutory 
guidance, is the base upon which social care will be developed.  
Local authorities’ functions relating to provision of care and support 
for adults are set out in Part 1 of the Care Act 2014.  
 
Services delivered must enable SCC to comply with the key 
requirements of the Care Act 2014.  These are: 
 

 A duty to promote wellbeing 

 A legal requirement to take a person centered approach to 

care planning and support at all stages of planning and 

provision; including taking all reasonable steps to actively 

involve the person in the planning process, their carer and 

relevant others 

 Arranging services, or taking other steps to prevent, reduce or 

Page 160

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

delay peoples’ need for care and support 

 Provision of information and advice that helps people to 

understand what help, care and support is available and how 

to access it 

 Undertaking preventative activity which involves promoting 

wellbeing; early intervention; and maximizing independence 

 Put in place arrangements that enable people to use personal 

budgets and direct payments 

 To collaborate and cooperate with other services to facilitate a 

vibrant, diverse and sustainable market of care and support 

provision 

 Take a holistic view of a person’s needs 

 Support smoother transition of young people to adult care and 

support 

 Protect adults from abuse or neglect 

 A duty  of candour - to be open when things go wrong and to 

take action 

In addition, services delivered must enable SCC to comply with 
statutory guidance set out in the Care and Support for Deafblind 
Children and Adults Policy Guidance 2014 issued jointly under 
Section 7 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 in relation to 
children, and section 78 of the Care Act 2014 in relation to adults.  
The Care Act 2014 sets out reforms to care and support in England.  
Section 78 of the Care Act requires local authorities to act under the 
guidance of the Secretary of State in the exercise of their functions 
under Part 1 of the Care Act or under regulations under that Part. 
 
The Social Care for Deafblind Children and Adults (2009) guidance 
will continue to apply until April 2015 when it is intended that the 
framework of the Care Act 2014 will come into operation (including 
the duty to act under guidance in the exercise of functions under the 
Act, including guidance set out in the Care and Support for Deafblind 
Children and Adults Policy Guidance 2014). Local authorities must 
therefore follow this guidance unless they can demonstrate legally 
sound reasons for not doing so. 
 

 
This EIA is to assess the impact on equalities issues route to 
purchase, which builds on the EIA for the co-design process. 
 

What proposals 
are you 
assessing?  

 
The key proposals being assessed within this EIA are the County 
Council’s intentions to move away from the separate contracts for 
visual and hearing impairments and to move to the new Combined 
Sensory Services. 

Page 161

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

Who is affected 
by the 
proposals 
outlined above? 

 
In the main, the people who may be affected by the commissioning 
and procurement intentions are: 
 

 Current Residents 

 Families and Friends 

 Carers 

 Adult Social Care Locality Teams 

 Borough & District Partners 

 Care Providers 
 

 

6. Sources of information  
 

Engagement carried out  

 
The consultation process for this work has been ongoing since 2013 and multiple 

conversations have taken place with stakeholders from voluntary organisations, 

Independent representatives and people with sensory disabilities.  

In January 2015 Concept Day was held to share the vision and strategy with current  

and prospective providers, as well as Surrey residents that use those services. 

Surrey Sensory Partnership, Surrey Vision Action Group, Surrey Hard of Hearing  

Forum, Surrey Deaf Forum and Officers from Adult Social Care and Children Services  

have been consulted at every stage of the process, from specification to questions  

that were asked in tender process.  

The draft specification was shared with Surrey Sensory Partnership, Surrey Vision  

Action Group, Surrey Hard of Hearing Forum, and Surrey Deaf Forum.  

Representatives from these groups were invited to participate in the evaluation and  

moderation process.  

 

 Data used 

 

 Meetings with Surrey Sensory Partnership, Surrey Vision Action Group, Surrey 
Hard of Hearing Forum, Surrey Deaf Forum 

 Co-design meeting – Concept Day 

 
 

 

Page 162

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

 
7. Impact of the new/amended policy, service or function

Page 163

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

7a. Impact of the proposals on residents and service users with protected characteristics 
 

Protected 
characteristic2 

Potential positive 
impacts  

Potential negative 
impacts 

Evidence 

Age 

It is expected that the 
changes to the 
commissioning of Sensory 
Services will provide a variety 
of positive impacts: 
 

 Improved outcomes for 
the individual 

 Single point of contact 
for people with 
sensory impairments 

 Outcomes based 
monitoring  
 

none 

To ensure adults living in Surrey who are profoundly 
deaf, are Deaf and use British Sign Language (BSL), 
who are hearing impaired, sight impaired, severely 
sight impaired or who have dual sensory loss have 
appropriate support and resources to maintain and/or 
improve their health and wellbeing, enabling them to 
continue to live as independently as possible. 

To ensure compliance with statutory and legal 
Requirements as set out in the Care Act 2014.  The 
Care Act 2014, together with a range of regulations 
and statutory guidance, is the base upon which social 
care will be developed.  Local authorities’ functions 
relating to provision of care and support for adults are 
set out in Part 1 of the Care Act 2014. 

To develop an outcome based commissioning 
approach that aims to shift the emphasis from what 
services the supplier will offer to what outcomes they 
achieve.  Outcome based commissioning is designed 
to shift the focus from activities to results, and what 
outcomes might be expected as a result of the 
commissioning investment. 

To maximise value for money, and achieve the best 
possible social, economic and environmental 
outcomes for the money spent.  Social Value will 
apply to this specification and procurement approach.   

To demonstrate innovation by requiring suppliers to 
show how they:  

·        Recognise people as assets – seeing people as 

Disability 

Gender 
reassignment 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Race 

Religion and 
belief 

Sex 

Sexual 
orientation 

Marriage and civil 
partnerships 

                                                 
 

P
age 164

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

equal partners in the design and delivery of services  

·        Build on people’s existing capabilities – and 
look for opportunities to help these flourish  

·        Foster mutual and reciprocal relationships – 
where professionals and people using services come 
together in an interdependent relationship  

·        Strengthening peer support networks – 
engaging peer and personal networks to transfer 
knowledge and supporting change  

·        Breaking down barriers  - between 
professionals and people using services, by 
reconfiguring the way services are developed and 
delivered  

·        Facilitating rather than delivering 

 

In addition, Commissioning and Procurements will 
focus on collaborative and partnership working 
relationship. This can be achieved by regular 
meetings and reviews. We will be looking for: 

 Agreement on a contract that will deliver core 
KPIs within budget and in compliance with 
National Standards and quality measures 

 Agreement on outcome based results that will 
enable us to measure the performance 

 Implementation of a robust Supplier & Contract 
Management Framework which has an 
established baseline for service delivery, 
relationship management, exit planning and 
contract administration 

 A specification that is fit for purpose which was 
jointly drafted by commissioner, service user 
groups’ current and potential providers and 

P
age 165

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

Procurement. This is a crucial step in 
promoting partnership working 

 
 
7b. Impact of the proposals on staff with protected characteristics 
 

Protected 
characteristic 

Potential positive 
impacts  

Potential negative 
impacts 

Evidence 

Age 

 
Practitioners will be required 
to develop close working 
arrangement with providers to 
ensure assessed need is 
being met and reviews of that 
need are performed in a 
timely fashion. 
 
This relationship will also 
determine that there will be 
no work duplications.   

N/A 

This piece of work also supports the Family, Friends 
& Community Support agenda. 
 
The contract and specification takes into 
consideration new legislation (Care Act 2014), and 
enables providers to demonstrate how they will 
operate their businesses in line with best practice 
recommendations.  
 
 

Disability N/A 

Gender 
reassignment 

N/A 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

N/A 

Race N/A 

Religion and 
belief 

N/A 

Sex N/A 

Sexual 
orientation 

N/A 

Marriage and civil 
partnerships 

N/A 

 

P
age 166

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

8. Amendments to the proposals  
 

Change Reason for change 

  

  

  

 

9. Action plan  
 

Potential impact (positive 
or negative) 

Action needed to maximise 
positive impact or mitigate 

negative impact  
By when  Owner 

    

    

    

 
10. Potential negative impacts that cannot be mitigated  
 

Potential negative impact 
Protected characteristic(s) 

that could be affected 

  

  

 
11. Summary of key impacts and actions 
 
 

Information and 
engagement 
underpinning equalities 
analysis  

 
 
 

 

Key impacts (positive 
and/or negative) on 
people with protected 
characteristics  

 

Changes you have 
made to the proposal 
as a result of the EIA  

 

Key mitigating actions 
planned to address any 
outstanding negative 
impacts 

 

Page 167

14



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE 

Potential negative 
impacts that cannot be 
mitigated 

 

 

Page 168

14



 

   1 

 
 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET  

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF: MR RICHARD WALSH, CABINET MEMBER FOR LOCALITIES 
AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING 

MS DENISE LE GAL, CABINET MEMBER FOR BUSINESS 
SERVICES AND RESIDENT EXPERIENCE  

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

RUSSELL PEARSON, CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

SUBJECT: TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION OF BUSINESS 
CONTINUITY CREWING AND SPECIAL RESCUE 
CAPABILITIES 

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
Surrey Fire and Rescue Authority (SFRA)  has a statutory obligation to provide 
contingency cover, in accordance with the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 and 
the National Framework and Civil Contingencies Act 2004. 
 
This report seeks approval to award a contract for the provision of Business 
Continuity and Specialist Rescue Capabilities to commence on 31 December 2015.  
The annual contract value will be £680,000. 
 
The new contract will enable SFRA to fulfil its legal obligations. 
 
This report provides details of the procurement process, including the results of the 
evaluation process and, in conjunction with the Part 2 report, demonstrates why the 
recommended contract award delivers best value for money. 
 
Due to the commercial sensitivity involved in the contract award process the 
Competitive Tender Process details have been circulated as a Part 2 report. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that:  
 

1. The contract for Business Continuity and Specialist Rescue Capabilities is 
awarded to Specialist Group International (SGI) 

2. The contract is awarded, from 31 December 2015, for an initial period of two 
years with an option to extend for up to two further years. 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS:                                                                      .                                                                                         

 
A full tender process, in compliance with the requirements of Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 and the Council’s Procurement Standing Orders has been 
completed.  

Page 169

15

Item 15



 

   2 

 
The offers received as part of the tender have been rigorously evaluated and the best 
overall solution has been identified. 
 

The proposed contract will enable SFRA to meet its statutory obligation to provide 
contingency cover during industrial action; provide access to specialist rescue 
services; and will support the long term strategy to realise benefits from 
collaborative working. 

 
The recommended supplier is based in Surrey. This helps support the County 
Council’s wider objectives of contributing to the economic prosperity of Surrey and 
supporting local businesses.  
 
Furthermore, in awarding the contract to SGI, it will enable Surrey Fire and Rescue 
Service (SFRS) to continue to benefit from external expertise in developing new 
models of delivery. 
 
 

DETAILS: 

Background 

1. In October 2012, Surrey County Council’s Cabinet approved the award of a contract 
(as a pilot scheme) for the provision of contingency crewing and other rescue 
capabilities to support SFRA to meet specialist rescue requirements and statutory 
obligations.  This contract was awarded to SGI. 

2. In June 2014 Cabinet approved an extension of the contract for one year to allow a full 
tender process to be carried out that would reflect both the findings of the pilot and any 
new issues arising nationally from possible changes to fire-fighters’ employment terms 
and conditions and The Trade Union Bill.  This contract currently expires on 31 
December 2015 with no further options to extend available. 

3. The Cabinet approval in 2014 acknowledged the success of the pilot scheme and the 
need to design a new contract that would reflect the type of provision required and that 
it would need to consider other factors such as market conditions and the appetite of 
the providers to work in partnership with SFRS.  

Procurement Strategy and Options  
 
4. Options considered prior to commencing the procurement activity were: 

(1) Tender for a new contract in the same or similar form to the existing contract. 

(2) Tender for a new contract structured differently from the existing arrangement that 
could generate added benefits. 

 
5. After full consideration, it was decided to proceed with option 2. 

6. A supply market engagement day took place that allowed suppliers to meet the project 
team, discuss the requirements and contribute to the development of the specification 
ahead of the tender being published. 

Page 170

15



 

   3 

7. Consultation continued through 2015 with the Chief Fire Officer, Chief Officers Group 
and the Fire Brigade’s Union. 

8. Through careful planning, it was decided the most appropriate procurement approach 
was to carry out anOfficial Journal of the European Union (OJEU) Open Procedure 
and divide the requirement into three distinct lots.  It was envisaged this would make 
the contract more attractive and accessible to suppliers, in what is a small and highly 
specialised supply market   

Key Implications  

9. By awarding a contract for the Provision of Business Continuity and Specialist Rescue 
Capability to SGI, to commence on 31 December 2015, SFRA will be meeting its 
statutory obligations and it will preserve continuity of service. 

10. It is possible the ongoing Government review of the Trade Union Bill could result in the  
additional restrictions on industrial action which would require emergency calls 
responded to that might cease the obligation on SFRA to provide alternative 
contingency capability or provide new options to how this may be provided.  

11. The contract terms allow the Council to terminate the contract with three months notice 
in the event of: legislative changes; service priorities change; or supplier performance 
is not to the required standard.  

12. Performance will be monitored through a series of Key Performance Indicators as 
detailed in the contract and reviewed at monthly operations meetings. 

13. The management responsibility for the contract lies with the dedicated contract 
manager within SFRS and will be managed in line with the Contract Management 
Strategy. 

Competitive Tendering Process  

14. Using  the OJEU Open Procedure the tender was divided into three lots: 

 Lot 1 Business Continuity -To cover any period of disruption such as industrial 

action that has the potential to affect the availability of the SFRS workforce and the 
ability to provide fire cover to the residents of Surrey. 

 

 Lot 2 Resilience Crewing - To cover operational personnel being unavailable 
through sickness, holiday, training, major disruption or redeployment. 

 

 Lot 3 Specialist Rescue – To cover technical height rescue, rescue from water, 
rescue of animals and rescue from confined spaces. 

15. Within the tender, there was an opportunity for bidders to submit an alternative bid.  

16. Representatives from key service areas were involved throughout the evaluation 
process to ensure that the preferred solution was fit for purpose for all areas of the 
organisation. 

17. The initial tender response was evaluated against the criteria and weightings as shown 
below: 

18. Quality Questions – 50% 

Page 171

15



 

   4 

19. Pricing Schedule – 50% 

CONSULTATION: 

20. Key stakeholders externally and within the County Council have been consulted at 
appropriate stages of the procurement process including:  

 SFRS 

 Fire Brigade’s Union 

 Procurement 

 Legal Services 

 Chief Fire Officer (CFO) 

 Chief Officer’s Group (COG) 

 Finance 

 Kay Hammond - Cabinet Associate for Community Safety Services 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

21. Table 1 – Risks and mitigating actions 

Category Risk Description Mitigation Activity 

Culture  
Cultural and operational 
inter agency joint working   

Contractor’s personnel will be trained to SFRS 
Policies and Procedures. Communication across 
service and combined exercises with operational 
personnel will continue to establish positive 
relationships. 

Financial 

Price increases due to 
Industrial Action outside of 
contracted hours. 

 
Specialist Rescue out of 
hours will incur further costs 

 

Expected that the additional cost would be offset 
by the reduction in expenditure during strike 
action.  

 
The pre determined attendance procedure will be 
followed to ensure a satisfactory solution to the 
incident i.e. In house teams will be deployed 
unless unavailable and use extra provision only if 
required. Mobilisation will only be authorised by 
SFRS Command. 
 

Service 
Provision 

Maintaining the 
competence of Personnel  
 
 

The contract has incorporated training provision 
hosted by SFRS to ensure the provider meets the 
National Occupational Standards.   
 
 

Reputational 
Public, Staff and 
FBU perception 

Relationships have been established over the 
pilot scheme and the new contract will encourage 
partnership working. Full consultation with all 
representative bodies has been ongoing and will 
be re-discussed before the appointment of the 
new contract. Protocols in place to communicate 
with all groups. 

 

Legislation 

Change in Fire Fighters 
terms and conditions and 
the pending new Trade 
Unions Bill  

The contract has termination clauses that will 
enable the Fire Authority to terminate with 3 
months notice.  
 

Page 172

15



 

   5 

Supply 

The supplier cannot fulfil 
the new requirement of 10 
personnel for Business 
Continuity within the new 
contract   

The current contract expires on 31 December 
2015, from commencement of the new contract 
the supplier is obliged to provide 10 fully trained 
fire fighters. The contract manager will work 
closely with the incumbent to ensure that service 
standards do not falls below acceptable and the 
KPIs are still being met.  SFRS Training team will 
ensure as per the contract that there is an 
ongoing training plan in place. 

 
 

Financial and Value for Money Implications  

22. The retained cost and out of hours rates provided by the supplier are fixed for the life 
of the contract. 

23. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) has been based upon the award of a new 
contract. The Tender highlighted that the cost of the new contract must be contained 
within the budget available. The service will need to manage the use of chargeable out 
of hours services in order to remain within the budget available The new contract will 
enable the planned efficiency savings to be fully developed and achieved.  This meets 
the service requirements to meet assumptions built into the MTFP. 

Section 151 Officer Commentary  

24. The Section 151 Officer confirms that the cost of the proposed contract is included 
within the Council’s current MTFP. 

25. This contract will allow SFRA to fulfil its statutory requirement to have contingency 
arrangements in place in the eventuality of industrial action.  

26. SFRS has implemented a pre-determined attendance policy in order to reduce the 
usage of special rescue services outside of the standard contracted hours to reduce 
additional costs.  

27. There is a possibility that potential legislation changes may result in SFRA no longer 
requiring the contingency provision of the contract.  Although the contract is for a two 
year term (extendable to maximum of four) it has a termination clause with three 
months notice, which will allow early termination without incurring any financial 
penalties to react to any potential legislative changes.  

 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer 

28. Only Fire Authority firefighters are legally allowed to force entry into a building (Fire 
and Rescue Services Act 2004 (Sec 44 (2) (a)).  During Industrial action this has been 
addressed by operating mixed crewing on appliances so that there is a SFRS officer 
available to attend incidents and direct operations. 

29. SFRA must comply with the core functions identified in the Fire and Rescue Services 
Act 2004 and the National Framework. These include extinguishing fires in its area and 
protecting life and property in the event of fires in its area. In order to do so the Fire 
and Rescue Authority must “secure the provision of the personnel, services and 
equipment necessary to efficiently meet all normal requirements”, each of which must 
be taken into account. 

Page 173

15



 

   6 

30. The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 places a duty on Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs) 
to put in place business continuity management arrangements to ensure that they can 
continue to exercise their functions in the event of an emergency so far as reasonably 
practicable. 

31. Section 21 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires FRAs to comply with the 
Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (FRNF) (revised by the Department 
for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) in July 2012. The FRNF provides an 
overall strategic direction for fire and rescue authorities) which must be complied with 
by SFRA. Key priorities for fire and rescue authorities in the new framework include: 

 identifying and assessing the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 
their area faces 

 making provision for prevention and protection activities and responding to incidents 
appropriately 

 working in partnership with their communities and a wide range of partners locally 
and nationally to deliver their service; and being accountable to communities for the 
service they provide. 

32.  The conditions of contract proposed will ensure the County Council can terminate the 
contract in the event of legislative changes and other factors to ensure continued best 
value for the Council. 

 

Equalities and Diversity 

33. The need for an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was considered. However, a 
conclusion was reached that as there were no implications for any public sector 
equalities duties due to the nature of the services being procured, an EIA was not 
required. Despite this, the preferred supplier will be required to comply with the 
Equalities Act 2010 and any relevant codes issued by the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission. 

Other Implications:  

34. The potential implications for the following Council priorities and policy areas have 
been considered. Where the impact is potentially significant a summary of the issues is 
set out in detail below. 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 

Safeguarding 
responsibilities for 
vulnerable 
children and 
adults   

As part of the delivery of this contract all workers that will 
be assigned to work with or have exposure to 
vulnerable adults or children will be subject to an 
enhanced DBS check. The managed provider will 
have in place robust DBS procedures that are in 
keeping with the Council’s policies and will be carried 
through to supporting agencies. The managed 
provider will monitor the expiry dates of workers 
requiring DBS clearance and no worker will be 
allowed to work without a valid and in date DBS 
clearance. 

 
 
 
 

Page 174

15



 

   7 

 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

35. The timetable for implementation is as follows: 

Action Date  

Cabinet decision to award  24 November 2015 

Cabinet call in period  24 – 2 December 2015 

Contract Signature 18 December 2015 

Contract implementation 18 December 2015 

Contract Commencement Date 31 December 2015 

 
 
 

Contact Officer: 
Malcolm Styles - Area Commander Surrey Fire and Rescue Service 
Robert Dean,  
Category Specialist – Procurement and Commissioning, Business Services,  
Tel: 020 8541 9476 
 
Annexes: 
Part 2 report with financial details attached 
 
 
 

 

Page 175

15



This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

REPORT OF: N/A 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

ANN CHARLTON, DIRECTOR OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC 
SERVICES 

SUBJECT: LEADER/DEPUTY LEADER/CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 
TAKEN SINCE THE LAST CABINET MEETING 

 

SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
To note the delegated decisions taken by Cabinet Members since the last meeting of 
the Cabinet. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that the Cabinet note the decisions taken by Cabinet Members 
since the last meeting as set out in Annex 1. 
 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
To inform the Cabinet of decisions taken by Cabinet Members under delegated 
authority. 
 

DETAILS: 

1. The Leader has delegated responsibility for certain executive functions to the 
Deputy Leader and individual Cabinet Members, and reserved some 
functions to himself. These are set out in Table 2 in the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation.   

2. Delegated decisions are scheduled to be taken on a monthly basis and will be 
reported to the next available Cabinet meeting for information. 

3. Annex 1 lists the details of decisions taken by Cabinet Members since the 
last Cabinet meeting. 

 
Contact Officer: 
Anne Gowing, Cabinet Committee Manager, Tel: 020 8541 9938 
 
Annexes: 
Annex 1 – List of Cabinet Member Decisions  
 
Sources/background papers: 

 Agenda and decision sheets from the Cabinet Member meetings (available on the 
Council’s website) 

 

Page 177

16

Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1 

 

CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 
 
OCTOBER / NOVEMBER 2015 
 
(i)  COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENTS FUND 
 
 Details of decision  
 
That the proposed grant funding, as set out in the attached Appendix be 
approved, and the position of the applications agreed at the previous meetings, 
as set out in Annex 3 to the submitted Leader report be noted. 

 
Reasons for decision 

Approval of the proposed grant funding will enable the Community 
Partnerships Team to progress with facilitating the grant payments. 

 (Decision taken by the Leader of the Council – 29 October 2015) 
 
 
(ii) ACCESS TO DEFIBRILLATORS IN SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 
BUILDINGS 

 
Details of decision 
 
1. An initial capital investment of £53,000 be approved to supply defibrillators 

in all fully serviced buildings, which in total will benefit approx 4,000 staff.  
 
2. Following these installations, that a further £155,000 between 2016 and 

2017 be approved, for the roll out of defibrillators across the remainder of 
the 186 Corporate sites. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
The introduction of these units will increase the survival of victims of cardiac 
arrest at Corporate sites within the 11 Boroughs and Districts of Surrey. 
 
The Leader granted funding to Surrey Fire & Rescue Service (SFRS) to 
introduce 150 defibrillator units onto fire service vehicles and fire stations 
during last financial year as an enabler for a county wide co-responding 
scheme across the remainder of corporate sites and this wider provision will 
safeguard this initiative. 
 
Wider provision of public access defibrillators, together with awareness and 
training, will lead to recognising signs and symptoms of cardiac arrest at an 
earlier stage and increased confidence among staff and the public on how to 
use them. 
 
(Decision taken by the Deputy Leader on behalf of the Leader of the Council – 
10 November 2015) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 179

16



 

(iii) WATTS GALLERY AND THE ARTISTS’ VILLAGE, COMPTON 
 
Details of decision 
 
1. That £1m funding be provided to the Watts Gallery Trust to invest in 

Limnerslease and to enable the Trust to retain its ownership of the 
property, such sum to be secured by a charge on the property.  

 
2. That the Director of Legal and Democratic Services, in consultation with 

the Leader and the Chief Executive, will finalise the terms of an agreement 
with the Watts Gallery Trust to enable the provision of the funding and to 
secure this funding with a registered charge. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
The proposed funding will mean that Limnerslease, in its entirety, can remain 
in the ownership of the Trust and continue to be restored as a studio, gallery 
and living museum, including the transformation of areas dedicated to “Art for 
All” activities and workshops. This will enable the Trust to continue to develop 
its profile as a leading heritage, arts and educational experience both in Surrey 
and nationally, and with an increasingly international reach.  
 
The benefits for Surrey residents will include increased business and 
employment opportunities, an enhanced cultural experience for the public, a 
boost for local tourism and further opportunities for schools and other groups to 
have practical involvement in art and craft activities. 
 
(Decision taken by the Deputy Leader on behalf of the Leader of the Council – 
10 November 2015) 
 
 

Page 180

16



 

 
Appendix 1 

 

Name and Description Amount 
Approved 

Any conditions relating to 
approval 

Princess Alice Hospice 
Develop a space for men 
suffering with illness needing 
a place to come together 
 

£10,000 Subject to planning permission 
being granted 

Mickleham Children’s 
Playground Association 
Replacing old playground 
equipment, fencing and 
surfacing 
 

£15,000 No additional conditions 

St Mary’s Church, East 
Moseley 
Reordering of St Mary’s 
Church building and car park 
to make safe for pedestrians 
 

£20,000 Applicants to secure at least two 
quotes for the building work  
 
 

Collingwood College 
Replacement of the roof in 
the Barossa Gym for local 
community use 

£21,572 No additional conditions 
 
 

Outwood Parish Council 
Creation of a new play area 
in the grounds of the New 
Lloyd Hall 

£10,000 No additional conditions 

Woking & Sam Beare 
Hospices 
Creation of the Goldsworth 
Cafe tailored for residents 
and patients/visitors with 
terminal and life-limiting 
conditions 

£30,000 Funding is provisionally agreed 
subject to the Leader of the 
Council receiving and confirming  
the plan drawings as well as 
details of the specific costs of the 
cafe. 

Elstead Village Hall 
Upgrade and safety works 
for kitchen for community 
groups to utilise 

£15,000 No additional conditions 

Surrey Wildlife Trust 
Upgrade and safety works 
for kitchen for community 
groups to utilise 

£30,000 No additional conditions 
 
 

1st Chertsey Scouts 
Support towards the 
rebuilding of the group 
headquarters 

 Consideration of this application 
has been deferred to determine 
the outcome of the applicant’s bid 
to the Surrey Community 
Buildings Scheme. 

Tilford Institute 
Rebuild of the pavilion to a fit 
for purpose building 

£30,000 Subject to all the funding being in 
place before release of the funds, 
and confirmation of planning 
permission 

Page 181

16



 

Egham Cricket Club 
Reprovide the roof for the 
cricket club house 

£25,000 No additional conditions 
 
 

Maybury Centre Trust 
Improvement of the toilet 
facilities and a multi-cultural 
community centre 

£15,000 Funding up to £15,000 as 
required 

Girlguiding South East 
Providing a new building 
facility at Faurefold 

 Consideration of this application 
has been deferred to determine 
the outcome of the applicant’s bid 
to the Surrey Community 
Buildings Scheme 

Woodlarks Centre 
use by the community with 
dementia 
 

£7,278 No additional conditions 
 
 

Epsom and Ewell 
Foodbank 
Expansion of the current 
provision, funding towards 
the refurbishment of the 
current site 

£9,000 Funding is towards improvements 
at the current site as identified in 
the application form. 
 
 

Albury Parish Council 
Provision of a disabled toilet 
at Albury Memorial Library 
 

£5,000 No additional conditions 
 
 

Woking Resident 
Operations Board 
Creation of a garden play 
area in Knaphill 

£20,000 No additional conditions 

Warlingham Methodist 
Church 
Complete revisioning of the 
entrance area of the church 
to provide for disabled 
access 

£0  

Philip Southcote School 
Creation of a community 
cafe 

£20,000 Subject to a review of the 
schedule of costs for the building 
project by the Community 
Partnership Manager. 
 
 

Wisley and Pyrford Church 
Refurbishment of the 
community halls at the 
centre 

£17,000 No additional conditions 
 
 

Reigate united Reformed 
Church 
Refurbishment of the 
community halls including 
flooring, heating and lighting 

£13,250 No additional conditions 
 
 

Cranleigh Arts Centre 
Repair of existing heating 
and installation of new air 

£15,000 No additional conditions 
 

Page 182

16



 

handling unit at centre 
auditorium 

Parochial Church Council 
of the Ecclesiastical Parish 
of St. Peter Woking 
Toilet refurbishment and 
improved access 

 Consideration of this application 
has been deferred to determine 
the outcome of the applicant’s bid 
to the Surrey Community 
Buildings Scheme 

Wey and Arun Canal 
Build of a visitor centre and 
footpaths on the northern 
section of the Wey and Arun 
Canal in Shalford 

£20,000 Subject to confirmation of 
planning permission and BIFFA 
bid 
 
 

Horley Town Council 
Replacement of the skate 
park at Horley Recreation 
Ground 
 

£15,000 No additional conditions 
 
 

Clockhouse Day Centre 
Purchase of a minibus for 
community use in connection 
with the centre 

£27,761 Subject to confirmation that the 
balance of funding had been 
raised and that the publicity of the 
SCC logo on the vehicle to be 
taken from the project costs 
 
 

Whitebushes Village Hall 
Replacement of the roof at 
the hall 
 

£10,000 No additional conditions 
 
 

 

Page 183

16



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 185

18

Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 189

19

Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 193

20

Item 20



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 199

20



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 203

20



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 205

20



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 211

21

Item 21
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 217

21

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 221

21

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 223

21

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 REPORTS FROM SCRUTINY BOARDS, TASK GROUPS, LOCAL COMMITTEES AND OTHER COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL
	item 05 - REB recs Enabling Closer Working between Emergency Services

	6 Finance and Budget Monitoring Report for October 2015
	7 Financial prospects for the Medium Term Financial Plan 2016-2020
	8 School Organisation Plan
	Item 08 - Annex 1 School Organisation Plan 2015

	9 Future Options for the Management of Gypsy Traveller Caravan Sites
	item 09 - Appendix A - List of Gypsy Caravan Sites
	item 09 - Appendix B - Income & Expenditure Table

	10 Shaping Surrey's Community Recycling Centres
	item 10 - CRC Annex 1
	item 10 - CRC Annex 2

	11 Progressing the Integration of Health and Social Care
	item 11 - Annex 1_Workforce integration 1 page
	item 11 - Annex 2_ Integration report_Farnham HWB 131015

	12 Procurement Process for Community Health Services
	item 12 - Annex A list of services community health services

	13 East Surrey Integrated Reablement Unit
	14 Approval to award a contract for the provision of combined sensory services and the provision of mobility and independent living skills
	item 14 - Annex Combined Sensory Services  EIA V1- March 2015

	15 SFRS: To award a contract for the provision of business continuity crewing  and special rescue capabilities
	16 LEADER / DEPUTY LEADER / CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST CABINET MEETING
	item 16 - CM Decisions Annex (OctNov)

	18 Approval to award a contract for the provision of combined sensory services and the provision of mobility and independent living skills
	19 SFRS: To award a contract for the provision of business continuity crewing  and special rescue capabilities
	20 Property Transactions -  Acquistion
	Item 20 Annex 1-Property Details
	Item 20 Annex 2 - Dorking - Site Plan
	Item 20 Annex 3-Financial Appraisal Dorking

	21 Property Transactions - Acquisition of a Property for Economic and Regeneration Purposes
	Item 21 Annex 1 - Crawley Sale Details
	item 21 Annex 2 - Site Plan
	Item 21 Annex 3-Financial Appraisal Gatwick


